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Tue traditions of African Natives are, as a general rule, to be
received with caution ; but there seems to be ground for believing
that the Barolong Tribe were led by MoroLoNG southward,
from a far distant country. Under the Chieftainship of MAaBUA,
fourth in de:cent from MOROLONG, the tribe reached the Molopo
River, and they continued to occupy territory in the neighbour-
hood of that river until their dispersal by hordes of blood-thirsty
Zulus, who in the time of MosSELEKATSE invaded the Barolong
country, and carried fire and sword amongst the less warlike
Barolong tribe.

One portion of the defeated tribe under Moroxo settled at
Thaba Nchu; another portion under TAoANE, father of
MonTs1oa, like that under MAcHABI, appear to have led a
wandering life until, hearing of Moroko’s settlement at Thaba
Nchu, they also took up their abode in what is now the Orange
Free State, where they were resident in 1836, when the Emigrant
Boers entered that country. After the successful attack made
by MOSELEKATSE upon the Emigrant Boers, under the brave
Commandant HexprICK POTGIETER, the DBarolong tribe
befriended the Boers by providing them with draft oxen in
plice of those swept off by the victorious Zulus, and, subse-
qnent'y, when a Boer Commando was despatched against
MosELEKATSE the Barolong alliance with the Boers was
maintained. The warlike operations carried on by the Boers
against MOSELEKATSE resulted in the total defeat of *the
cld lion of the north,” who was driven far northward towards
the Zambesi, and the Barolong country having thus been re-con-
quered, the Boers in return for the aid given them by the
Barolong tribe restored TAOANE to the possession of land in
the former Barolong country. Moroxo remained at Thaba
Nchu, and MacmaBr took up his abode at Mooi River until

such time as land could be found for him under the arrangement
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made with the Beers. In 1849 TAoaNE died, and from the
date of MoNTSI0A’S succession disputes constantly arose as to the
boundary between the Boer territory and the country ciaimed
for Barolong occupation, The Boers appear to have at ali times
claimed sovereignty over the Barolong territory as theirs by
right of conquest () and to haveralleged that the occupation of
it by the tribe was merely permissive. In 1852 MoxTsIoa
having been' called upon asa vassal to give assistance to the
Boers-against SecnrLE, declined. Whereapon he was required
to surrender himself uneonditionally, but rather than do so he and
his immediate {ollowers abandoned their village and fled from ths
country then oceapied by them. Some of the leading men,
notably MonNTsioa’s brother MoLEwmA, with a considerable
number of the tribe, however, soon returned to the Barolong
territory, and MoOLEMA continued to live at Mafeking. MoxT-
SI0A never seems to have recognized any right on the part of
the Boers to deal with his country. There is in existence a
Jetter written by him to the Landdrost of Potschefstroom, dated,
Mareh 25th, 1870, whercin he complains that taxes have heen
demaunded of his people by an official of the South African
Republic, and rays, “If there is not soon made an end of this
lawless matter I shall be obliged to hand it over to Her Britannic
Majestv's High Commissioner, Sir P. E. WopEnOUSE, with
the earnest request to arbitrate between me and my most noble
allies,” Into the merits of the claims to the Barolong  territory
set up at varicus times by the Transvaal Government, the
validity or othe:wise of the KEarTe Award, and the effect of the
action taken by President Burcers in 1876, when MoNTs10A
was still Jiving at Moshening, in GASSITSIWE'S country, in
endeavouring to securc the annexation of the Barolong terri-
tory to the I'ransvaal, it is unnecessary to enter. The boundary
line defined by the recent Convention of London marks the limit
of the territory of the Republic. The provisions of that Con-
vention also indicate the Chiefs whose territories fall within the
Republic, V The rival claims of MoNTs10a and his brother
MOSHETTE to the paramountey=—although otherwise of little

(a) Mr, KRUGER'S evidene2, Report of Transvaal Royal Commission, page 41,
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imporiance—havesa considerable bearing-upon the events which
happened prior to the Convention of Pretoria in 1881, and
between that time and the establishment of the British Pro-
tectorate in Bechuanaland. /Therefore it is necessary to point
out that MosHETTE is an elder brother of Mo~Tsioa, and
that notwithstanding 1 the preference given to MoNTsiOA by
official -veports, native law would point to MosnETTE as ths
tribal Chief (a)./ In answer to Sir H. pE ViLLiEers the follow-
ing evidence was given hy:Lieut.~Colonel Movsuy before: the
Transvaal Royal Commission (4):—

“ Q. You say that MonTs10A is the: Chief of  the Barolongs?

A. Lsay he is looked up to.as Chief by most.

Q. ‘Who ig the Paramount Chief by virtue. of native custom
and native right ? >

A. Lgo by what I :see in the Bloemhof Axbitration Blue-
book, and there MOSHETTE is mentioned as: Paramount : Chief,
and that! he was born so.

Q. Fo that if any one has a right to CorrsEr’s farms by
virtue- of the Darolong occupation it is MosnrrTE and net
Monms10A ?

A. I do not vecognize- the rights: of any Chief to them; I
only recognize the rights of the Barolongs,

Q. MoNT8104, has he rights then?

A. Not in.his own person.

Q. MoxTsioa has no-right to.bewhere he is-at all in.any
partuwhere-he is at present ?

A. The attitude taken by MoxTs10A s that the country is
Barolong country, and the business has to be settled between
him and MesnETTE, and between him and the Republic.”

KeBALEPILE, son of MonTs10A, also gave the following
evidence before the Royal Commission :—

“Q Does Moxtsi0A claim to be over Macmasr and
MosugrTE?

A. No, he does not claim any jurisdiction over them. In
their father's time this tribe separated,and ic has been:separated

‘(a) MosuETTE'S Statement. Appendix'B.

2(7’) Report of Transvaal Royal Commission, page 80,
B
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ever since, There are five divisions of the Barolong tribe.
MoxTs10A is the third and MOSHETTE is the second.

Q. Who is the first ?

A. MICATSIWE.

Q. Where does he live ?

A. At Moroquane. He is the head of the Barolongs.
MoRroKO is fourth in the Free State, and MAcmABI is the fifth at
Polfontein.”

The objections to MoSHETTE’S claim as against MoNTS10A’S
would appear to be difficult to sustain.  Itis attempted to invali-
date MosaETTE’s undoubted right arising from birth by show-
ing that he was at one time a servant to a Boer, and by asserting
that his right to the paramountcy has never been recognized by
the tribe, but whatever be the value of the respective claims to
the paramount Chieftainship it is clear, first, that MosHETTE
and Mo~NTs10A were both placed outside the boundary of the
South African Republic by the Convention of Pretoria in 1881 ;
secondly, that neither Chief was then brought under British or.
any other protection ; thirdly, that until the date of the Conven-
tion of Liondon, February 27th, 1884, when part of MosHETTE’S
territory was incorporated with the territory of the South African
Republic, that Chief and MoNTS10A were in all respects in-
dependent, and capable of making peace or war; and, fourthly,
that until the establishment of the British protectorate—if that
protectorate was ever formally established—MoNTs10A continued
to be an independent Chief and Her Majesty’s Imperial Govern-
ment had no title to repudiate or set aside any act done by him.

According to tribal tradition a destitute Bechuana tribe came
under Barolong protection during the Chieftainship of Mokmore
or MAKORI, tenth Chief in succession from MoroLoxa. That
tribe remained subject to successive Barolong Chiefs for a
lengthened period, but finally they escaped from thraldom and
pressed downward to the Orange River, where they became fish-
eaters (Batlaping). Whether this is or is not the true history of
the Batlaping tribe may be an open question, but undoubtedly a
numerous Batlaping people have for a considerable period been
found in the neighbourhood of the Harts, Vaal and Orange
Rivers. From the Batlaping Chief MOLEHABANE is descended



MANKOROANE, whose name has long been prominent in Native
history in Africa. The right to the paramountcy claimed by
MANKORANE can no more be supported than the right of
MonTs10A tothe Barolong paramountcy. The table hereunder
shows the succession from MOLEHABANE :—

MOLEHABANE.
I

‘. I
Chief Wife. SecondIWifc.
[

Moruisr, and other issne |

MOLALE. MAHURA
| (and other issue).
| E st
PrrLUI (YASIBONE :
(died without (killed 1856) MANKOROANE
issue) | (paternity doubted).
BOTLASITSE. :

In 1878 military operations were undertaken against Bor-
LASITSE by the Government of Griqualand West, then a Crown
Colony. That Chief having been surrendered by MANKOROANE
was impriconed and deposed from his Chieftainship—on what
authority it is difficult to say—and MANKOROANE seems to have
been recognised from that time by the Griqualand West Govern=-
ment as paramouni Chief of the Batlaping tribe. It will thus be
seen that the Batlaping as well as the Barolong tribes are really
indebted for their .ossession of Bechuanaland to the Boers who
drove out MOSELEKATSE, while under the fostering care of
British statesmen and their advisers the boundary line of
Bechuanaland as defined by the KeaTe Award has been gradually
encroached upon, cspecially by the Conventions of Pretoria and
London (a).

# According to the evidence of Mr, KRUGER, now State Presi-
dent of the South African Republic, given before the Transvaal
Royal Commission in 1881 (4), Massouw was Chief of the
Korannas at Mamusa at the time when the Boers drove back
the cruel Zulus/’ In Mr, Krucer’s words ““ His (Massouw’s)

(@) Map—page 45, Blue-book [C. 3947].
(%) Report of Transyaal Royal Commission, page 41,



chief town is Mamusas they had not' left' the country; but
MoSELEKATSE was hunting themn down in all directions, and
they fled to the bush:for protection. That was the oaly
nation that MosELEKATSE had' not: utterly destroyed; they
were still left in the country when in the year 1840 the whites
came to Potschefstroom to the.Mocoi River.” Mr. KruGER’s
evidence sufficiently shows how absurd is tho claim to
superiority over Massouw’s Korannas made by the Batlaping
tribe (a).

i i

A rECORD of eventsin: Bechuanaland from 1870 to 1881 cannot
be a pleasant subject for the contemplation of any British
statesman. From 1881 to the establishment of the DBritish
protectorate the rceord is, if possible, worse, The natives looked
to Her Majesty the Queen as the greatest’ of all Sovereigns
they  continually appealed to her representatives to bring them
andcr the protection of the British flag, but the invariable:answer
was that additional resporsibilities,. especially those isvolving
pecuniary expenditare, could not'be: undertaken by the Imperial
Government. On May 4th, 1874, MoNTSIOA wrote to Mr.
Sourney, Lieutenant Governor of ‘Griqualand West, a letter
from which the following is an extract:—-“T wish, great Chif,
that you would ask the great Queen of England’to take me and
my people'to be her-subjects and to take my country to be hers.”
Of the desire of MoNTS10A to be taken under British protection
there can be no doubt, although it must be said that'in the letter
re‘erred to he betrays such anxiety to secure certain valuable
fountains and arable lands as to leatl to-the suspicion that' his
object was not'merely to come under British rule. MoNTs10A’S
request wuas not acceded to. Ih 1878° MANKOROANE sent n
a petition to the Administrator of Griqualand West, requesting
to be taken under the rule of tlhe British Govermment, anl with
reference to that petition the Administrator wrote to Colonel

(a) Notesof interview with/MANKOROANE, Appendix A,
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WarreN (now Major-General Sir CuarvLes WARREN) as
follows : —*¢ I telegraphed to the Governor, but have received no
instructions from him, but he fully approves of the.occupation of
the country till some definite arrangements can be made as to
whether it should be annexed or be u protectorate. One thing
is, I think, quite certain : that it will never beleft again to the
state of anarchy which prevailed there before.” The Administrator
was too sanguine. Mr.. AGENOR Daumas. was_appointed
Government Agent with MANKOROANE, Mr. C. C. KixG was
appointed Government Agent with MATHLABANE, and these
appointments seem to have been thought sufficient for all useful
purposes, and to have satisfied the official conscience The duties
of Messrs. King and Daumas, aceording to a memorandum
written by Lieut.-Col. MoyseY on the subject, dated Novewber
4th, 1881, “ appear to have been to. watch and advise the natives
on the Griqualand border in the*interests of that province, and
also to restrain the Transvaal Boers and Batlaping Natives from
mutual aggression while the KeAte Award question remained
undecided.” As soon, however, as Messrs, Daumas and Kixe
proposed to interfere in the inter-tribal hostilities of 188 1 between
MoxTsioa and MosHETTE, by accompanying the Chiefs with
whom they were stationed upon an expedition, in the words of
Mr. Daumas, “to the seat of war to enforce order” (a), alirm
was taken at the risk of involving Her Majesty’s Government in
proceedings beyond the border of the Cape Cclony ; and the
following telegram (4) was sent by *ir HrrcurLes RoBIxsox,
in his capacity as High Commissioner, on the advice of his
Ministers, under date November 14th, 1881, to the Civil
Commissioner, Kimberley :—* Instruct Messrs, Kixa and
DAunmas to inform the Chiefs to whom they have been accredited
that in consequence of the final definition of the Transvaal boundary
the Government does not intend to continue to maintain *epresenta-
tives outside the Colonial frontier,and that arrangements will shortly
be made for the withdrawal of these officers, The Chiefs should
at the same time be informed that I trust the friendly relations

(@) Blue-book [C. 3098], page 99.
(%) Blue<bcok [€. 8098], page 106,



that have hitherto characterized theirintercourse with the Govern-
ment may always be maintained.” The services of Messrs.
Kixe and Daunmas were subsequently dispensed with, and every
vestige of British protection was thereby openly withdrawn
from Bechuanaland. It is submitted that the policy of retreat
then decided upon by Her Majesty’s Imperial Government,
following closely upon the remarkable Convention of Pretoria,
has mainly led to the troubles in Bechuanaland. The dismissal
of Messrs Kine and Daumas—who had been guilty of a
“ glaring violation of duty” in egging on hostilities and in
taking part personally in the native warfare—was undoubtedly
necessary, but some other arrangement might have be n made,
and if MANKOROANE and MoNTs10A had been—as has been
represented—faithful allies of the British Crown, it may
fairly be asked why did Her Majesty’s Imperial Government
then retire from Bechuanaland leaving the natives a ‘prey to
war, although MoNTS104, as shown by his letter to Sir EVELYN
Woop, dated 19th October, 1881, was begging for Impeiial
interference, the words of the Chief being (a) “1 apply once
more to your Excellency to see whether the English Govern-
ment in‘end to have the Convention carriéd out?” Any show
of action, even at that late period, the appointment of a com-
petent officer to represent Her Majesty's Imperial Government
on the frontier of Bechuanaland, in the room of Messrs. Kina
and Dauwmas, and the expenditwre of a few hundred
"pounds in supporting that cfficer, wculd have solved all
difficulties, prevented encroachments, restored the prestige
of the British Government amongst the npatives, and
saved the British texpayer /rcm enoimous expenditure on
warlike ojerations.  “Too late™ is the legend written
over the grave of Imperml pol'ey and prestige in Bechuana-
land. But stay, son ething was done. At the instance of the

British Resident, Pretoria, Ca)lain N OURSE was despatched on

the hopeless errand of endeavouring to make peace between-the
belligerent Chiefs, while abstaining * from any conduct or utter-
ances which could in any way comprowise the action of the

(a)_Blue-book | C. 2098], page 99,



Biitish Government” (a). Thbe result is given in a telegram to
the High Commissioner, dated 14th November, 1881 (). © Cap-
tain NOoURSE returned from mission. Arrived too late to prevent
hostilities or to influence Chiefs to pacific settlement. In spite
of all his efforts both still refuse peace or even armistice . . . . .
Captain NOURSE saw about 26 Boers assisting MOSHETTE in
defiance of Commandant GREEF’S written order. They plead
they are poor and took eervice as Volunteers under MOSHETTE,”
The hostilities between the rival Barolong Chiefs, MoNTSIOA
and MosSHETTE, undoubtedly originated in a dispute concerniig
the paramountcy “ and the right to certain lands claimed by
both parties’ (¢). During the period of office of President
BurcErs and under his authority that section of the Barolong
tribe which followed MAcHABI removed from the Mooi River to
Polfontein, which by the KeaTe Award was placed outside—
but by tte Convention of Pretoria in:ide—the boundary
of the Transvaal Republic. MoLeMA, who then resided at
Maffeking, MoNTs10A being still at Moshening, appears to
have objected, but without success, to any occupation
of Polfontein by Macmasr’s people. Subsequently some
of MacHABI’S people moved to Rietfontein in the Baro-
long country, close to the boundary line as now defined by
the Convention of London. The circumstances under which
that settlement took place are in dispute, MoNnTsI0A alleging
that the occupation was merely on sufferance, and that he was
entitled when he thought proper to evict ths people. On
February 5th, 1881, a meeting was held at Rietfontein, at which
Mon1sioAa, MosurTTE, MAcHABI and other Chiefs attended
for the purpose of discussing the hostilities in the Transvaal
between the British Government and the Boers. MOSHETTE
and MACHABI expressed their inclination to take the side of the
Boers, MosuETTE saying, wisely perhaps, that “he would
belong to those who got the best of it,” while MoNTsIOA
insisted on standing by the English. The discussion appears to
have become heated, and MoNTS104, irritated at not having his

(a) Blue-book [C, 3098], page 125. (b) 1bid, page 107,

(¢) Blue-book [C, 3098), page 44, Letter of Major BULLER to Sir E, Woop,
dated 25th May, 1881,
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own. way, gave notice to MACHABI’S people to leave Rietfontein.
MoxTs104’s, account.of the origin of the war is as follows(a):—
¢ The first time the war broke out - it was through MacHABIS
peopl‘e._ They came to me and asked my permission to live in
my country, and after that. they commenced by stealing my
horses. I tried to recover my horse:, but they took them .and
sold them to the Boers. . . . . "This was at the time that
the British Government was fighiing the Transyaal Boers.
After that they commenced reaping my corn, and they told me
afterwards that the corn belonged to them. . ., . . Before
the first war started they fired on my people in the gardens.
They sent me a message that the gardens belonged no more.to
me, that it was their garder, and that they should cut the crops.
That was the first commencement of the war.” The story told
by the people of MosnETTE and MacHABI is that the dispute
as to the land had been amicably arranged,.and that in token-of
the settlement MosaETTE had sent, as a peace-offering, a -white
ox to MoxTs104, who accepted it, and accordingly the people
thought there would be no war, when, without notice or provo-
cation, MoxTs1oA attacked the village at Rietfontein before
daylight, while the inhabitants were yet asleep, committed great
slanghter of men, women and children, and burnt the town ().
MoxNTs104A denies that atrocities were committed by him,, and
alleges that only one woman was shot, but the evidence certainly
tells against him. AnNDRIES Macumas1 furnished to Major
BULLER the names of twelve women who had been killed (),
and stated that when the survivors went back to see what
Joss had been sustained amongst the men, they ¢ found
six of them skinned, and one, my (ANDRIES MACHABI'S)
brother STOFFEL, with his. heart cut out.” Whoever may
have been the aggressor it is clear that, according to
MoNTSI0A'S own admission, hostilities against him were not
incited by white men (d). On.hearing of the attack on Rietton-

tein, which took place on May 2nd, 1881, MosHETTE determined

(a) Notes of interview with Mon'rsxm. Appendix C.

(b) Statement of JOHAN MOSEPELE, a native teacher. Appendix D.
() Bluesbook [C. 80987, p. 36.

(d) Notes of interview with MONTSIOA, Appendix C,
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to assist MAaomAB1 and prepared for war, butiin the meantime
Major BunLer, Rifle Brigade, and Mr. P..J. Jousurr had
been appointed to proceed to the seene of hostilities for the
purpose of endeavouring to make peace. Through their efforts
the belligerents wereinduced to prowise 1o keep the peace till
the decision of the Transvaal Royal Commission as to Monm-
5104’8 claim to the disputed countryshould be given, MosaerTR
saying, “ I was ready for war, but the coming of this Commission
changes'my plans, therefore I will now remain quict and mnot
break'the law.” The claim made /by MoxTs10A at this timewas
“ to abide by the Kearr Award,” 'and, consequently, it included
not only the country occupied by Macuasr’s people but land in
the KrAaTE Award territory claimed by the Transvaal Republic
upon which white farmers had settled. For the protection of
the interests of these {arms a Boercommando under Mr. CroNaE,
said to number from 60 to 80, assembled at Lichtenburg on
receiving the news of the attack on Rietfontein, and moved as far
as the eye of the Molopo to a point on the borders of the
Keare Award territory, but on receiving an assurance from the
Field-eornet that theie was mo danger of an attack on thewhite
population they immediately dispersed. Amother commandounder
Mo, Snymanmoved to one of the: farms ‘then in dispute under
the Kpame Award, Vleifontein, upon which the villageof Rooi
Grond or Roode Grond is now situated, but they also dispersed
almost immediately. Major BuLrnewr in his report expresses a
suspicion that these Boers were acting under ovders to be ready
to help MosaeTrTE, There is no evidence whatever to support
that: suspicion, and under all the circumstanees it is far move
probable that the Boers assembled merely for self protectionin
case of war spreading. MoxNTsIOA’S own statement before
Major BurreEr and Mr. JousprT as to the commandos
assembled at this time exonerates the Boers from blame. That
statement -was asfollows :—* I confess before you two:Captams
that Mr. VIL7OoEN took the two commandos away when I'asked

‘him.  The last commando is that which came after the fight

with-MacmaBL. T have heard that the lealerof that commando
was Mr. Croxam. That commando was called back by Jax
ViLsoeN; Mr: Sxyman and Mr. RoEpENs; who said there was

e
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no war with the whites.” Major BuLLER and Mr. JOUBERT
baving succeeded in effecting a temporary arrangement, the eyes
of all MoNTs10A’s and MOSHETTE’S people were turned towards
the Royal Commission then sitting in the Transvaal, to which
the natives looked for a settlement of the long disputed boundary
and land questions. They were doomed to bitter disappointment,
KEeBALEPILE, son of MONTSIOA, attended before the Royal
Commission on July 13th, 1881, and stated that he wanted “ to
listen to what the Royal Commission say ” that ‘¢ KEATE’S words
must be left strong ” and that he wanted “ to be protected by the
Queen.” He was informed that  the Royal Commission willlay
down a line between MoxnTs1oA and the Boers, and that line
must be observed,” at which he expressed satisfaction, but nowhere
is any record to be found of any decision upon the question
referred to the Royal Commission in accordance with the arrange-
ment made by Major BuLLER and Mr. JOUBERT in which
Monts104, MosueT1E and MACHABI were interested. A
boundary line was undoubtedly fixed by the Convention whereby
both MoNTs10A and MOSHETTE were placed-outside the ..outh
African ReLubhc as mdependent Chiefs, but nothing whatever
was done to secure the safety of MoNTS10A from subsequent
attack by MOSHETTE, to settle amicably the dispute between
these Chiefs, or to throw the protecting g2is of British authority
round the tribes excluded from the jurisdiction of the South
African Republic. To the credit of the Boer representatives
-and afterwards fof the Government of the Republic be it said
that they continued to point out the danger avising from placing
the border natives outside any civilized government.
Their representations were supposed to have sprung from
interested motives, and it was thought' sufficient for Her
Majesty’s Imperial Government to exclude the territories of
MoNTS10A, MOSHETTE, MANKOROANE and MASSOUW from
the Republic, and then to leave the Chiefs to their own devices.
Her Majesty’s Imperial Government and their officers appear
indced to have been so anxious to shake off all connexioan with
the Republic and its frontier, and to 1etire from the country
alter the unhappy reverses sustained by the British troops, that
the faithful native allies of the Queen were forgotten and the

m—
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duties of the British Government towarls the native tribes
ignored. According to the despatch of Sir HErRcuLEs RoBIN-
son to Lord KIMBERLEY, dated August 4th, 1881 (), so deeply
were Her Majesty’s Commissioners impressed with a sense of
the general feeling of anxiety umongst the natives at what they
considered to be their desertion, ¢ that they (the Commissioners)
considered it to be their duty to convey to the representatives of
the Transvaal Burghers some expression of opinion and some

words of advice regarding a question of which none can exceed

the importance in this country.” What an opportunity was

presented at this time for giving some protection to the allies of
England if not for asserting the proud position claimed for the
Queen as the Great Protector of the nativeraces! The disputes
between MonTs10A and MosHETTE and 'any similar disputes
might have been adjudicated upon to the satisfaction of the
natives, a trustworthy officer might have been appointed to watch
frontier interests, the boundaries between tribes might have been
settled instead of leaving everything in doubt and disorder, and
the prestige of the British Empire in South Africa might still
have been preserved. Instead, however, of discharging that
obvious duty Her Mujesty’s Imperial Government rested content
with the information that the Royal Commission had conveyed
“ to the representatives of the Transvaal Burghers some expres-
sion of opinion and some words of advice.” The obstacle to any
definite action might probably he found in the disinclination of
the Britishr taxpayer to expend a small sum in discharging the
legitimate functions of the Empire, although he is now ready to
vote_millions for unnecessary warlike operations. The facts
disclosed in the despatch of Sir Everyy Woop to Lord
KiuBerRLEY, dated August 17th, 1881 (4), must excite strange
feelings in the minds of white men of every nationality in Seuth
Africa. I returned,” says Sir EVELYN, “to Pretoria on the
1st August. The following day a meeting of some fifty of the
Transvaal Native Chiefs or their representatives, attended by about
a thousand followers, took place to hear a statement of His Excel-
lency Sir HErcULES RoBINsON of the reasons for our leaving

(a) Blue-book [C, 3C98], page 65.
(%) Blue-book [C. 8098], page 79,
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the Transvaal, and of what the consequent arrangements were to
be. This statement'had been printed in:the -Setuana language,
and the translation was read out to the people by the Rev. Mur.
Morrar, the late Native Commissioner-to the Barolong - Chiefs
e o .o o Aster Mr. MorraT had translated the clauses of
the Convention, the Royal Commission at once retired;-and: the
Chiefs then deputed. Mr.. MoFPAT to appeal to the Royal Com-
mission for permission to.address it.on the subject of their being,
as they stated, handed over to the Boer Government without their
concurrence and.against their inclination. .Ze Rresz'dent (Sir
H. RoBINSON) deeided it was not desirable or cxpedient under the
circumstances that they should-be given a-hearing, and next day
most of them left” Thoese-who have been accustomed to eriticize
severely the native poliey of* the Cape 'Colony-will do well to
veflect carefully upon this.and upon the cvents of the past: four
years generally before again wishing to transfer to- Her Majesty’s
Imperial Government the control of native races in-South Africa.
The bare definition of a boundavy line between the Native terri-
tories and the South African Republic was—as might haye been
anticipated—of little value to MoNTs10A or MoSHETTE, whose
cause of quarrel had not been removed, and the result was that
these Chief-—who by the Convention had been rendered indes
pendent, and who had been left without protection or advice—
were enabled again to indulge in their favourite pastime;war
and to recommence their unhappy hostilities. They soon availed
" themselves of an opportunity. MOSHETTE appearsto have been,
the first to renew the contest. In a statement made in-the pre-
sence of Captain Nours® on November 3rd, 1881, and described
by that officer as *“ open and frank ”— MosuETTE said “ MoNT-
$104, you atticked me in the night, and killed 71 of my people,
and 12 women were killed and burnt in the huts, and 4 were
wounded, and I was compelled t> punish such: murders. After
that came PIET JouBErT and Major BuLLer, and
they said to me, MOSHETTE, you must not make -war,
and I listened. Khey said that the Royal = Commission
had sent them, and that I could speak and say what I have to
say. And I spoke for two hours. MoxTs104 spoke for two
days ; 1 only spoke a short time, and not much, I got no answer
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as to what they decided. T asked General JounErT and Major
BuLLER.to give me an answer, and I got none. I again.asked
Command:nt GREEF, how is my case going on, as I have mot
got an answer. I again asked General JoUuBErT, am I to. get
an answer or not ¢ This happened in Pretoria. I then said I
will give my case over to an agent (Mr. PRELLER). After
that I waited five days, until the Royal Commission broke up.
I could not get-an answer, I then said I could get no answer,

- and determined to use my own laws, and then I made war with

MoxNTs10A, and that is the cause of this war.” The renewal ot
hostilities occurred in September, 1881. According to MoNT-
s104A’s statement (o) MosneTTE first marched to Polfontein in
the Transvaal, ¢ thence to Rooi Grond in thé Transvaal, thence
he crossed the line and attacked MoNTsroa at Sehuba, where
being defeated he fled into the Transvaal. All cattle taken went
into the Transvaal.” The object of MoNTsI0A in making this
stalement—and that object is prominent in every statement made
by him—-clearly was to enlist support from THer = Majesty’s
Government by showing that the sympathy of the South African
Republic was with MosueTTE, and that the territory of the
South African Republic was allowed to be used as a base of
operations against MoNTs1oA.  Unprejudiced persons acquainted
with native warfare will, however, pause before coming to the
conclusion that although MosueTTE was defeated and obliged
to fly from destruction, he succeeded in carrying off' into the
Transvaal the cattle of his victorious foe. Whatever may have
been their sympathies, which in all probability were with
MosuerTE for a like reason to that which induced British
sympathy to be given to MoNT8104, no satisfactory evidence
can be procured to connect the Government of the South African
Republic with aiding MosuerTE in his hostilities against
Montsioa. The fact that the boundary line of the Republic
runs almost through the centre of the site of the village of
Roci Grond is sufficient to show how difficult it is for any
Government to keep such a boundary neutral during long and
desultory native warfare. On the other hand thereis ample evi-

(a) Blue-book [C, 3486], page 75.
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dence to prove that the Government of the South African
Republic did everything in its power to prevent a conflict. A
proclamation was issued forbidding the subjects of the Republic
to take part in the hostilities or to incite the tribes to war, and
MAcHABI was warned “ that in case war should exist between
MosuerTE and MONTSI0A, you must not go beyond th:
boundary line to meddle in the matter.” Nothing in the nature
of a Foreign Enlistment Act appears to have been in force
in the Republic, and, consequently, there was nothing to
prevent any subject of that Republic from legally offering his
services as a mercenary soldier to any independent belligerent
power. Enlistment as a mercenary soldier is not per se objec-
tionable, Persons of very refined feelings might object to a
system which encourages such enlistment under any circum.
stances, but it must be remembered that England has furnished
to Foreign Powers in time of war many brave soldiers of fortune,
and that the Cape Colony is indebted to a German Legion not
only for gallant soldiers in time of warfare but for admirable
colonists in time of peace. For the employment of white men
in the intertribal Barolong warfare the responsibility rests with
MoxTsioA. So brave and efficient were the whites who sup-
ported him—conspicuous amongst them for bravery and loyalty
to his Chief being the late Mr. BETHELL—that it either occurred
to MOSHETTE or was suggesied to bim that his defeat was
certain unless he also obtained the services of well-armed white
men. MOSHETTE’S statement as to the employment of mercen-
aries, or ““freebooters »” as they are now styled, is as follows : —
(a) “I had no white men when the war started. The white
men joined me to get loot. The white men offered their services;
1 did not call for them. I promised the first volunteers cattle,
they having asked for it. With regard to amy subsequent
* arrangements I should like to speak in the presence of those
concerned in such arrangements.’”” Amnother version is that
MosnETTE sent out notices calling for volunteers, but it is
quite immaterial to discuss whether the mercenaries or freebooters
were called for by MOSHETTE or volunteered their services.

(&) Notes of interview with MOSHETTE, Appendix B.
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Their services were undoubtedly accepted by MosHETTE, the
reward being, according to express agreement, a share of the
conquered land and loot,y At the time of Captain NoUrse's
mission to the scene of hostilities in November, 1881, about
twenty-six white men were assisting MosmerTE. The Govern=
ment of the South African Republic, through Commandant
GRrEeEF, had in vain endeavoured to persuade these men to leave
MosnerTe’s laager, and it is difficult to see how they c:uld
have teen forced to leave. The reasons for refusal, as appearing
in official reports, ave, after all, not disereditable, being based on
a disinclination to break a promise. Amongst others who made
statements was HENDRICK SCHOERMAN, who said (a):—*1 did
not think that I should do wrong, or that I should do anything
not in favour of my Government, if I hired myself as a volunteer,
because Bushmen, Kafirs and Englishmen have got the right to
hire themselves. And I did not think that I should not have
the right, because I ruffered ggeat damage by the late war, when
I with my four children were ‘In commando. And all my crops
are gone, and because thera is no living for me, or a very poor
one, I and my son JOHANNES SCHOEMAN volunteered to
MosuETTE, and we cannot withdraw our presence.” CHARLES
WEeBER stated :—“ Because [ have suffered damage by
MoxTs10a when he always kept his commando on the border.
I wae obliged to shift from my farm, and I lost £300 also. I
was obliged to hire myself to MosaETTE with my three sons as
volunteers.” MicHAEL BALSEN stated :—“ MoONTSIOA caused
me damage to the extent of £50. To get a living for myself
and my father I volunteered to MosHETTE and cannot break
my word.” A.vAN DER WESTHUYSEN stated :—* I lost my
erops on the ‘Rooi Grond’ because I had to take to my heels,
because MoONTS10A always kept armed commandos in the
neighbourhood.” At this stage arises the question:—Had
MosHETTE, an independent Chief haviog lawful power to
make war and peace, the right to raise a mercenary force to
asslst him in his operations against MONTSIOA, also an inde-
l)endent Chief, neither belligerent being bound in any way to

() Blue-book [C. 3098], page 128,
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consult any Foreign Power in making alliances or treaties ? The
answer must be in the affirmative, and it is equally clear that if
any arrangement has been entered into by which provision is
made for settling mercenaries employed by MosmETTE upon
land ceded to that Chief by lawful treaty, such arrangement
ought not to be set aside. It is said that MOSHETTE’S volunteers
were merely “land and cattle thieves,” who, without having had
any quarrel with MoNTs10A, served against him merely for loot.
Any argument based upon the absence of direct cause of quarrel
would apply to service in every war with which the Sovereign of
the volunteers was not connected. No one for a moment imagines
that WiLLouGHBY now bravely fighting at the head of the
Malagasy forces has any cause of quarrel with France. But,in
any case, it must be berne in mind that MoNTS10A’S azgressive
and treacherous attack on Rietfontein brought so much dis-

quietude upon the border that the Frontier Boers were in most
instances unable to pursue their avocations and were brought to
the verge of ruin thereby. Here, as at almost every stig: of the

Beechuanaland difficulty, South Africin Colonists will ask why

did not Her Majesty’s Imperial Government come to the restue
of MonTsioa when they were informed that MosnerTe was
gathering a white foree, and why should they now aitempt to set
aside engagements entered into by MoNTsioA when an inde-
pendent belligerent ? Captain NOURSE’s mission having [ailed,
the matter was dismissed hy Her Majesty’s Imperial Govern-
ment with an intimation from Sir H, Ronixsox to Mr. Hubsonx,
dated September 5th, 1881 (), that Captain Nourse appeared
to have acted judiciously, ““and I can only regret that his
endeavours to allay the ill-feeling existing between the Barolong
tribes have not been more successful.” Striet nesutrality and
non-intervention now became the order of the day. DManN-
KOROANE—whose acts will be dealt with separately—having
with the assistance of white men made an usprovoked attack
upon MASSOUW, was worsted, and thereupon he sent an urgent
application t> the Colonial Government of which Sir THOMAS
SCANLEN was the head for leave to purchase ammunition, The

(a) Blue-book [C. 80987, page 138,
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answer, under date: January Sthy 1882, was ¢ MANK RO INE'S
anplication cannot. be: acceded to. As already intimated, the
Government: desire to preserve strict neutrality, His Exeolloncy
the High Commiss'oner concurs in this decision,””  In,January,
1882, Coptain NouRrsE was again despatched by Mr. Hupsox
to the Transvaal south-western border. He reported: that no
amicable understanding could be arrived af, that hostilities were
vapidly spreading, and that MosuErrE hid laid waste
MoxTs10A's territory, except his head station, with the ald
of white volunteers—whose number had inereased to about
cighty— serving under a written agreement  that for their services
they are to veceive half the booty and all MonTsioa’s ground
south of the. Molopo River should they succeed in expelling
lum.”  With reference to Captain Nourse's report, Sir H.
Rosixson informed Liord Kimserruy by telegraph on the
10th February, 1882 (a), that “the Tiinsvaal Governmen- is
evidently powerless to restrain the Burghers who chose to leave
their territory, and so MoNTs10A and MANKOROANE, who have
always been our firm (riends and allies, are in danger of extinc-

L tion.”  MoxTsioa being about this time havd-jre:sed, sent Mr.
BrruELL, his accredited agent, to Kimberley for the-puvpos:
of buying ammunition (&) snd to request the aid of Her
Miajesty’s Grovernment against these freebooters, or to receive
p-rmission to raise in Kimberley a firce of police,” to be pa'd
by the Chief, to defend his border. Mr. BETHELL was informed
by telegram from the High Commissioner, dated Februwy 9th,
18682, that the Tronsvaal Government was being urged. to. insist
on the teutrality of their tervitory and subjeets, and that he
could not have leave to buy ammunition or to vaise a:f rced
The Civil Commissioner was at the same time directed ta ‘S give
Lim a copy of our proclamation,” meaning a neut-ality procla-
mation published in the Cape Colony. MosarETTE'S suzeess—
which led to Mr. BETHELL’S jowney to Kimberley—was brought
about by the aid ot the white volunteers or mercenaries whom that
Chief had attracted in considerable numbers to his stindard by
en'ering into agreements with them, as he lawfully might do, « to

(a) Blue-beok [C. 3881), pages & and 34.

e (?) Blueshook [, 338L], pago 33,
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give them half the booty and a farm each in MoNTs10A's country.”
(a) Her Majesty’s Imperial Government, knowing of these agree-
mcnts, stood quietly by and did not establish any protectorate
or give any help. The Transvaal Government, as ap jears
from a telegram ¢ent by Sir H. Rosixsox to Lord
KimBERLEY on March 19th, 1882, were, on the contrary, alive to
the gravity of the situation (4). They stated that ¢«if things
continue as at present country will become depopulated,” and
they proposed “as remedy extension of State boundary so as
to include all Kaffirs formerly under the Republic and others
now desirous to enjoy its protection.” They added * that
British Government must at once effect peace, if necessary by
force, or consent to State doing so, which it could do with little
trouble.” They finally urged “ immediate action, as not a day
to be lost.” The proposal appears to have been fair, but dis-
trust of the Transvaal Government seems unnecessarily to have
creptinto the minds of Her Majesty’s advisers. Sir H. Rosinson
advised Lord KiMBERLEY that “as far as I can judge at
present, I think Convention boundary should be maintained. Tt
is admitted that quietness within State border is secured; and
1 think that quarrels between independent native tribes outside
afford no sufficient grounds for annexation . . . . . . .
The best policy for both Cape and Transvaal to pursue is to
protect a well-defined boundary line, punish promp:ly and
severely any inroads, and leave independent native tribes outside
to settle for themselves their own differences.” The meaning of
that advice, of course, was—let MoxTsroA and MOSHETTE
fight out their differences, let them get what assistance they like
and enter into such alliances and treuties within their respective
territories as” they like, but let neighbouring Governments use
their best efforts to prevent raids from neutral territory. The
Transvaal cannot be blamed for endeavouring at this juncture to
p'ace frontier affairs on some satisfactory basis. Continued native
warfare on the border was highly injurious to the Republie, and
great irritation was being caused by the demands of the Govern=~
ment upon its frontier burghers for service as border guards, As

(a) Blue-book [C. 3381], page 47,
(%) Blue-book [C, 3381], page 53.
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the State Secretary wrote to the British Resident: * It is to be
feared that the wars outside our frontier may last very long, and
thereby great and heavy expense will be incurred by the main-
taining ot the guards on the border.” The warfare between
Montsioa and MosneTTE was, however, allowed to drag on
until MoNTs104, after a long contest, was crushed to the ground
by means of the assistance given to MosueTTE by hia mer-
cenaries. Complaints have been made of the hiring of
these mercenaries, but the true state of the case is given by M
JoUBERT in his report to the Triumvirate (a), dated April 28th,
1882, wherein he says ¢ that MonTs10A and MANKOROANE
were the attacking parties, they who now complain of the hiring
of white volunteers by their opporents and who.were the first te
bring it into practice, and their complaints are now only made
because they, MANKOROANE and MONTS10A, now find out thai
their pupils surpass their masters.”’y” The defeat of MoNTSI102
resulted in a treaty of peace entered into on 24th October
1882 (1).) MoNTs10A seems to have been at first unwilling tc
sign that treaty, but so strongly was he urged by his pzople—
who were unable to hold out any longer—that he finally gave
way, and, after digcussion of the clauses, the document was
executed subject to the expunging of certain of the original con-
ditions. The grave question which will now be discussed in every
household in South Africa is the following—was that treaty
validly entered into, and is Her Majesty’s Imperial Government
justified in’ sending an army into MoNTSI0A’S country for the
purpose of defeating the provisions of a duly executed treaty ?
At the date of the execution of that treaty MoNTs10A was per-
fectly independent, Her Majesty’s Imperial Government had no -
jurisdiction over the Chief and had no title to interfere with any
of his arrangements. Their power was limited to the right con-—
ferred by the Convention of Pretoria to require the Transvaals
Government “to adhere to the boundaies defined in the first
article of the Convention ” and “ to do its utmost to prevent any
of its inhabitants from msaking any encroachments upon lands
beyond the said State.” The best evidence on this subject is to

(a) Blue-book [C. 3381], page 137,
(b) Treaty. Appendix F.
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_be found in a telegraphic despatch sent to Liord KiMBERLEY by
sir. H. RoBixsoN a few months be‘ove the execution of the
treaty, that is to say, on August 6th, 1852, « I propose to instruct
Hupson to wisit Taungs on his retuwrn journey and fo inform
Clhicfs that being independent they are freeto make what arrange-
ments they think fit between themselves, and that if they choose they
can give land 4o the jfrecbooters, but that the proposed intervention
of Transvaal Government outside the State cannot be permitted :
it weuld be inconsistent with the Convention, the terms of which,
including the boundary line, must be strictly adhered to. Do
you approve?” A treaty (a) had just then been concluded
under which MANKOROANE lost the greater part of his country,
which under the name of “ Stellaland ” was transferred to white
volunteers or * freebooters,” who were in precisely the same
positien as the volunteers of MosnertTe, The execution of the
treaty between MoNTs10A and MosHETTE having been brought
officially to the notice of Lord DERBY, no attempt was made to
set up the case that the treaty was wholly invalid., In fact Lord
Derey had no legal power to place a veto upon any of the clauses
save such as were repugnant to the Convention of Pretoria. In his
despatch to £ir H. RoBiNsoN, dated January 27th, 1833, Lord
DErpy requested that the Transvaal Government should be
informed that a copy of the treaty had been communicated to
Her Majesty’s Government, “and that the cession clauses which
it contains and others puvoviding for the exercise within the
territories of MoNTs10A and MosnETTE of jurisdiction by the
Transvaal Government cannot be recognized as valid.” Not a
word was said regarding the clauses containing terms in which
the Trausvaal Government was not interested, and it is clear
that Lcrd DeErBY meant to nullify only that portion of the
treaty which made cession of land or jurisdiction to the Trans
vaal Government. He had no power to imterfere with the
portion which related to MoNTsi0A, MOSHETTE, and these
deriving title under them. By the 16th Article of that treaty
all land lying to the north or north-west of a given line were
for the future to belong to MoNTs104, and all lying to the sonth

(a) Treaty between MAXK® ROANE and MAssouw. Appendix E,
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or south-west to MosaeTTE. By the 9th Axrticle provision is
made as follows :—* G'rounds which have been promised by the
two parties, or either of them, to his or their hired white volunteers
are hereby certainly and distinetly secured and awarded to the said
volunteers, and by consequence are hereby fully acknowledged by
both parties.” This was quite in accordance with Sir H.
RosinsoN’s view above referred to, that independent Chiefs
“are free to make what arrangements they think fit batween
themselves, and that if they choose ‘they can give land to the
freebooters, but the proposed intervemtion of the Transvaal
(Grovernment outside the State cannot be permitt:d.” Moreover
a similar arrangement as to Stellaland agreed upon a few months
previously had not been challenged, and since the establishment
of the Protectorate it has been expressly recognized by Her -
Majesty’s Imperial Government. Oa March 1st, 1883, Her
Majesty’s Grovernment, as appears from the despatch of Lord
Derey to Sir H. RosinNsox of that date, were still opposed to
the establishment of British jurisdiction in Bechuanaland. Prior
to the date of that despatch, that is to say, or January 20th, 1883»
the ScANLEN Ministry had been requested by sir H. RoBiNson
~ to say whether they were prepared to entertain a proposal for
“ the appoiniment of a Joint Commission, composed of represen -
tatives of the Cape Colony and the Transvaal, who would arrangg
for a division of the disturbed territory and for its annexation
to their respective countries,” or to entertain  any proposal con-
templating an extension of the present northern boundary of the
Colony, with a view to the incorporation of any portion of the
disturbed area.” The reply was that neither proposal could be
entertained. A minute of Sir H. RoBINsoN to the SCANLEN
Ministry, dated 14th March, 1883, discloses a remarkable sug-
gestion of the Secretary of State for the Colonies, who afier
< admitting that the Chiefs MoxTs104A and MaNKoROANE have
special claims through former services and promises” expresses
the willingness of Her Majesty’s Government “to give them
and others moderate allowances if, when driven out of their
country, they can be located in British territory !” Iuformation
was also asked as to whether there was land withia
the Cape Colony upon which the Chiefs could be located-
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Mr. MEeRRIMAN very properly declined to entertain
such an extraordinary proposal. 1t therefore seems to
be conclusively proved that after what has occurred objection
cannot now be taken by Her Majesty’s Imperial Government to
the treaty of October, 1882, or to the benefits given thereby to
the victorious Chief and his white volunteers, provided the treaty
was duly obtained and provided it was not after signature cancelled
by consent of parties or waived. In the first place, then, is there
any evidence that the treaty was obtained by duress, fraud, or in
any other unfuir manner? It is said that it was extorted from
MonTs10A ““with the pistol at his head.” Every defeated
belligerent who to avoid destruction accepts terms of peace does
so “with the pistol at his head.” Denmark, after the refusal of
Great Britain to give her mate:ial assistance, was obliged to
accept harsh terms from the stronger German Powers in 1864,
but no one would dream of contending that the treaty of peace
then made could be repudiated by Denmark on the ground that
she was in dire straits when she entered into it. MONTSIOA’S
statement of the circumstances to Mr. RUTHERFOORD, contained
in that gentleman’s repcrt to the British Resident, Pretoria,
dated December 261h, 1882 («), gives the Chief’s version and
proves that there was no extortion. According to that statement—
which it may be safely presumed gave the view most favourable
to MoNTS10A—Commandant SNYMAN, who was in command of
the Transvaal Border Guard, came to Maffeking as a mediator
bringing a letter from MoSHETTE “ to make peace.” MoNTSIOA
said to SNYMAN that if he took away the Boer, that is the
volunteer, laager, he would consider with his Council what to
do. SNYMAN said “he would report at the laager and
come back.,” He did not come back then but wrote to say
the Chief must decide at once. MonN1s10a replied ¢the
fighting must go on if time is not given to consider.” What
followed may be given in MoxTsIoa’s words :—* We fought
hard during that month and part of next. SNyMaN had said
if I wished to make peace at any time I must let him
know. After much fighting StePuex left for Pretoria to see

(@) Blue-book [C, 3486], page 59,
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the British Resident. Before STeruaeN left the Boers had made
schansen and forts round my station. While STErHEN was
away my sons represented to me that we must think of peace as
we were very short of ammunition and food, and the people were
starving and dying every day from sickness.” The Chief, who
is a man of dogged determination, refused to listen to his sons
hoping that the British Government would come to his aid, but
finally he acceded to the urgent appeals of his people and of his
children, the latter saying that ¢ the English Government knew
all about it, but we are left here shut up and helpless.”
MoxTs104 accordingly wrote to Mr. SxymAN as follows:—
“ By these we, I and my Councillors, agree to call you in tohear
what I and my Councillors say, for you have said that [ can call
upen you at any time 1 thought it necess ry to call you, whether
by day or by night. Now you must be so good as to come to me on
the receipt of this letter.,” Mr. SNYMAN—whose bona fides there
is no reason to doubt—having arrived, hesent to MONTS104 a draft
of a letter giving him (SNYMAN) full authority ¢ for the estab-
lishing of a peace and closing of the war now going on between
Barorone, Captain MosnerTE and ourselves.” This the
Chief signed, as he alleges, “ much against my will, under very
strong pressure from my sons and my people.” Mr. SNYmAN
thereupon made an armistice, which was to last until October
24th, the date of the treaty. MoONTS10A now attempts to set up
the case that although he executed the treaty he did not know
ite contents (¢). In doing so he is undoubtedly acting dis-
honestly. He admits that two clauses of the treaty were
expunged because of his refusal to agree to them, and inquiry
made by any unprejudiced person will confirm upon other grounds
the conclusion that MoxTs104 well knew the contents of the treaty.
A counterpart was delivered to him at the time, and as there
were persons who read both Dutch and English at his station, it
is too much to ask that such a story should be believed as that a
shrewd man like MoNTs10A and an intelligent English speaking
native like ISRAEL MoLeMA—who signed as a witness—were
* ignorant of the conditions of the treaty. Mr. RuTnErroorp

(a) No'es of Interview with MONTSIOA. Appendix C,
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in lis wreport to the DBritish Resident, Pretoria, dated
November 22nd, 1882, does not allege that the treaty was
signed in ignorance of the contents. Mr. RUTHERFOORD’S
statement is that  against the Old Chief’s will, and under the dire
pressure of circumstances and insistence of his somns, he had
consented to a peace and to the surrender of a large tract of
country : he says about 75 miles long by 40 broad for farms for
volunteers.” A respectable white trader at Mafteking, who knows
all the ecircumstances and who is str.ngly pro-Barolong in his
views, admitted in a recert conversation on the subject that there
could be no question as to the validity of the treaty of October,
1852, and stated that in candour he was ob iged to say that the
volunteers mentioned in that treaty were tairly entitled to the
Jand claimed by them. The translation of MoNTSIOA’S counter-
part of the treaty made l.y Mr. RuTHERFOORD, aud published
in Blue-Fook [C. 3486, {age 71, sets forth that the treaty was
signed subject to “ the omission and supersession of Articles 3
(i7)and 19.” The introduction of 17 in brackets bears a suspicious
: ppearance, especially as that is the article which defines the
land to * ke given to the volunteers of both sides.” ‘f'he counter-
part of the treaty in the posses-ion of the Bestuur of Land
Goshen clearly shows that only Articles 3 and 19 were superseded,
there being vo indication whatever of any erasure. When a

request was receatly mnde that the counterpart in posses
sion of the natives should be exhibited for inspection
that request was not complied with, the people at
Miffeking asseriing that the Chief had the document,
while MoxTsioa when  subsequently questioned as
stoutly in-isted that it was at Maffeking. Without inspection of
the treaty it is impossible to say definitely whether there is
evidence on the fuce of the treaty to lead to the belief that a
forgery has been committed, but the disinclination of the natives
to produce the decument after having been informed of the
reason for the wish to inspect it furnishes ground for suspecting
that they have tampered with the treaty. An additional reason
for coming to the comelusion that there has been a clumsy
attempt at fraud by MoxNTs10A’s people is that if it had been
really intended at the time of signature to deprive the white
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volunteers of their rights to land, the 9th Article, which secures
those rights, would also have been expunged. The super. ession
or non-supersession of Article 17 in no way affects the merits of
the general question, for even if that article had been expunged
the land therein described would belong to MosEETTE—andnot
to MoxTsioa—under Articles 14, 15 and 16. Reference is made
to the variztion between the counterparts merely for the purpose
of suggesting a test of the value of MovTsioa’s evidence on
the treaty question generally. Irrespeetive, however, of any
doubts as to the veracity of the natives which might be caused
by any suspicion that they have tampered with their counterpart,
the conclusion must be forced upon every impartial inquirer,
after consideration of all the circumstances, that the treaty of
October 24th, 1882, was duly entered into, and"that MoNTsIOA
should be held to be bound by it unless he can show that after
execution it was cancelled or waived. The arguments in support
of the invalidity of the treaty are, first, that MoxNTsoA
after its execution repudiated it; and, secondly, that
as possession of the land was mot actually taken by the
volunteers, and the provisions of Clauses 10 and 11 were
not complied with by beaconing off the farms within the
time limited, the whole treaty became null and void. The first
contention is certainly unsound. One party to an engagement
cannot be allowed to repudiate it at his pleasure, and it is not to
be tolerated that MoNTs1oA should be allowed to tuke advan-
tage of his own wrongful act in refusing to abide by his engage-
ments. With regard to the other contention, it is clear that
even if there were default in appointing a Commission to beacon
off farms within a limited period, such default could not render
the whole treaty a nullity and res'ore to MoNTs10oA land within
cleaily defined boundaries which in any case he had given up to
MosmurTE. The real question is one of fact. Is it true that
the white volunteers or freebooters as well as MosHETTE aban-
doned their claims, and that all parties, including MoxNTsIOA,
looked upon the treaty as a dead letter? The eviden:e goes
entirely the other way. On November 24th, 1882, Mr,
BETMELL—an adventurous young Englishmen, brave as a lion,
who had married a native womsn and settled down at Maffeking_)
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where he became the Agent and Chief Adviser of MONTSIOA—
wrote to Mr. GEY a letter of which the following is a transla-
tion : —

Maffeking, Nov. 24th, 1882.
To Mr. N. GEv.

Sir,—According to {treaty of) peace made between MoNTSIOA
and MOSHETTE, we see that the volunteers of both Captains have
to get farms inside the new line. My people ask me in what
manner and when the farms will be got, so I write you this note
to ask a reply on those two points.

I am, &c.,
(Signed) C. BETHELL.

This letter was evidently written in consequence of the volun-
teers having commenced on November 30th, 1882, to beacon off
the land reserved to them by the treaty, after having sent a mes-
sage to say that MONTSIOA must send some men on his part to
beacon off the new line, which the Chief is said to have refused to
do. According to Mr. RUTHERFOORD’s report of December
26th, 1882, the volunteers “had also sent word they intended
establishing a pound near the line, and that any station cattle
coming beyond the beacons would be impounded.”

On December 23rd, 1882, Mr. BETHELL aZain wrot: to Mr,
GEY as follows : —

Maffeking, Dec. 23rd, 1882.
M:r. N. Gey.

Sir,—1I have the honour to send you the names of ths white
volunteers of MoNT310A who have to get farms according to the
treaty of peace. I have not yet heard in what manner the farms
are to be'divided and when tZe survey will be ready, and [ shall
be glad to hear upon those two points.

I am, &ec.,
(Signed) C. BETHELL.

That letter contained the following enclosure :—

List of names of MONTSIOA’S white volunteers.

1. C. BETHELL (5 farms, self and four substitutes).
2. WALKER.

3. A. GEELMAN.

4, H. C. JOHNSTON.

5. W. ORrR.
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6. H. FAULKNER.

7. EMMENESS.

8. FreEp. CowLEY.

9. E. CHRISTOPHER.
10. A. E. Rowe,

11. GEORGE LUITNAR.
12. P. AUSTEN.

13. F. WiLL1AMSON.

The reason for addressing Mr. GEY was that, after the execu-~
tion of the treaty of peace of October, 1882, a provisional
Government or Committee of Management had been established
by MosHETTE’S volunteers under authority of that Chief for
the administration of the Government of that portion of the
conquered territory to which the white volunteers were entitled.
Mr. GEY was selected as Chairman of the Bestuur, and before
Lim, in that capacity, Mr. BeTHELL, Mr. WALKER, and
several others who had fought for MoNTSIOA as volunteers,
took the following oath of allegiance to the provisional Govern-
ment on February 1st, 1883, at Fort William within the con-
quered territory :—

“OATH OF ALLEGIANCE.”

We solcmnly promise and swear allegiance to the people and
the laws of this territory as citizens and subjects, and that we
will obey the authorities placed over and generally aim at nothing
but the maintenance of law, justice ard order, and to promote and
cause to flowrish the welfare and independence of country and
people, that is, the white population.

Thus done at Fort Willem, the 1st February, 1883,
 Here follow the Signatures. |
Sworn before me,

N. C. GEY vAN PITT1US,
Chairman of the Bestuur.

In the face of such evidence it requires some courage to
maintain that the treaty of October, 1882, was never acted upon,
and that no proprietary rights were ever asserted. by the
votunteers prior to the establishment of the British Protectorate.
A provisional Government was appointed in the territory given
to the white volunteers under it, possession of at all events part
of that territory, if not all, was held by the white volunteers,
beacors were et up and notice was given to MONTs104 that any
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cattle of his trespassing on the land set apart for the volunteors
would be impounded. Application was made ty the provisional
Government by MoNTs10A’s trusty adviser and others for land
under the provisions of the treaty, a village was prop sed to le
laid out, and many other acts were done showing that the treaty
was never repudiated. On April 10th, 1883, Mr. BETurLL
wrote as follows :—

To the Government of Liand Goshen.

GeNTLEMEN,—I beg to enclose a tender for measuring and
surveying the town Pittius, according to the plan displayed in
the o%ce at Fort Willem. In case my tender shou'd be accepted
by the Government I shall be prepared to begin the survey at
once, anl have no doubt that it would be completed in twenty
days. rhould- the Government settle to make the town at
Selere’s station I should submit a plan somewhit different ro
that hanging in the office, as more suitable to the nature of the
groun-l,

I have, &c.,

(Signed) C. BETHELL.

There can be no more convincing proof than this that the
residents at Maffeking considered the treaty to be binding at that
date. Selere’s Station, or as it is otherwise written Saliris, is
portion of the country assigned to the whitz volunteers by the
treaty which it is now sought to igmore. As to MOSHETTE’s
waiver of the treaty, no evidence is fortheoming, although
possibly that Chief might at some time have endeavoured to dis-
credit the claims of some of ki volunteers in the hope of
berefiting himself. In fact, as Mr. Hupsox stites in his letter
to Sir. H. RoBinsoN, dated June 9th, 1883, there was at that
time a secret understanding between MoxTsroa and MosuETTE,
the object being to getrid of th> claims of the volunteers and then
divide the country. Another reason has been advanced by a few
people to justify the repudiation by Her Majesty’s Impesial
Government of the treaty of Oectober, 1882, It is contended
that by attacking MoNTsiOA a‘ter the establishment of the
British Protectorate and by refusing t» recognize Her Maj sty’s
Deputy Commissioner, all persons who had acquired rights under
that treaty forfeited sueh rights and their titles to land. F.r.
feiture of land for high-treason, sedition, or public tumult,.is not
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known to the Co'ontal law, and its introduetion into South Afriea
would be a mnovelty, but, in axy case, forfeiture should un-
doubtedly not be insisted upon till af er due trial, anl innocent
men shou'd not be made to suffer equslly with guilty. The
history of the attack referred to will be given Ler-a'ter, and upon
it a judgment can be formed as to the amount of blame to be at-
tached to the conductof the volunteers, U penthissubj-ct theaction
of Her Majesty’s Government in Stellaland—where forfeiture was
never hinted at—is important. Under all the eircumst inces the
refusal of Her Majesty's Government at so remote a dute to
acknowledge the treaty of October 24th, 1882, afier having so
often declined to interfere with the engagements of independont
Chiefs, . and after having expressly decided against a
propesal  to clear the frecbooters out of the territories belonging
to MaNkOROANE and MoxNTstea by force,” will' rightly or
wrongly be looked upon by many of the most loyal of the QQueen’s
subjec!s in South ‘Alrica as a harsh proceeding, especially in the
c.se of bond-fide purchasers for value from those who acquired
rights under that treaty, and it will be said that the Great Bei ish
Nation which has abided so faithfully by its own treities ought
not to create in South Afriea a precedent for so dangerous a

practice as the repudiation of engagements entered into by persons
competent to contract.

v

III.

During May, 1883, matiers apvear to have remained in statu
guo, to use the words of the British Resident, Pretoria (a), in tele-
graphing to Sic H, Rosinsox on 2nd May. DBat another storm
was brewing. Cattle thefts by MoxTsion’s people from the
Transvaal farmers began to increase, and MoNTSIOA went in
person amongst “all the Chiefs of the North and West and
formed a confederation of twelve Chiefs,” intending, as stated by
M-, ‘BerueLL in a telegram to the anate Secretary to the

(a) Blue-book [0 16867, page 73,
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High Commissioner, dated June 5th, 1883, *“ next month to drive
‘out {reebooters from MONTS104’s country and Stellaland,” (a)
Paoof is thus furnished of a deliberate plot amongst Native Chiefs
to drive the volunteers out of Land Goshen and Stellaland,
and to deprive them of the land reserved to them by the treaties
between MoNTs10A and MOSHETITE and between MANKO-
goaxe and Massouw. The firmness of the ScANLEN
Ministry in refusing to allow Mr. BETHELL to purchase ammu-
nition for the purpose contemplated by MonNTsroa and his
fellow Chiefs had much to say to breaking the combination
so formed. A letter written to MoNTsioA by the British
Resident, Pretoria, at this time shows what that officer
thought of the origin of the hostilities which led to the loss of
portion of the Barolong and Batlaping Countries. Mr. Hupson
truly said “it is clear to me that the quarrels between
MosueTTE and yourself and again between MaAssouw and
MAXKOROANE criginated and led to all troubles, damages and
josses to which you have been subject for some time past.”
About the end of September or beginning of October, 1883, a
deputation from the Transvaal State left Cape Town en route
10 England, with a view to discussing with Her Majesty’s Im-
perial Government a proposed revision of the Couvention of
Pretoria. In the meantime the only complaint from Land
Goshen appears to have been made by Mr. FrRANCIs, a trader,
who represented to the British Resident, Pretoria, that a quantity
of arms and ammunition belonging to him had been forcibly
seized and confiscated by the Bestuur of Land Goshen ().
With reference to that complaint Mr. HuDpsoN wrote to Sir H,
Roxrrxsox as follows :—“ T must confess that I donot see what
Mr. ¥rANCIS was doing in that disturbed country with such a
quantity of arms and ammunition, nor are his explanations
therean satisfactory at present.” The fact was that MONTSI104’S
people were continually being incited by white men to attack the
inhabitants of Liand Goshen, and the sale of arms and ammuni-
tion to the natives had become a profitable business.

In November, 1883, the negotiations between the Transvaal

(a) Blue-book [C. 3686, page 96.
(%) 1bid, page 59,
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Deputation and Lord Derby relative to the proposed revision of
the Convention of Pretoria commenced, and on February 27th,
1884, the Convention of Liondon was signed. By the boundary
determined by that Convention portion of MosmeTTE'S country
was thrown into the South African Republic, the line running
on the east side of the road from Lotlakane (Rietfontein) to
Kunana (MosHETTE'S station) until the garden grounds of that
station ave reached, thence skirting Kunana so as to include it
and all its garden ground but no more in the South African Re-
public. The village of Lotlakane (Eietfontein) ard all its
garden ground were left outside the South African Republie.
The line continued to run as before through the ground laid out

for the village of ““ Roode Grond ” or *“ Rooi Grond,” now called
“ Heliopolis.”

IV.

THE first article of the Convention of Liondon defines what
shall be Transvaal territory, but nothing is sa'd as to the owner-
ship of or claims to the land on the western side of the boundary,
unless any inference can be drawn from the vague statement
that Lotlakane is left in “ native territory,” or from Article 2,
which provides that Her Majesty’s Government “will, if neces-
sary, appoint Commissioners in the native territories on tha
eastern and western border of the South African Republic to
maintain order and prevent encroachments.” Consequently the
revision of the boundary line left untouched all rights lawfully
existing against or in favour of MoNTS1I0A and MANKOROANE
under their respective treaties ; but even if the Convention had
contained a provision setting aside such rights that provision
would have been ultra vires as regards Land Goshen, inasmuch
as it i3 quite clear that neither Her Majesty’s Imperial Govern-
ment nor the South African Republic had any authority from
MoxTs10A, or from the Bestuur of Land Goshen, to deal with
their respective rights and liabilities. No one appears even to

have had any authority to represent MOSHETTE, who prote:ts
D
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strongly against a boundary line having been made without bis
consent which places portion of his ecountry within the South
African Republic and pertion within the British Protectorate.
His own words are (a) :— What makes my heart sore is the
ignorance in which I have been kept of the arrangements under the
Convention. I would have beew satisfied if T had been informed
and consulted. I wish te be independent of both Governments,
but to bé on friendly terms.” It certainly appears to be a hardship
that gentlemen assembled in London should disp sse of the country
of an independent Chief in his absence and without his lawful
authority. It is also difficult to ses how a Protectorate could
have been established over the grazing ground of MoOSHETTE
or over Stellaland, then under its own Government, without due
cession of the territories having been made by the governing
bodies, If Land Goshen had been duly acquired by MosHETTE
or by the Bestuur as representing the volunteers under the treaty
of October 24th, 1882, the sufficiency of the acion of Mr.
MACKENZIE in merely giving informal notice as Deputy Com-
missioner of the declaration of a Protectorate, without having
obtained formally the consent of all parties to such P rotectorate,
would seem to be open to doubt. Cessions from MaxkoroANE -
and MoxnTtsioa alone did not justify the establishment of a
Protectorate over land which had passed from under the
s vereignty of those Chiefs to Massouw and to MoSHETTE,
or which had been ceded to the Governments of Stel'aland or
Land Goshen. Original titles to farms in Stellaland and TLand
Goshen have actually been issued in the names of Massouw
and MosHETTE rvespectively. In any case if the treaty of
O:tober, 1881b> valid it would be on'y equ itable that the land
should pass under the Protectorate burthened with any rights
affecting it, A most important fact in comnection with the
establishment of the Protectorate is that, as was distinectly
pointed out to Mr. MackExzie by Sir H. RoBiNso N on April
14th, the treaties made by him with MaxkoroaNE and
Moxtstoa would have no legal effect until Her Majesty by
Order in Council had signified to what extent she would avail of

| (@) Notes of Tnterview with MosSHETTE,. Appendix B.
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them. Nosuch Order seems to have beenissued. The appoiatment
of Mr. MackENZIE as Deputy Commissioner of Bechuanaland—
which can be discussed more conveniently and fuily in connection
with MANKOROANE'S country and the affairs of Stellaland - had a
most importunt bearing upon the course of events in the Barolong
tervitory. Mr. MACKENZIE appears to have been appointed
on February 21st, 1884, and on his arrival ia the Cape Colony a
Commission was issued to him, dated April 12¢h, 1884. That
Commission was very vague, but in a letter of instructions fr.m
Sir H. RoBINsoN of the same date liberty was accorded to Mr.
MACKENZIE “to leave the present Kuropean popu'ation of
Stellaland in possession of their lands” if he should so decide,
but His Excellency added that “ the case of per:onslaying claim
to the so-called Land of Gashen would appear to differ materially
from that of the present European population of Stellaland. The
farms agsigned to MosHETTE'S volunteers in MONTS10A’S country
h.ve never been inspected, surveyed, occupied, o1 improved.
Moreover the territory left to the Chief MONTSIOA by the new
Convertion is so limited that no portion of it could be well alienoteds
and you may find yourself obliged to order the ejectment of the
persons trespassing at Rooi Grond.” It is clear thatat that tim2
Sir H. RoBiNsoN was not wcll-informed either as to the nature
- and extent of the Barolong country or as to the events which
{ollawed the signature of the treaty of October, 1882. Licaving
claims to farms altogether out of the question, if the treaty ol
October, 1882, was valid, the sovereiznty over Land Geshen
became vested in MoSHETTE, to whowm the land, describel by
definite boundiries and beaconed off, was duly ceded, aud fiom
that Chief Mr. MACKENZIE seem not to have obtained a formal
cession of land or jurisdiction. It will thus be seen thit grave
doubt exists as to whetner the Biitish Protectorate over I.and
Goshen has ever been lawfully declaved, and as to whether M.
MacxeNzIE had power to eject the Roode Guond farmers under
any circumstances, especially in view of the non-existence (f any

Order by Her Majesty in Council availing herself of the advatages

f auy cession of jurisdiction by MonTsioa. The appoisument

of Mr. MackENzIE and the hope created thereby of recovering

that portign of their territory conquered by MosHEeTTE infused
D
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new vigourinto the people of MowTsroA, and the result was that
Mr. BETHELL, taking advantage of the absence of the grea‘er
number of the inhabitants of Land Goshen at the wedding of one
of their number, mustered a Barolong force, and having attucked
Roode Grond on May 12th, 1884, drove back the people, burnt
down all the houses upon the western side of the Convention Iine,
destroyed the furniture therein, and left the fami'ies of the absent
Burghers houseless. When this outrage was committed Mr.
MACKENZIE was in Southern Bechuanaland.

The contention get up on behalf of MoNTsIOA, based it would
scem on the view taken by Sir H. RoBINsox in his letter of
instructions to Mr. MACKENZIE, then was that the establishment
of the new Convention line had the effect of giving him allthe
country on the western side absolutely free from any claim onthe
part of MosHETTE and bis volunteers, and he wrote a letter on
May 15th, 1884, addressed to the volunteers in these terms :—
“ After writing many letters, on Monday I went to Rooi Grond
and put you over the line with gentleness and destroyed some of
your houses. I now write to tell you that if you go back to live
in my country I shall come in anger and not only destroy your
houses but bind your people and take your goods. So listen to
my words for they are the last ones, and go away from my
eountry.” The inhabitants of Roode Grond accepted the chal-
lenge and retaliated by sending out a commando some days
afterwards. In the usuil manner of native warfare cattle were
eaptured on several occasions, and such captures have been made
the foundation of charges of cattle stealing which have been
freely made against the Roode Grond people. At this critical
juneture Mr. Mackenzie arrived at Maffeking, and on May
32nd, 1884, he obtained from MONTSIOA a treaty or cession of

+ jurisdiction to the Queen. That is, therefore, assumed to have
been the date upon which, if at all, the Protectorate was legally
establi hed. Having obtained the treaty or cession alluded to,
Mr. MACKENZIE—Wwith whom the Government of Land Goshen
appear to have declined an interview—ad lressed a public
notice, without date, to the Europeans residing at Roode
Grond that in terms of his Commission and by virtue of
shat treaty he therehy declared the whole of ths Barolong
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country “to be under the protection, jurisdiction and authority
of Her Majesty the Queen.” Mr. MackenNzie fell into
the same error which others did in supposing that the
Government of Land Goshen or the * Commandant-General ” at
that time represented the inhabitauts, If he had insisted on
visiting the people he would have thought differently. The
notice contained also the following peculiar intimation : —* I have
also to intimate that the Chief MosueTTE, by documents in my
possession in so far as his own and his people’s rights are con-
cerned, consents to and de-ires the establishment of Her
Majesty’s authority in the Barolong country aforesaid.” As
already stated MosHETTE never made formal ces ion of his
territory or jurisdiction, and the only ground for Mr. Mac-
KENZIE’S intimation was a letter signad by Mosugrrte, dated
May 19th, 1884, wherein he says: “ You went away without
understanding my views. I have since ¢ me to a decision
conc roing the treaty between the Queen and MANKOROANE
and MoNT1s10A. I also am init.” Another extract will show
what his meaning was. “ Why then,” continued MosSHETTE,
« should the boundary line go to the west of me and I remaiun
outside Bechuanaland?” What MosHETTE wanted was to get
back the portion of his country which the Convention line
threw into the Transvual Republic, in which event the
wily chief would become *a child of the Queen,” but he never.
intended to cede, and did uot cede, bis jwisciction to Mr. Mac-
KEXZIE, and be never executéd any treaty or cession as MoxT-
s104 did. From the public notice relerred to it wculd appear
as if Mr. MackENZIE had wisely decided to acknowledge rights
of Europeans to land within the Barolong country. Later infor-
mation clearly shows that to have heen Mr. MACKENZIE’S original
intention, for, as said by his great champion the Grakam’s Towr
Journal on January 3rd, 1885, *he proposed that the ° original
volunteers’ in Stellaland and Goshen, namely, the freebooters
who came in 1882 at the invitaticn of the Chiefs and long before
the Protectorate was proclaimed, should retain their lands.”
At all events, in May, 1884, Mr. MACKENZIE requested
“all persons residing or desiring to reside at Rool Grond
or elsewhere in the Barolong country ” to lodg: their titles or
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copies thereof « at Maffeking, on or before Tuesday next, ths 27th
instant.” The time limited was far too ghort under the circum-
stances, and the mode of giving notice wasineffective, butas soon
as the matter came to the knowledge of certain.of MosmeTTE’S
volunteers they respeetfully requested Mr. MACKENZIE %o take
no further steps re:pecting them till they had consulted MosurTTE,
whom they described as their Chief. Aeccording to Mr. Mac-
 KENZIE’S report to Sir H. Roninsox, dated May 30th, 1884, the
bearer of the request from the volunteers * expluined thata
considerable mamber of volunteers were anxious to come under
the Colonial Government or under the British Government
but that they wished first to-econsult MosaeTTE (¢). Ishowed him
MosuerTe’s first letter to me, which showed thathe was anxious
on his ownaceount to be under the Queen. After soeing That
Jetter he expressed his intention of agitating for the signing of
a memorial by the volunteers, concerning which 1 felt all I
couldl say was that it would receive due consideration.” No
better opportunity for ‘an amicable settlement could have been
offered. If a similar opportunity had been offered to Mr.
Ruopes he would have made a peaceful arrangement within 2
few hours. Mr. MACKENZIE, unfortunately, failed to grasp the
situaticn. Tf he'had then reilized us his supporters now dthat the
white people ctonsidered—rightly or wrongly—that the treaty ot
October, 1882, was binding, mnd if, encouraged by the information
~—which now ieproved to'have been correct—that * a considerable
number of volunteers ” ‘were anxious for British rule, he had
boldly gone amongst the people, smarting as they were under
the outrage of May 12th, although ‘their ruined dwellings
might according to Mr. MACKENZIE “come under the desig-
nation of huts rather ‘than houses,” if he had discussed ‘the
sitnatior with them, acquired information as to those entitled to
land under the treaty of 1832 and as to those who subsequently
purchased, satisfied himself as to the validity or invali'ity of ‘that
treaty, and spoken firmly but kindly to persons of whom he
would have found many worthy of sympathy, the question woull
have been then and there settled for ‘ever with honour to the

(a) Bluesbook [C. 4194], page 39.
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British Crown, Instead of so doing Mr. MacKENZIE—who
seems to have eudldenly changed his mind and decided to set the
Roode Grond people at defianee and to ignore their claims under
the treaty in question—appeinted Mr. WrienT, a clerk to a Law
Agent at Zeerust, to be Assistaut Deputy Commissioner, and
hurriedly left on May 31st, 1884, for the purpese of acquiring
paper cessions from Native Chiefs in Western Bechuanalasd, on
his way to his former station at Kuruman, The lost opportunity
will cost the Dritish taxpayer dearly. The result of leaving the
point of danger at the most critical moment would have been
apparent to any ome except, perhaps, a worthy gentleman
unaccu-tomed to the ways of the world who had recently taken
to politics like Mr. MackENzIE. What was the consequence ?
The volunteers, looking with suspicion upon Mr. MACKENZIE,
who failed even to rebuke the raiders upon Roode Grond on May
12th, eontivued to assert the claims which they insisted they had
to the land ceded by the treaty of October, 1882. On June 10th,
1884, Mr. WricHT wrote to Mr. MackENZIE—then oa his
useful journey — as follows: — “ Gey is calling his men
togethar and intends veaping all the lands on the south
of the river which he says were ceded to him by the Peace
Convention of Oectober, 1882, They begin their svork
to-morrow. They have very kindly sent a wverbal message
to the efiect that anyone having a garden in the tract of country
spoken of will be allowed to reap it provided he acknowledges
that he has sown on the grcurd of whoever may have the title
deeds of the farm on which the garden is situated, and pay a
reasonable rent for the same.” The Anti-Boer and partisan
character of all Mr. Wrigur’s coivespondence shows how
unfitted he was for a delicate post requiring great impartiality
and patience. If the highly eoloured reports of the ocourrences
about this time are earcfully exawined, the true position will be
found to have been as follows :—The inhabitants of Roode Groni
claimed portion of MoNTs104’8 conniry by a treaty ~vhich they
believed to be walid. MoxTs10A’s people aggr ssively attacked
the claimants on May 12th, burning their houses and destroying
+their property, and the Roode Grond people thereupon retaliated,
and hawing in turn attacked their assailants, made captures of
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cattle. Subsequently the white men, in the assertion of their
title to land which they claimed to be theirs as of right,
proceeded to reap the crops growing thereon, the natives
resisted, and several slight engagements were fought in
which the Roode Gtond people lost several men. In all
these engagements some white men fought on the native
side, and at one at least the following were present : —Mesars.
Brraerrn, WaLker, Wricar, RowrLanxps, NICHOLSON
and FRANKLIN. The presence in the field of Mr. WriGHT,
who was then filling the office of Deputy Assistant Com- ;q
missioner, secms unaccountable, especially as he appears ‘
to bave done nothing to keep the natives back. Evi-
dence of this is furnished by a passage in a letter from
one of the whites who fought on MuNTsioa’s side to Mr.
MACKENZIE, from which the following is an extract:—* Had
he (WriecHT) attempted to keep the people away from the
gardeuns or persuade them not to defend their lands, that attempt
would certainly have been iveffectual.” It has been shown again
and again that the validity of the treaty of October, 1882, has ut)
all times been the question at issue and that concession on that

regarding that treaty every fight and every capture of cattle arose,
As appears from Mr. WrigHT'S letter to Mr, MACKENZIE,
dated June 14th, 1881, on his having an interview w ith Mr. GEY
regarding the action of the Roode Grond people in claiming the
crops growing on the disputed ground, everything turned on the
treaty, Gy saying ©“ We hold by the trea'y of prace ceding to
us the country,” while WricHT urged “that the treaty was a
conditional one, and that as the condition that the Transvaal
Government should exerc'se jurisdiction over the country had
not been carried out the treaty had lapsed. )t would have been
much more judicious on Mr. WriaHT’s part to have brought
the question of the treaty prominently before Her Majesty’s
Imperial Government for decision at that time, and to have used
bis best efforts to restrain the natives from fighting pending a
decision as to the treaty, instead of going into action with one of
the combatant parties. The conduct of the Roode Gro:::)
burghers in asserting their claim to the disputed land, by reapi
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the crops under protection of an armed force, may be thought to
have been reprehensible, but it must be remembered that the
only law in existence in the Barolong country at that time was
the law of force. There was nothing to be gained by appealing
to the Deputy Commissioner, who had not a single policeman at
his back and who was unable or unwilling, as already stated,
to keep the natives in check. For these reasons blam

must not too readily be cast upon the Roode Grond people for
endeavouring to protect what they believed to have been their
rights. Desultory warfare continued until a signal defeat of
MonTs104’s people occurred on July 31st, 1884 (a). According
to Mr. MACKENzIE'S telegraphic report to Sir H. RoBINSON,
received on August 6th, 1884, the Roode Grond peo: le captured
a large quantity of cattle in the Bangwaketse (GASSITSIWE’S)
country, and ¢ on the 31st this force or part of it came past the
statior with the cattle ; the intenticn was evidently to draw the
people out, and it was successful. The portion with the cattle
was driven back after a desperate fight, but the remainder,
which was in regerve, and the 80 men from Rooi Grond, turned
the Barolong’s flank with the result that MoNTs1oa has lost
about 100 men, including BETHELL and WALKER. The Boer
loss was heavy, over 30.” This was the death blow to MoNTs104"s
hopes. He had lost his bravest officer and most steadfast friesd,
Mr. BeraeLL, and Maffeking was closely invested by his
enemies. An incorrect statement has been made in the House
of Commons relative to the position occupied by Mr. BETHELL
at the time of his death., It was said that he was a Britsh
police officer, leading a native police force. Mr. MACKENZIE,
who—it is supposed with the view of setting a thief to catch a
thief—had previously appointe! a notorious leader of ca'tle
thieves to be an officer of British police, wished to give M.
Beruenn the appointment of a police officer, but Sir H.
RoBinsoN wisely objected. It would scarcely have been judicious
to appoint MonTsroa’s fighting Commandant to be a police
officer, and, accordingly, Sir H. RoBinsoN telegiaphed to Mr.
MAckENzIE on July 30th, 1884 (3), “As to BETHELL'S

(a) Blue-book [C. 4218], page 34,
(%) Blue-book [C. 4213], page 12,
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appointment, the more T think of it, the more illjudeed does it
appear to me to be at present. T have told Major Tows I
cannot approve of it ; atall events until T have conferred with
you personally on the subject” "When Mr. BETHELL was shot
he was serving wifh Moxrsroa’s fighting commando, and he
was never in command of any police force. The shooting
of Mr. BeiuerL as he lay wounded was a deplorable
occurrence. The Roode Grond burghers openly denounce the act
and every one in South Afrien regrets it. His corpse was mot
treated with indigaity as has ‘teen alleged. The delay in the
burial of the boly arose from a mistake made as to the terms of
an exchange of bodies between the combatan's, and, finally, the
remains were enclosed in a coffin and decently interred. The
capture of Mr. Wrrcur by artifice and his subsequent imprison-
ment cannot be defended, but the wholesale charges of catfle-
stealing and garden-robbing made against the Roode Grond
people are based on no hing wore than the capture of eattle in
what was taken on beth sides to be war, and the assertion
of right to the gardens under the treaty of October, 1482, by
reapiny the crops standing thereon. Asadmitred by Mr. WrienT
-~notice was given before reaping the crops that any native who
‘had planted in the garden ground wight reap his crop previded
he acknowledged the title of the person to whom the farm upon
which the garden ground stood had been allotted under the
trcaty. Other gross charges of deliberate murder and outrage
will be found to have their origin mostly in hearsay and to be
generally incapable of proo’. The investment of Maffeking was
continued, and hostilifies were still proceeding when M.
Ruoves, who succeeded Mr. MackeNzie as Deputy
Commissioner on August 25th, 1884, visited Lanod Goshen,
He was accompanied by Mr. JouBerT, who had been appointed
by the Transvaal Governmeot to act in concert with Mr.
Ruopes and to endeavour to effuct a peaceful settlement. "Mr.
Ruoprs’s demands appear to have required entire withrawal from
the Barolong country including the portion alleged to have been
ceded to the volunteers under the treaty of Qctober, 1882, which
was alone sufficient to ensure theit xejection. The demands of the
burghers with regard to MONTSI0A were eqnally objectionable to
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‘Mr. Ruopes, and arequest of the Deputy Conmnissioner that an

armistice should be granted for 14 days having been refused, bhe

left after giving warning that hostilities were being carried on
sgain-t a protected subject of the Queen, It may beurgued that
1he Roode Grond people were tosome extent justified in declining

to grant a prolonged armistice which might have euabled

Mox 18104 again to defy them, especially as there was no lww
established in the country, 4k no police available, and no
protection te any one except that given by the rifle; butnothing
can be sufficient excuse for the refusal to recognize Mr. RmHopES
o8 Her Majesty’s Deputy Commissioner, #sd for the style of
correspondence indulged in. There is good reason, however, to
believe that the hostility shown to Mr. Rimopus was confined to
a few persons, and that, if Mr. Rmopes hid been able to secure
a meeting with the gereral body «f ‘the inhabitants, he would
have met with an excellent reception. After Mr. Ruoprss
departure, MoNTs10A being no longer able to hold out sued for
peace and askcd Mr. JouBERT to intervene as mediatar. The
result was that an agreement of peace was entered imto on
August 30th, 1884, between MosuETTE, as Barolong Chief, and
the Government ol Land Goshen, as representing the white
population thereof, of the one part, and MoNT8104 of the eother
part, whereby MonNTs10A was deprived of all his country except
the town of Maffeking and ten farms of 6,000 acres each. The
Transvaal Government subsequently isswed a Proclamation
annexing the country conditionally to the Republic. but
upon disallowance by Her Majesty’s Imperial Government that
Proclamation was at once withdrawn, The Transvaal
Government was undoubtedly wrong in issuing a Proclamation
smmexing even conditionally a country under British protection,
and, therefore, the Cape Ministry—when asked for their |
views—expressed to THer Mnajesty’s Tmperial Govern-
ment in their Minute of September 23rd, 1884, ‘the
opinion that in view of German anvexation and other encroach-
ments calculated to shut in the Colony, decisive measures should
be taken for the maintenance of British authority in South
Africa, and that the Conventicn of London should be maintained,
The prempt and frank withdrawal by the Transvaal Government -
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of the objectionable Proclamation left the Convention of London
intact and vindicated the authority of the British Crown, and,
thereﬁ;b, the Cape Ministry reverted to the position which they
occupied before the integiity of the Convention was threatened.
Their policy had consistently been to emdeavour to annex the
country included within the Protectorate to the Cape Colony,
and thereby while securing Colonial trade interests to relieve
the British taxpayer of a grievous burden. To secure annex-
ation much care was requisite. Many, if vot a majority, of the

" inhabitants of the Protectorate would have preferred that the

country should be annexed to the Transvaal, and the circum-
stances of the country proposed to be annexed were such as to
necessitate a considerable expenditure by the Colony in excess
of the total revenue for years to come, which of course would
render annexation unpopular with many of the members of the
Colonial Legislature. As, however, the Cape Colony had some
interest in keeping the trade route to the interior open, as a great
majority of the mhabitants of Stellaland had shown a desire
to be anrexed to the Colony in preference to being subject
to the dircet control of Her Majesty’s Imperial Govern-
ment, and as the (olonial Government deewed it to be their

_duty to assist cordially in relieving Her Majesty’s Impe ial

Government as soon as possible of responsibilities undertaken
partly in Colonial interests, annexation not only of Bechuazaland
but of the country westward was made a question of Ministerisl
policy. The means by which annexation was to be effected
might under the circumstances have bcen safely left to the
discretion of the Colonizl Government as representing the
Colonial taxpayer, who was about to take upon himself the
burthen of annexation. To the Cape Ministry it appeared that
the best way to secure annexation would be to effect a peaceful
settlement of the difficulties in Stellaland and in the Barolong
country. An Impeiial officer of great julgment like Mr.
RuopEs appears to have taken the same view, and instead of
giving way to the somewhat prevalent war fever he met the
difficulty in Stellaland like a wise statesman by conciliation. In
the Barolong country there was ample land fur all purposes.
To restore a tribe of no great force of character and possessing
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little energy to a large country which they never fully occupied,
and never properly worked, as Mr, MACKENZIE seems to have
been directed to do by bis Letter of Instructions, would have met
with no favour in any quarter. 1If, on the other hand, it had
been thought sufficient to provide for the wants of the natives
generally, there would have remained a large tract for the
occupation of white persons, whose settlement would be of value
10 the Colony generally by developing its resources and opening
up trade, while the settlers would contribute something to the
expenses of government. To give up the bulk of the country
to natives who did not require it would be unfaic to the Colony.
If that were done the natives would get the benefit of an expen-
sive form of government, of police protection, of educational
grants and other advantages, without giving any adequate
return by way of revenue or development. As the land would
by annexation become the property of the Queen in Her Colonial
Government, and as the cost of government would for the future
be defrayed by the Colony, it was agsuredly not unfair to request
that the Colonial Ministry should be allowed before annexation
to effect a peaceful settlement of the land question in a manner
just to the Colony as well as to the natives. Their intention
was to provide for the natives land far in excess of their require-
ments, to respect the rights, if any, of white men who had settled
in the country, and to dispose of the residue according to law or as
Parliament might decide. Accordingly the Colonial Government
requested the permission of Her Majesty’s Imperial Govern-
ment to some of their number proceeding to the Protectorate
with a view to endeavouring to make a peaceful arrangement.
They urged strongly the risk of danger to the peace of South
Africa by the prosecution of warlike operati ns for the purpose
of driving out a few white settlers—who claimed a right to the
land occupied by them—and restoring at that late period MoNT-
s10A’s people to land not only of much greater extent than that
required by them but which there was ground for thinking the
tribe had lost in warfare. They pointed out the great expendi-
ture likely to be incurred in military operations which were really
unnecessary. They warned Her Majesty’s Imperial Government
that the clearing of all white men indiscriminately out of I.and
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Goshen would necessitate the retention in the country of a laxg

armed force, and that the fear of complications and of incurring
military expenditure greater than the resources of the Colony
could bear would render doubtful the passage through Parliament
of any propesal to annex the territory. His Excellency ir
H. Rominsonx thought differently, and expressed his. views
strongly. In his telegraphic despatch to Lord Derny, d.ted
Qctober 17th, 1884, His Excellency fell into an. error in
thivking “a change seems to have come over Ministers in
the last week.” The position of Ministers a!l through was
quite consistent. The “ reeent encroachments ” referred t) in their
Minute of September 23rd, 1884, were not the occupation of
farms by MosHETTE'S volunteers in Liand Goshen: a question
described by Mr. REODES at an interview with Mr. JouBERT
as “ a small matter” (a). The encroachments referred to were
such as German annexation and the proposed annexation of Land
Goshen by the Transvaal Goverament under its proclamation.
The Cape Ministry expressed the opin‘on that in view of
teriitorial encroachments by other Powers British authority
should be asserted and the Convention of London maintained,
but they never hinted that the maintenance of British authority
in South Afriea required the presence of a large armed foree at
the expense of the Imperial Exchequer to drive out a few
mercenaries who had settled in Land Goshen en the strength of
a treaty of peace, and a few other persons—excellent settlers—
who had expended their all in the Jona fide purchase of land
acquired under that treaty. But it was impossible to resist a
determination which began to show itself in many quarters to
awaken ¢ the sleeping sword of war” in South Africa. A
mischievous and unfounded suggestion was industriously propa-
gated by Interested politiciavs to the effect that the Dutch
populahon of South Africa were disloyal. Meetings were held
at which “Rule Britannir” was sung with- great fervour,
especially by gentlemen whose names will be found to be rot
unconnected with the receipt of some of the vast expenditure o
war now rapidly going on. Amid loud protestauons of loyalty to

() Blue-book [C. 4'2133, page 114,
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the Queen—for whic' there was no necessity in a Colony where
English and Dateh are devoted to their Sovereign—the warning
voiceof Her Majesty’s Ministersin the Cape Colony wasnotheeded.
Jhe advice of the Responsible Ministry of the Cape Colony, who
represent. the views of the majority of the constitue cies of the
Colony and who are respomsible for the well-beirg of Her
Majesty’s faithful subjects in that portion of her dominions, was
disregarded by Her M ajesty’s Imperial Government in favour of
the platform statements of Opposition orators. The view taken
by the Colonial Ministry wil be seen by reference to their
Minute to His Excellency Sir H. Romixson, dated October
13th, 1884, whorein they state that the Convention of London
having been upheld the situation was restored to the condition in
which it existed on July 26th, when they laid before Her Majesty’s
Imperial Government the conditions upon which they were willing
to propose to Parliament to annex the Protectorate. They add. d
that ““in the interests of the Enpire as well as of the Cependency
Ministers are of opinion that questions intimately affecting the
future welfare of Her Majesty’s subjects residing in the Culony
can be best settled by the Ministry and Parlisment of the Colony.
In accordance with: this opinion, and with an earne:t desire to
avert bloodshed and aveid the creation of race bitterness and
national jealousies, Ministers desire that he assent of Her
Majesty’s Government should be obtaived to such members of
the Colonial Ministry as may be determined upon proceeling to
the protected territory for the purpose of communicating with its
mhabitants and endeavouring to restore order and effect a peace-
ful settlement without the intervention of any armed force.
Ministers submit this proposal in the firm belief that their -
advances will be met in a friendly sp'rit not only by the inha-
bitants of the Protectorate but by the people of the neighbouring
States, and they detm it their duty to leave no effort untried
having for its object the prevention of a collision between sections
of the Kuropean race in South Africa.” The intention of the Cape
Grovernment was thereby elearly disclosed.  Their intention was
to meet the Roode Girend people in a conciliatory manner, to
endeavour to arrive at a similar settlement to that arrived at in
sStellaland under similar civcumstances by Her Majesty's
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Imperial Representative, and then to save the Imperial
Exchequer the expenditure of even one farthing by relieving
t hem of the burthen of the Protectorate for ever. Strangely
enou gh, an offer so favourable to the interests of the British
public was received at first rather cold'y. The view taken ly
the Imperial Government seems to have been that there was no
middle course between forcible expulsion of all white men in
Barolong territory and abandonment ¢f the Protectorate, while
the Cape Ministry—looking to the probabilities of annexation
and the titles claimed by white settlers in the country—thought
it would be wiser to give ample land to the natives, to avoid
ill-fecling and complications amongst the whites by recogni’ing
rights to land which certainly had some foundation, to compel
all other settlers to leave, and then to annex the territory.

The divergence in views was stated to be as follows by the
Cape Ministry in a Minute to His Excellency the Governor on
October 17th, 1884 :—< His Excellency is of opinion tRhat there
can be no satisfactory settlement arrived at without resort to
arms, while Ministers are of opinion that British authority can
be upheld and Colonial rights secured by permitting them to
take the course they have proposed towards a peaceful solution
of this difficult question.” It will be for the public to judge
whether the subsequent correspondence between His Excellency
the Governor as representative of Her Majesty's Imperial
Government and the Cape Miunistry showed any desire to be
guided by the Responsible Advisers of the Crown in the Cape
Colony, or any wish to promote harmony of action. Lord
DerBY certainly stated that Her Majesty’s Government
attached much importance to working in harmony with the
Colonial Government, but the warnings of the latter continued
to be unheeded. Finally, on October 31st, 1884, Her Majesty’s
Imperial Government while expressing their pleasure at
the intervention of the Colonial Government decided—
against the advice of the Colonial Government—that military
preparations were to be proceeded with although active opera-
tions were not to be commenced whilst Ministers were endeavour-
ing to effect a peaceful settlement. The decision so arrived at
meant nothing more and nothing less than an expensive military
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expedition to Bechuanaland under any circumstances. Receipt -
of the news that Major-Gieneral Sir CrmArLES WArREN had lefi
England with a large Military Staff was quite enough to caus:
noisy opposition from speculators to any settlement effected by -
the Cape Ministry, to induce the false cry to be raised ¢ Let
us not have another RoBeRrTS fiasco,” and to destroy the chances
of peaceful annexation. The Cape Ministry were placed by the
action of the Home Government in a difficult position, but so
anxious were they to secure annexation as the only true mode of
settlement that they determined to proceed to Bechuana'and in
the hope of effecting a settlement. They wished to have their
hands free, but conditions were imposed upon them which may
be gathered from Lord DErBY's telegraphic despatc's received on
October 23rd. “ Her Majesty’s Goverament approve of their
( Ministers) making an attempt if they will be prepired on their
scttlement being approved to azcept responsibility of control over
MANKOROANE and MONTS10A’S country. Any agreement they
make of course must be subject to approval of Her Mj s'y's
Government, and it will be cssential that all whitc men leave
MoxnTsioa’s location except such as Her Majesty’s Government
on recommend «(i n of High Commis-ioner may specially grant
permission to remain, and that ample lan1 shall be secur.d to-
MoxTsioa’s people. Before any farms muy be granted to white -
men, if any land is so granted, fair rent to b paid to MoNTs104.”"
In reply the Cape Ministers stated: As set forth in Sir H.
RosinsoN’s telegram to Lord DERBY of October 24th, 1884, that
they were pzepared  to proceed to Protectorate a1d endeavour to
make best arrangements possib'e, consistent with just recognition
of the rights and claims of all parties, the terms to be subje.t to
approval of Her Majesty’s Government after consideration of
their report, Ministers ald that Parliament has rot aathorized
them to aczept respousibility for control of cou-try, consequ ntly,
they are not in a position to accept conditions laid down ia
message, but they think that if their mission be successful they will
be able to submit proposals for government of counlry pending
anncxation which will be satisfactory to Her Majesty’s Government,”’
On October 30th, 1884, Lord DErBY finally stated that he was
glad Ministers should intervene, and added, “ Your definition of
B
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Moxrsroa’s location seems to be sufficient.  Such grazing lands
as well as garden lands as may be required for tribe should be
secured to them at meeting of Parliament, Need not be
fized just now.” The definition of MoxNTsroa’s location
given by Sir H. RoBINSON was ¢ the garden ground and grazing

ards of which the Chief and his tribe were in the undisturbed

posseéssion in May last, when they were formally taken under
British protection.” Hvents have shown that it would have been
more satisfactory if Her Majesty’s Imperial Government had
candidly said thut they distrusted the Cape Ministry, and that
althcugh they permitted Cape Ministers to proceed to Bechuana-
land they had no intention of acceding -to any settlement arrived
at. Under these depressing circumstances the Premier and
Treasurer of the Colony undertook their thankless mission.

V.

Tue affairs of Stellaland are closely connected with those of
Land Goshen, and there is throughout ccmplete similarity in the
circumstances. War between Massouw and MANKOROANE
originated with the latter, who according to the statement of
Captain NoURSE in his telegram to Sir H. Rosixsow, dated
Febiuary 9th, 1882 (&), “is entirely to blame for its commence-
ment, Massouw is aeting in exactly the same way as
MosHETTE, and derives gre’t assistance from the Transvaal
State. Both Chiefs are actively employing white men to fight
for thern. MASSOUW is raising 300 Boers to receive half booty
and a farm each in MANKOROANE’S territory should they drive
him off it.” Massouw placed the true state of the case before
Captain NoURSE when he said (?) ““I wish to explain to you
that MANKOROANE had a large number of white men (BEnglish-
men) fighting for him. These men are volunteers from the
Diamo: d Fields, . . . Talso hear that MANKOROANE has

(a) Blue-book [C. 3381], page 34.
(%) Blue-book [C, 33817, page 49,
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sent to'the Fields to raise more men ; so T have also given orders
to raige volunteers, Boers.,” Massouw further stated that war
had been made upon him “ beeause I assisted MosmerTE with
men to fight against MoNTs104.” MANKOROANE took up the
game position as MoNTs1oA did, that is to say, that he was
English and Anti-Boer, and that the Transvaal was at the
bottom of the disturbances. “ During the war between the
English and Boers,” said MANKOROANE (&) to Captain > OURSE,
on February 4th, 1882, “Davip Massouw and Roomonm,
although my subjects, sided against me and wished to assist the
Boers. . . . . . . I have always been a faithful ani
humble ally of the British Government not only in words but in
acts. The petty Chiefs now in rebellion, viz.,, Rocmoem, Davip
Massouw, MoksAL AnADE and MOSEETTE, are against me, they
are also being excited and put up to fighting against me by the
Boers whose object is to get my country, being dissatisfied with
the terms of the Convention.” On March 20vh, 1882,
MaxkoroANE complained to Major Lowe (4) that « the Boers
are helping their friends, and I am the friend of the English, but
have no help from my friends.,” Just as in MoNTSI0A’S case,
MANKOROANE continued to implore the British Government to
gave him, but in vain. Striet neutrality should be preserved.
Complaints were made in the same manner as by MoNTs10A that
the Transvaal Government did nothing to check their subjects
from crossing the border. According to Mr. HUDSON’S state-
ment to Sir H. ROBINSON in a telegram received on June 2nd,
1882, “ No really efficient action is taken by field-cornets to
prevent Boers passing and re-pasging.” The policy of looking to
the Transvaal Government to do everything was of little utility.
Indeed, it was hardly fair to expectfa long boundary ling such
as that running from Ramatlabama southward could be so
carefully watched as to prevent small parties of men from crossing
and re-crossing. On June 9th Barexi, Chief of the Batlaros,
whose country lay to the westward of MANKOROANE’S, craved
the aid of the British Government, but Sir H. RoBinson, whose
hands were of course tied, was unable to accede to the request or
(@) Blue-book [C. 3381], page 50.

(%) Blue-book [C, 8881], page 85,
"E2
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to do more than inform the applicant that he did not
understand him to imply that he based “his request for
intervention on anything but the friendly sentiments
which Her Majesty’s Government has always entertained
towards you.” The result of Mankoroane's ill-advised
hostilities might have easily been foretold. Through the aid of
white volunteers that Chief was—like MoxTsioa—crashed to
the ground. On July 261h, 1882, a treaty of peace was eotered
icto when MANKOROANE—like MoNTS10A under similar cir-
cumstances—Ilost the greater portion of the country over which
he c'aimed chieftainship, including his valuable * ploughing lands
between De Gaap and the Moroquane Range running in a direct
line from Taungs to the latter range about thirty-five miles and
extending westward into Stellaland about twenty-five miles” (a).
The terms of peace are referred to in Sir H. RoBINsON's
telegraphic despatch to Lord KiMBERLEY, dated August 6th,
1682 (), as follows :—<¢ Chiefs to be independent ; a Commission
to define boundaries between them and to assign farms of 4,000
acres o each of Massouw’s freebooting volunteers, presumably
from MANKOROANE'S country ; any differences between Com-
missioners as to boundaries or later between Chiefs and their
subjects to be settled by Government of South African Republie,
whose decision is to be final. Both sides agree never to call in
protection of any Government but that of South African Republic,
_under whose protection they state they will be safe and unmolested,
and request that no other Government will interfere. These terms
are substantially those proposed by KrRUGER to HUDSON, and
have obviously been dictated by the freebcoters. MANKOROANE
has reluctantly sccepted them being compelled he says by dire
necessity to do so,” MoNTS10A reluctantly signed a treaty
under the compulsion of dire necessity, its terms ave said
to have been dictated by ¢ freebooters,” the protection of the
South African Republic was invoked, and farms were
assigned to the volunteers who aided his foe. If the circum-
stances under which the latter treaty was obtained wcre
such as now to justify its being ignored, why not ignore Mani

(a) Notes of interview with MANKOROANE, Appendix A,
(%) Blue-book [C, 3419], page 24,
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KOROANE's treaty 7 Mr. MACKENzIE takes up a logical
position when he says “ Begin de novo,” but, however logical,
it is not a safe position, and few will agreec with him es-
pecially in view of his own action in Stellaland. Many
contend, equally logically, that both treaties should be respected.
Her Majesty’s Imperial Government have wisely decided to
.ecognize MANKOROANE’S treaty and all rights to land—about
400 or 500 farms—acquired by white volunteers or freebnoters
under it, and, if they had gone one step further and recognized
the rights of MosHETTE'S volunteers under the treaty of
Qctober, 1882, amounting only to about 140 farms, the DBritish
taxpayer would not have been called upon to pay one shilling
for a Bechuanaland expedition, he would not incur the risk of
having that remote country thrown on his hands for the future,
and the Cape Colony would not have its position endangered
by revulsion of feeling in England. In December, 1882, the
boundary line between MaAssouw and MANKOROANE provided
for by the treaty was bea~oned off, and the Chairman of the line
ingpectors gave notice of the position of the beacons to MAN-
KOROANE, who was not present. On January 16th, 1883,
Massouw issued a Proclamation declaring the line fixed by the
inspectors to be the boundary line for the future, and on January
18th, 1883, the Chairman of the Bestuur or Provisional Com-
mittee of Management nominated by the volunteers was ap-
pointed to be Administrator of the territory with power to issue
the requisite land titles, to govern the country by civilized laws,
( and to proclaim it under the title of Stellaland (a). The
farms were disposed of by lottery on February 27th, 1883.
As occurred in MONTSIOA’S case, MANKOROANE soon grew
dissatisfied, and in the same way tried to repudiate his treaty.
Inhis petition to Sir H, Roinson (b) dated February 3rd, 1883, he
complained ““that the men calling themselves ¢MAsSOUW’S
volunteers’ have appropriated nearly the whole of my territory
and have beaconed off a boundary line, surveyed a township called
Vryburg, and are now beacoaing off the country into farms ; they
have established a Government called ¢ Stellaland State,’ and are

(@) Treaty, &c. Appendix
(%) Blue-book [C. 3686], page 16,
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levying taxes upon traders ard others. . « + The country
remaining to me, as beaconed off by them, is much too small
for my people and I shall be compelled under these circum-
stances to fight again unless I obtain some assistance from
Her Majesty’s Government, which I humbly crave.” He
further described the new Stellaland Government as ““com-
posed of freebooters who have stolen my country. On February
15th, 1884, Sir H. RoBINSON made a request to the SCANLEN
Ministry for the loan of some of the border police *for
the purpose of maintaining order in Bechuanaland,” to which M+
MEeRrRrIMAN replied ““ that the foree under Major LowE is so
small, and so occupied in police duties that they are unable to
comply with the request for its employment over the border in
measures which, if undertaken by Colonial forces in the present
state of information, would be entirely misunderstood and might
cause prejudicial complications,” On February 22nd, 1883, the
Secretary of State for the Colonies suddenly woke up to the
necessity of doing something. A Minute to Ministers dated
February 22nd, 1883, transmitted a copy of a telegram from the
Colonial Office inquiring whether the Colonial Governient
“will give all facilities if Her Majesty’s Government organize a
police force against British subjeets and deserters in thy
Bechuana country.” This was a case with a vengeince of attempt-
ing to “lock the stable doer after the steed had been stolen.”
The absurdity of organizing a police force after MANKOROANE
had been deprived of the bulk of his country would have beeun
apparent to anyore exeept a political Rip vaAN WiNkLE during
whose sleep Stellaland had been established The ScANLEN
Ministry of course agreed to grant facilities, but they properly
peinted out that the eourse proposed would be practicaily value-
less ““unless Her Majesty’s Government is prepared to assume
the responsibility of maintaining a Proteetorate in Bechuanaland.”
The next plan which suggested itself to- Her Majesty’s Govern-
ment was that a'ready mentioned of making “moderate allow-
ances ” to MonTS104 and MANKOROANE when they should be
“driven out of their country” (a). On March 30th, 1883, MAN-

(4) Blue-book: |C, 8686], page:5%




KOROANE again applied to Sir H. RoBINSON fur assistance, saying .
¢ Should your Excellency grant me 2,000 Martini-Henrys,
with the ammunition thereof, I would be in a position to protect
my people and country, and I would most willingly either return
them to the Government, afier ejecting the freebooters, paying
for the ammunition which may have been expended, or els: buy
both the guns and the ammunition from the Government” The
Chief appears still to have looked upon his treaty with Massovw
as a dead letter, for when Colonel FERREIRA—who was
employed by the Transvaal Government to arrest any Transvaal
burghers causing disturbances on the border—inform-d Max-
KOROANE that there was some difficulty in acceding to & roquest
of his as Mr. VAN NiEkErK objected, MANKOROANE coolly
said “Mr. NIEKERK is the Administrator of that portion of
my country which Davip Massouw’s volunteers have pro-
claimed Stellaland State, and a Transvaal burgher; therefre
one of those who should have heen arrested as a disturber of t'e
peace in my country.” Finally in his despatch to Lord DErpy
(a) dated May 26th, 1883, Sir. H. RosinsoN laid down four
courses open to Her Majesty’s Government with regard to
Bechuanaland. The first was ¢ To cl:ar the freebooters out of
the territories belonging to MANKOROANE and Massouw by
force,” but as His Excellency added “ Her Majesty’s
Government have, however, already decided against
this course.” Surely, after so positive an abandonment of
any intention to upset the titles of the volunteers of
MosuerTE and Massouw it would be wunjust afte: the
lapse of more than a year and a half to disregard claims
under the vespective treaties, especially in cases where
bond fide purchases of rights have been made. As soon as it
became known that a Conference was to be held in Liosndon to
discuss the proposed revision of the Convention of Pretoria,
MANKOROANE telegraphed in October, 1883, to the Acting
Governor, Lieut.-General the Honourable LeicesTER SmyTH,
asking first to be allowed to attend the Conference, and after-
wards, © that Her Majesty’s Government would permit the Rev.

(). Blue-book [C.,3686], page 70,
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Mr. MACKENZIE to represent his interest.” Lord Derpy
answered as follows on October  26th, 1883: — ¢ Inform
MANKOROANE I readily consent to hear MACKENZIE on any
point affecting his interests, but MANKOROANE cannot be
formally admitted to or represented at any Conference here.”
Whether Mr. MACKENZIE’S subsequent appointment as Deputy
Commissioner in Bechuanaland —after his identifying himself as
a partisan of one of the most important p.rties—was judicious
may be open to doubt. But Mr. MACKENZIE was appointed.
The announcement of his appointment was not received with
satisfaction in the Cape Colony. It was thought by many
persons having a thorough knowledge of South African affaiis
ard of the character of the people to be an ill-judged appoint-
ment and the harbinger of trouble. Against Mr. MACKENZIE
personally not a word could or can be said. He wss and is a
man of great earnestness and great honesty, but it is doubtful
- whether gentlemen whose lives have previously been devoted
to missionary labour are best calculated to deal with political
ecmplications, especially if those complications arise out of affairs
ccnnce'ed with the people amongst whom they have laboured
as missonaries and of whom they are the advocates. The Cape
Argus—which, if not the official organ of the SCANLEN Ministry
then in office, strenuously supported them—-censured the appoint-
menton February 25th, 1884, in the following language : —““When
“in fir BARTLE FRERE’S days there were missionaries who made
themselves the keenest of partisans on his side we protested in no
measured terms. . . . The Boers and their sympathisers can
scarcelybe blamed if they regard Mr. MACKENZIE as a self-seeking
schemer who went to England and stirred up political agitation to
be crowned by the bestowal of an important political appoint-
ment upon himself.”  Het Volksblad, a thorough-going supporter
of the SCANLEN Ministry, expres:ed the following opinion :—
“Tt is d flicult to imagine what dip'omatic design Lord DErBY
ean have had in making such an appointment, except that of
riding rough-sh od over public opinion here. That he can have
consulted the authorities in this country is impossible ; indeed
we have good reason to believe that everything was done by them
to avert the mistake which had been made. It is, however, the
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old story: those on the spot who are most interested and most
capable of judging are passed by and discredited. Moreover
even if Mr. MACKENzIE was not known to have pre-
judged the case as he has done, the simple fact that he is
a missionary would surely be enough to disqualify him for
the political office to which he has been appointed.” Subsequent
events brought about no change iu public opinion. During the
debate on the resolutions relating to Bechuanaland in the House
of Assembly in July, 1884, both sides agreed in condemnation
of Mr. MACKENZIE’S appointment. From the Opposition side
Mr. MerrRIMAN, Commissioner of Crown Lands and Public
Works in the ScANLEN Ministry, stated that * the idea that black
and white men could live together in that territory was killed
the moment Mr. MACKENZIE was appointed therve,” and Mr.
LEONARD, Attorney-General in the SCANLEN Ministry, pointed
out that whatever disturlances there were in Bechuanaland
“ were in consequence of dissatisfaction on the part of the white
people with the rule of Mr. MAckENzIE. From the Minis-
terial side the Premier (Mr. UriNeTOoN) said “that the
weight cf evidence went to show that the position of Mr.
MackENZzIE in Bechuanaland was not a satisfactory one; and
it would be to the advantage and peace of South Africa if
arrangements could be made for a Colonial officer to be placed
in that territory pending the annexation of it to the Cape.”
During the early months of 1884 the state of MANKOROANE'S
country was very bad. The Batlapings were continually stealing
from the people of Stellaland and from Massouw and other
natives, aud they claimed crops which they had sown within
Stellaland, but — exactly as in Land Goshen — the Stella-
land people refused to let them reap the crops. Mas-
SoUW became o irritated at the stealing from his people
that he sent out a commando on the 13th March to attack
MANKOROANE, but through the interference of Mr. Vax
Ni1ekERK, Administrator of Stellaland, a conflict was avoided.
For this cervice Mr. VAN NIEkerk was thanked by Lord
Derpy. Captain BowEkr, R.N., the Imperial Secretary, was
about this time sent on a mission of inquiry into Bechuanaland,
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and in his telegram to the High Commissioner (a) dated Mareh
14th, 1884, se far from denouncing the “freebooters” as murderers
and land thieves he stated that “in Stellaland the Europeans are
quiet and orderly, awaiting events. I have everywhere been treated
with the greatest respect and confidence.” Telegraphing on
March 24th, 1884, Captain Bower said that Mr. NIEKERK
deserved ¢ great credit for the loyal way in which he has
maintained his engagement. despite the very great provocation he
has received.” To show how dangevous it is to give credence tc
loose charges against the Europeans settled in Bechuanaland, it
is only necessary to turn to Captain BowER’s official repor: (4)
dated April 3rd, 1884, wherein he admits how agreeably dis-
appointed he was with regard to Vryburg, which he had ex ected
tofind “a den of freebooters and brigands,” and his further report,
dated April 7th, 1884, in which he states that “the present
inhabitants of Stellaland appear to me to be a respectable class,
quite equal to the ordinary class of Colonial farmers.” It
may be said that Captain BOWER’S reports were [ramed with an
object, and that, therefore, too much reliance should not be placed
upon them ; the policy of Her Majesty’s Government then being
to conciliate the people of Stellaland, and by detaching their
\ / sympathies from the people of Land Goshen to icola‘e the latter
‘ to such an extent as to keep them quiet witil the Colonial
Parliament. should agree to annex the country. But in fact
Captain Bower’s estimate of the people, the bulk of whom
at that time were ¢ freeboters” or volunteers, was not
pitched too highly. If Cujtain Bowrkr had protracted
his visit although it entailed the uncomfortable consequences of
% gleeping only four nights in bed,” and had devoted as much
attention to the affairs of Land Goshen as to those of Stella-
land, he might have been able to give Her Majesty’s Imperial
Government. valuable advice. A short conversation with
MoxTsIoA seems to have enabled Captain BowER to arrive at
the astounding conclusion that * the territory left to MoNTsIOA
by the Convention is barely sufficient to. provide sustenance for
bis Jarge tribe and the cattle belonging to them,” and that it

(a) Blue-book [C, 4036], page 27,
(5) Blue-book [C. 4036, page 34.
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seemed “to be clearly impossible to grant a single farm out of
the small territory which is now reserved to. MoNTSIOA” to
anyone much less to the freebooters ““ whose claim moreover is on
MosHETTE and not MoxTs1oA.,” Captain Bower was also
enabled to report, probably from inspection through a field-glasss
that the people of Land Goshen “appear to be a very different
stamp to the Stellalanders.” The gallant gentleman “did not
visit their laager, or town, as they call it” (). As might have
been apprehended the announcement of Mr. MACKENZIE'S
appointment caused great dissatisfaction amongst the people of
Stellaland. A numerously signed petitio: was pres nted to the
Legislative Assembly of the Cape Colony reflecting severely on
Mr. MACKENZIE, and praying for annexation to the Cape
Colony. Mr, C. G. BopENstEIN, Chairman of the National
Committee, wrote Sir H. RoBINSON, on April §th, 1884, to the
effect that ¢ the inhabitants of Stellaland | ave unanimously
decided, on account of the general disc ntent that prevails
with regard to the appointment of the British Resident
for Bechuanaland, to petition the Cape Parliament for annexation
to that Colony.” Mr. Vax NIEKERK, Admivistrator of Stella-
land—a thoroughly honest man—also addressed a letter to the
members of the Colonial Legislature urging the necessity for
annexation to the Cape Colony, although frankly admitting that
T cannot and will not deny that it was my intention as Adminis-
trator of Stellaland to form an independent State in this part of
the counfry . . . . or, in case of failure, to have it form a
portion of the South African Republic.” Mr. MACKENZIE
arrived at Taungs, the residence of MANKOROANE, on April
30th, 1884. MANKOROANE at once threw himsclf into the arms
of Mr. MACKENZzIE, thinking—misguided man—that the change
in the system of Government would restore to him something of
what he had lost. He was so courteous as even to desire Mr.
MACKENZIE to save himself the trouble of a tour'to MoNTSIOA'S
country,  saying that he would call every one to Taungs.” Mr,
MACKENZIE'S estimate of the native character will be found in
his despatch to Sir H. RoBiNsox (2), dated 14th May, 1884, in

(a) Blue-book [C. 4036], page 45.
(%) Blue-book [0, 4194], page 14.
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which he says :— I learned that his (MANKOROANE’S) object
was really tribal aggrandizement by means of my influence, he
having already spoken of this meeting and said that it would
then be seen who were the enemies of MANKOROANE
if they stayed away from the meeting. Of course this
is only what might have been expected of a Chief; but
there is no reason why we should aid him in such a policy.”
On May 9th, 1884, after his arrival at Vryburg, the seat of
Government in Stellaland, Mr. MACKENZIE read his Commission
and announced that “ Her Majesty was pleased to exercise her
authority over Bechuanaland,” but the Administrator, Mr.
Van NIEKERK appears to have thought that something more
formal should have been done, and asked if the country had
been proclaimed, to which Mr. MACKENZIE replied («) “ You
asked me if I had proclaimed the country, and I said no; a Pro-
clamation is of a certain form and in a certain way.” The
Administrator then put the question:— Must I understand
that by reading his Commission Mr. MaAckENZIE takes over
the country as British territory and as part of Bechuangland ?”
The reply made by Mr. MACKENZIE was :— That is the fact.”
Subsequently Mr. MackeNziE, “in the Queen’s name”
imposed on Mr. Vanx Niexkerk, “the head of the
people of Stellaland—subject to acceptance by the latter
gentleman—the responsibility of the temporary management
_of this district until its affairs are finally settled,” appointed
him “to take into his charge and be 1esponsible for
all documents, moneys and things belonging to and con-
nected with the Government of Stellaland,” left the con=
tinuance or discontinuance of heads of departments likewise in
Mr. VAN Niekerk's hands, and commended “ the people and
the country to the grace and mercy of Gop.” Jealousies and
difficulties scon arose. Questions were put as to land titles, the
debt of Stellaland, and the neces-ity for Mr. VAN NIEKERK
taking the oath of allegiance. The result was that Mr.
MACKENZIE, to use his own words, went “the length of
promising farms to the original volunteers or due compensation

(a) Blue-book [C, 4194], page 28,
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in land or money.” He also stated that “ the incoming Govern-
ment is pledged to meet the debts of the old one,” and pointed
out that * Mr, VAN NIEKERK now holds office with your consent
in the name of the Queen, whose servant he is henceforth * (a)-
All Mr. MACKENZIE'S promises and concessions were insufficient.
He was still merely ab'e to say “ Something had been donein the
right direction . . . . and the full establishment of the new
Government is now, I hope, merely a question of time.” He
could only hope that the general public meeting of the burghers
would authorize Mr, VAN NIEKERK to take the oath of
allegiance to the Queen. Mr. MACKENZIE’S hopes were not
realised. At the general meeting of burghers held on May 20th,
1884, the following resolution was carried by a large
majority :—** That seeing that the people of Stellaland
have addrvessed a petition to the Cape Parliament
praying for annexation to the Cape Colony they are in honour
bound to wait until they have received a reply to the said

petition.”  So late as July 6th, 1884, affairs remained so

unsettled that Siv H. RoBINSON was obliged to say to Mr.
MackENZIE :—* 1 cannot see what would be gained by our
discussing details of Vryburg Government till we know whether
Stellalanders mean to come under us.,” Mr. MACKENZIE about
that time had taken up a position of hostility to the annexation
of Bechuanaland to the Cape Colony and was urging on Sir H.
RopiNsoN a shadowy system of territorial government and a
proposal for the establishment of a reserve force of one thousand
volunteers who should be “ Christian Citizens ” entering into the
“true knightly spirit” of the undertaking and who would be
“the right class of occupants for vacant farms in native terri-
tories ” (4). 'That would have been going perilously close to the
establishment of a regiment of ¢ Christian freebooters,” and it
did not commend itself to Sir H., RoBinsoN, who seems to have
begun at last to suspect Mr, MACKENZIE’S judgment. He
declined to approve of a suggestion made by Mr. MACKENZIE
that he should leave Bechuanaland for Cape Town, on the
ground that Mr. MackeNzie should remain at his post whilst

(@) Blue-book [C. 4194], page 22.
(b) Blue-book [C. 4194], page 56,
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the country was in the state it then was, and he added * your
reserve scheme appears to.me to be wholly impracticable. You are
under a complete delusion if you think you can obtain any
help at present from either the Government, the Parliament, or
the public opinion of the Colony.” A warning was also given to
Mr. MACKENZIE not to ““ further increase Civil Establishments
without the authority of Her Majesty’s Government,” and he
was told that «if Stellaland comes under us, gf course any
expenditure on that community must be borne,l'itsem This
should be clearly understood from the first” The tightening
of {he purse-strings at this fime seems to have been caused by
the disinclination shown by the Colonial Ministry to fix the
Colony with responsibility for expenditure in Bechuanaland
before anmexation, for as Sir H. RoBInsoN telegraphed (@), with
a touch of sadness, to Mr. MackENzIE, “ There is little pros-
pect, I am afraid, of any contribution towards the expenses of
Bechuanaland from this Colony.” The same economical reason
probably led to a request of Sir H. RominsonN that .Mr.
MackEeNzIE would let him know how he contemplated paying
« for the Assistant Commissioners with MoNTs10A and MANKO-
~ROANE, and what chance there is of raising revenue from those
Chiefs.” When Mr. MAcCKENzIE lett Stellaland in May for
Maffeking, he “ lett matters in a transitional state ” () ““ instead
of making certain of the secure establishmentof British jurisdiction
and, on his return, he was obliged again to meet the people,
A resolution war passed by the Volks’ Committee on June 27th,
1884, to the effect that in the event of the Cape Parliament
declining to comply with the prayer of the petition for annexation
the points already discussed with Mr, MAckENZIE at Vryburg
shou'd be submitted to him {for his ratification, aud that, upon
such ratification, the Administrator, Mr. VAN NIEKERK, should
be advised to take the ocath of office within a given time. Being
under the impression—from information received from Cape
Town--that annexation would not be assented to by the Cape
Parliament, a deputation of the Volks’ Committee on July 4th,
1884, discussed the points referred to with Mr. MACKENZIE, who

(a) Blue-book [C. 4194], page 79.
(0) Blue-bock, [C, 4194], page 113,
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confirmed what ke had previously stated regarding land tifles and
the debt. Mr. VAN N1exerxk, however, declined to accept ‘the
position offered to him and to take the oath of allegiance, and
matters became so critical that Mr. MACKENZIE came to ‘the
conclusion that a police force of two hundred men would be
necessary at once. He also made a request for the services of
« the most Christian, broadest-minded, Dutch-speaking business
man a8 Assistant Commissioner and Landdrost of Vryburg?
Sir T. RonrwsoN now fairly lost patience, and his replies to M. |
MAackENZIE became more peremptory and marked with some
severity, On July 12th, 1884, His Excellency said: T cannot.\
ask Her Majesty’s Government to sarction any further expenditure |
until 1 have received definite replies to the points referred to in my |

telegrams of 6th, 8th and 10th. T require to know the precise |

position in Stellaland. Are they with us or against us, or
or neutral . . . . Her Majesty’s Government have mo
intention of fighting Stellalanders. If they had, a thousand
men would not be sufficient. For what purpose, then, do you
require another 100 police ? and where would you locate them ?
The expenditure which you have already undertaken, irre-
spective of Stellaland, will not be less than £40,000 for the
first year, and you have said no word as yet about revenue.
If the present police were doubled, as you suggest, the expen-
diture for the first year would mot be far short of £80,000,
and to expect the Imperial Government to expend this merely
for the purpose of checking ecattle stealing is simply prepos-
terous. All MANKOROANE’S and MoONTSIOA’S cattle are
not worth one year’s proposed expenditure.” The rebuke
was very severe, but Mr. MACKENzIE may derive some
balm to his wounded feelings from contemplating the
lavish war expenditure now being incurred, of which one
year’s interest alone will probably far exceed the total cost of his
proposed police force. Resolutions submitted by the Colonial
Ministry in favour of negotiating with Her Majesty’s Imperial
Government with a view of annexing Bechuanaland to the Cape
Colony having passed both branches of the Legislature a tempt-
ing opportunity presented itself of evading the paltry money
question and attempting to throw upon the Cape Colony the

|
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onus of dealing with the debt in connection with annexation.
That opportunity was greedily seized by Her Majesty’s Imperial
Government, and accordingly Sir H. RoBINsoN—acting, of
course, on instructions—in announcing on the 19th July, 1884,
to Mr. MACKENZIE the passage of the resolution proposed by
the Cape Ministry—added that you will of course {ake care
that during transitional stage any expenditure on Stellaland is met
by itself. Under altered circumstances neither assets nor liabili-
ties need be taken over by Imperial Government” (a). The feeling
which dictated so unworthy an attempt on the part of Her
Majesty’s Imperial Government cannot but be resented by
Colonists of every nationality and disapproved of everywhere.
Mr. MACKENZIE in answer to that portiou of the telegram of
Sir H. RoBinsoN which relates to current expenditure replied
that he could not shirk money responsibilites even for a time, ard
stated that he thought of * continuing the issue of Stellaland
¢ good-fors * for current expenses of Government here, endorsing
them myself while here.” On July 25th, 1884, Sir H. RoBINsON
declined without the express authority of Her Majesty’s Govern-
ment to “ sanction the payment from Imperial funds of outstand-
ing obligations of Stellaland Republic or of the ¢good-fors’
‘which you propose issuing for current expenses of Government
P e I do not think Her Majesty’s Government will ap-
prove the promise you have made.” Mr. MACKENZIE continued
to contend against the proposed repudiation and wrote to Sir H.
RoBINSON on August 1st, 1884, as follows:—“ It was of the
very essence of the settlement which I have been endeavouring
to carry through here that Her Majesty’s Government should
take up the pecuniary responsibilities of those whom we suc-
ceeded. Either drive them out, or take over public affairs from
their hands —these were our alternatives. The latter was chosen
and I think very wisely.,” Notwithstanding all that was urged
Her Majesty’s Imperial Government adhered to the position taken
up by them, and, consequently, much Imperial Government
paper in the shape of dishonoured ¢ good-fors” countersigned
by Mr. MACKENZIE and issued in payment of the current ex-

(a) Blue-book [C. 4194], page 127.
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penses of Government under him can now be obtained in
Stellaland by speculative persons at any price they may
wish to offer. During the month of July, 1884, difficulties
increased in Stellaland. The Volks’ Committee 2ccording to
Mr. MACKENZIE’S letter of August 1st, 1884, deposed Mr.
VAN NIEKERK from office and Mr. VAN NIEKERK and his
party deposed the Volks’ Committee. Mr. MACKENZIE called
a public meeting at Vryburg on July 21st, 1883, at which he
gave Mr. VAN NIEKERK an intimation to attend. Mr. VAN
NiEKERK, who undoubtedly represented the great majority of
the inhabitants, declined to attend, and thereupon Mr.
MackeNzIE unwisely identified himself with the other party and
either carried away by an ill-founded belief of the strength of his
supporters or thinking that something decisive should be done
he actually hoisted the British flag. The hopes of the party
which egged Mr. MACKENZIE on to this step now rose high.
A Select Committee elected by the Volks’ Committce acted as
his advisers, for which service it was arranged that the members
should be * paid for such days as they sit for the transaction
of public business,” and police and other appointments
were eagerly sought for, The act of hoisting the British flag
was certain to be looked upon as injudicious by Sir H. RoBINsON,
from whom indecd a telegraphic message to Mr. MACKENZIE
on the subject appears:to have been in transit at the time. In
thit message His Excellency said :—¢ Touching what you say
in your note of the 22nd just received as to hoisting Eoglish flag
at some tuture time, I think it right to warn you that you would
not be warrafited in taking such a step. Hoisting the British
flag is technically the symbol of the assumption of sovereignty.
Bechuanaland is only a native territory under a British Protec-
torate, and you are not justified in altering the status without
the express sanction of Her Majesty’s Government.” On the
previous day, July 29th, 1884, Sir H. RoBinNsox had received
information from Mr. RHODES of a “ row at Vryburg on attempt
to hoist British flag ” which probably alarmed His Excellency and,
when added to the effect of Mr. MACKENZIE baving identified
himself with the party opposedto Mr, VAN NIEKERK aswell as

to other subjects of disagreement such as the “good-for ” ques-
F
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tion, the proposed “preposterous” expenditure upon police,
and the establishment of a native foree without authority to do so,
led to such loss of confidence in Mr. MACKENZIE as to eause the
despatch of the following strong telegram to him :—“ Nothing
could justify you in taking on yourself the responsibility of in-
_volving us in a conflict between the two partics. The conse-
quences would be disastrous throughout South Africa. . I find
it so difficult to understand precise position that I wish you to
come down here at once to confer with me about it as you pro-
posed a short time ago. T have asked Mr. Ru oDES to proceed
from Kimberley to Vryburg as he is authorized to act as Deputy
Commissioner in your absence.” The facts recorded
above show that Mr. GLADSTONE was under a misapprehension
when he recently stated in the House of Commons that Mr,
MackeNZzIE had been recalled solely because the Cape Ministry
askedforit. The Right Honourable G entleman, if he had known
the facts, would then have gaid that Mr. MACKENZIE wasrecalled
not because of any advice given by the Colonial Ministry but
because Sir H. RoBinsox distrusted him. It must not be
thought, however, that the Cape Ministry of which M.
UriNaTON was then the head were anxious for Mr. MackeNzir’s
retention in Bechuanaland, on the contrary they were
desirous to see Mr. Macxkenzig replaced by a Colomal
officer possessing the confidence of the people, and in a Minute
to Sir H." RoBiNson, dated July 26th, 1884, they expressed
the opinion, in connection with the terms under? which they
proposed to submit the question of anmexation for the con-
sideration of the Cape Parliament, that “Mr. MACKENzIE,
Deputy Commissioner in Bechuanaland, does not command tha
confidence of a large and influsntial portion of the populatiou,
and his retention in office is not ealculated to promote the interests
of peace.” That opinion was not acted upon. In fact the pro-
posed terns of annexation were locked upon with disfavour, and
the advice of the Cape Ministry in relation to Bechuanaland was
declined ualess liability for a share in unlimited expenditure in
that country was admitted. Subsequently, on July 30th, 1884,
the Cape Ministry—who were still not responsible in Bechuana~
land matters for advice as a Ministry—again urged in a Minute

-
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to Sir H, RoBINsoON “that in their opinion the most serious if
not the only obstacle to the maintenance of peace in the Pro-
tectorate is the continuanee in the office of Deputy Commissioner
of Mr. MACKENZIE, who is not only an unpopular but an injudi-
cious officer.” Before its receipt Sir I. RoBinsox had—
as already pointed out—formed his own opinion of Mr.
MACKENZIE'S capabilities and had despatched a telegram
recalling him. = This is shown by Ilis Excellency’s reply
to the latter Minute of the Cape Ministry in which he begged “ o
inform Ministers that prior to the receipt of the Minuie
he had telegraphed to Mr. Mackenzie directing him to come
to Cape Town to eonfer with him as to the position in
Bechuanaland.” Mr. RHODPES was really the adviser of Sir H.
RoBiNsoN in this matter, Captain Bowrr having telegraphed
to him on July 29th, 1884, after rece'pt of the telegr.m from
Mr. REODES giving news of the ““ row ”at Vryburg (a) :—“ Do
you think MACKENZIE may be safely left in Stellaland ?” to
which Mr. REoDES replied en July 30th—the -date of the
message recalling Mr. MackENZIE-—* Consider MACKENZIE’S
presence at Vryburg likely to cause disturbance. He is opposed
by large party.” _

- The Cape Ministry although anxious for Mr. MAcKENZIE’S
reeall were thus in mo way responsible for it. Mr. MackENZIE'S
recall was quickly followed by his resignation, upoa which Her
Majesty’s Imperial Government showed their appreciation of his
services by granting him three months’ salary as a gratuity,
On Mr. RuopEs’s arrival in Stellaland lie at ence saw the true-
state of affaivs. He reported to Sir H. RoBIixson that * the
town section accepted MACKENZIE but NIEKERK - has a large
majority with him and has proclaimed a separate Gevernment
at- Harts River. . . . I am not without hope, but will have
to-go on entirely different lines to MaACKENzIE.,” In his
telegram to Sir H. RosinsoN, dated August 7th, 1824, My,
RuopES observed :— My policy, if it can be ealled one, is con-
tained in a few words, viz, to try and effect a reconciliation
with the NIEKERK party and obtain their co-operation in dealing

(@) Blue-book [C. 4194], page 15,
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with the people at Rooil Grond or at le st their neutrality.
I know exactly the object I am working for, to stop if
possible a collision between our police and the Boers and pre-
vent a general war, which must necessitate British troops and the
revival in an intensified form of the old race feelings which I am
still in hopes are gradually dying out.” Sagacity, patience, and
a disposition to conciliate on the part of the Deputy Commis-
sioner were now requisite in Bechuanaland. Much has been
made of the so-called “invasion” of the Protectorate by the
Roode Grond people in retaliating upon MonTs10A for the out-
rage committed by his people in May, but if ever there was a
state of war it existed in Stellaland after the establishment of
the Protectorate during the months of July, August, and early
days of September, 1884. A large meeting was held on July
30th, 1884, at which it was declared that without consent of
the burghers no one had a right to hand over the country, that
the people would “only adhere to their Memorial for annexa-
tion to the Cape Colony,” and that they would “never subject
themselves to the Rev. JouNn MAcCkENZzIE.” It was also
resolved that a * Court of Military Officers ” be established and
that steps be taken “to prosecute before the aforesaid Court
for high treason every inhabitant of Stellaland who shall
associate himself with Mr. MACKENZIE in our political affairs,
and deal with him according to lJaw.” The hostility shown to
the Queen’s representative at Roode Grond was not greater
than this. A notice, dated July 31st, 1884, was ifsued by the
Government of the Republic of Stellaland summoning all land-
owners to an armed meeting at Losasa, the farm of Mr. P,
vAN VREEDEN, Senior, for purpose of recovering all stolen
eattle from MANKOROANE, or, as said by Mr. Ruobgs, for the
purpose of “ restoring their original Government, occupying Vry-
burg, and marching on Taungs to recover the stolen cattle,” and
a warning was given that persons who did ot comply with the
notice weuld ¢ have their ground confiscated.” W!at a «fools’
paradise ” Mr. MACKENZIE was living in when he penned the
despatch to Sir H. ROBINSON, dated the day after the above
motice was issued, in which he congratulated himself on  the
result of patient contact with the people,” and said that the
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people some time ago ““ were stimulated in their Memonal to the:
Cape Colony by the fear of the Imperial Government, they now
openly and collectively express tlie desire to be under that
Government . . . . As they hoisted the flag amid hearty
cheers, I thought here is the answer to all the unjust and silly
remarks which have been recently made in Cape Town about
¢ eliminating * the Imperial factor from Bechuanaland, and espe-
cially concerning myself as a breeder of strife.” Mr. MACKENZIE
put forth  the tender leaves of hopeg’ on the 28th, on the 29th
he bore ““ his blushing honours thick upon him ” as the British
flag waved proudly over him and the prayer ¢ offered by
one of themselves in Dutch *“ was still ringing in his ears, but on
the 30th comes * thekilling frost ” of Sir H. RoBINsoxN's telegram
of recall.

“ And—when he thinks, good casy man, full surely

His greatness is a ripening—nips his root

And then he falls,
There was good ground for Mr. RHODES’S statement to Sir H.
RoBiNsoX in his telegram of August 7th, 1884, that ¢ the whole
Bechuana question looks serious,”” and he rightly observed that
MANKOROANE’S object was tobring about a collision so that with
the assistance of the British Government he might regain posses -
sion of Stellaland. MoNTs10A’S object in May was precisely the
same. Mr. Ruopes—evidently as a protection to his reputation
—mnow asked for the assistance of Captain BowER, the Imperia
Secretary, and peace wassecured pending annexation to the!
Cape Colony by the joint efforts of these geuntlemen, wheo -
according to some adopted a just and conciliatory policy
but who according to others succeeded by conceding every-
thing to armed rebels and freebooters. 'I'heir position was
one of great difficulty. Captain BowER telegraphed fo Sir
H. RoBINsON on August 27th, 1884, that « Mr. Ruoprs
did not overstate the case when he reported that the Boers were
rabid. There are about 300 or 400 men here now, and a large
section of them are very unreasonable and viclent, their objeet
being war at any price.” At this time Mr. RHODES was at
Roode Grond, and, in his absence, Captain BowER—who appears
to have been in some personal danger—offered, as representing
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Her Majesty’s Imperial Government, terms which embraced the
repudiation cf all Mr. MACKENZIE’S acts, the recognition of all
land titles issucd by the Stellaland Government and continuance
of the Stellaland Government pending annexation to the Cape
Colony subject to the Imperial Protectorate.” The offer re-
mained in suspense till the arrival of Messrs. Riopes and
JousEerT, when after three days’ discussion an agreement was
artived at on September 8th, 1884, and the armed men forming
one of the contracting bodies dispersed. Thoss who speak of
MonTs104’s treaty with MosHETTEin 1882 ashavingbeen forced
from him with * the pistol at his head ” will do well to bear in mind
the circumstances under which the agreement of September 8th,
1884, was signed (a). Captain BowERr—whoseems to *“ have been
great Ambarrassed by ” the fact that the British flag was flying
at Vryburg—magnanimously accepted joint responsibility with
Mr. Ruopxs for the agreement and pointed outin his report to Sir
. Robinson, dated 18th September, 1884 (), that through his
foresightinarranging amongst other things *“for the abandonment
of Vryburg” where the British flag had been raised, the imme-
diate consequences “ of the rejection of the terms would not have
b:en in a military sense disastrous.” Persons not belonging to
either Her Majesty’s land or sea forces might possibly say that
there might be disaster otherwise than in a military sense.
It was elearly seen by Mr. Ruopes that the wisest course would
be to meet the pcople half'way although they were freebooters
and inrebellion, according t> Captain BowER’s telegrams, and to
accede to their demands. Events have shown that it
would have been equally wise to have adopted the same course
in Land Goshen. The agreement of September 8th, 1884, pro-
vided énter alia, first, for the cancellation of all Mr. MAcKkENZIE’S
acts with the Volks’ Committee and of all his proclamations ;
secondly, for the. continuance of the =tellaland Goverament
pending annexation to the Cape Colony, recognizing, however,
Her Majesty’s Protectorate after the period of three months and
subject to the condition that all Executive acts must be taken
with the consent of the Commissioner of Bechuanaland ; thirdly,

() Blue-book [C: 4213], page 81,
() 1bid, page 129,
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for the recognition of all titles to land issued by the Government
of Stellaland ; and fourthly, for the appointment of Commis-
sioners for certain purposes, The people of Stelliland having
practieally had indepen deuce conceded to them pending annexa-
tion to the Cape Colony quietly awaited the meeting of the
Colonial Parliament. They continued to be governed by Mr,
Vax Niexerk's administration without the shadow of any con-
trol by Her Majesty’s Imperial Government.

VI

=y —"’M"\.

SucH was the condition of Stellaland and Land Goshen re-.

speetively when the Cape Ministers, Mr. UriNaToN and Mr.
SrriGa, proceeded in November, 184, to Bechuanaland for the
purpose of endeavouring to bring about, with the consent of all
concerned, annexation to the Cape Colony, aud, theieby, first,
to satisfy the wishes of Her Majesty’s Imperial Government, who
were desirous for annexation, and, secondly, to sceure the trade
rou‘e to the intevior on that side of the continent. In the
Batlaping country they found the natives on the look out for
some opportunity .to regain what they had lost. News of the
likelihood of troops arriving from England had unsettled them
notwithstanding the faet that Mr. Ruopes had impressed upon
MANKOROANE that there was no hope of his getting back any
of the country which he had lost. From the Batlapings, how-
ever, no real danger was or is to be apprehended. They
are a wretched race, bound to deteriorate even further.
In Stellaland it was found that the people were everywhere
in favour of the annexation of the territory to the Cape Colony.
Many persons stated that they would bave preferred to be subjects
of the Transvaal Government, but seeing that such a course was’
out of the question they were ready to come under the Queen
in her Colouial Government. The suggestion of direct Imperial
rule over the country as a Crown Colony was received with

dismay, and it is clear that- no such system of government can
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ever work satisfactorily in Stellaland. Disturbances must be
the result. On arrival in Land Goshen the Cape Ministers
found exactly the same condition of things to be in existence as
in Stellaland. Zhere was not a semblance of a Protectorate or
of Imperial authority. The Barolong tribe were occupying a
certain portion of the country, and they were in friendly inter-
course with the Europeans who occupied portions of the residue
Iu the same way as in Stellaland there was a Government
establizhed under Mr. N. C. GEY vaN PrrrIius as Adminis-
trator or Chairman of the Bestuur, dwellings were being built
at Roode Grond and elsewhere, and several farmers were—as
stated by Captain BowER in speaking of Stellaland—gradually
developing the resources of the country.” Although no croquet
ground was visible the Imperial Secretary might have noticed
¢ well-dressed young ladies” and  heard the sound of a piano.”
It has been inconsiderately said that the Cape Ministers should
not either personally or by agency have had any communication
with people like the inkabitants of Land Goshen. It would
appear to be sufficient answer, at all events in moments of
calmness, to point out that when il is proposed to effect an
object by means of amicable settlement there must be communi-
cation with those with whom it is proposed to enter into arrange-

, ments. That was undoubtedly the view taken by Her Majesty’s
Imperial Government when they authorized Captain BOowER, the
\ Imperial Secretary, to offer favourable terms to the Stellaland
\/burgbers, who—or Captain BowER’S own admission—threatened
his life and who were ready to march upon the seat of Govern-
ment of the Protectorate. The Cape Ministers had no such
compulsion exercised upon them. Not only were they received
with the greatest respect by the Bestuur and people of Land
Goshen but they were enabled to dictate their own terms—as
they always intended to do—aud they would not have tolerated
the presence of armed men at the signature of their conditions.

! But, further, the people found in Land Goshen were far from
being “murderers and thieves” as described by fiery orators
wholly ignorant of the character of the pzople and the circum-
/stances of the country. So far back as June 14th, 1834, as
stated by Mr. MACKENZIE'S anonymous correspondent already
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quoted from (a), “many of the original  Vrijwilligers ” (Volun-
teers) had sold their farms,” and such of them as continued toreside
in the country were men against whose reputation nothing could
be said except that they had taken service as mercenary soldiers.
The purchasers of land from such of the volunteers as have dis-
posed of their rights are men who would make excellent settlers.
The number of people ther resident in Land Goshen was not
and is not now great, the farms distributed amongst the volunteers
by lottery not having been generally occupied in consequence of
the disturbed state of Bechuanaland. The case of Stellaland was
and is entirely parallel, the fairms drawn by the volunteers in the
Stellaland Lottery not being even yet fully occupied notwith-
standing that personal occupation is required by the agreements.
Under the conditions imposed upon them by Hecr Majesty’s
Imperial Government it was necessary for the Cape Ministers to
secure to the Barolong tribe the land of which they were in the
undisturbed possession in May last, when the British Protectorate
was established according to Sir H. RoBINsoxN's definition of
MoxTs1oA’s location, or to secure to MoNTSIOA and his tribe
ample garden and grazing ground as more correctly required by
Lord. DErBY, and accordingly they first proceeded to inform
themselves upon this subject, with the result that the natives
were fouad to have been hemmed in at the time of the establish-
ment « f the Protectorate and to have been actually in the undis-
turbed possession of nothing south of the Molopo River. The
Cape Ministers were, however, desirous to secure ample land for
the tribe as required by Lord DErBY, and they determined not
to adhere to the strict letter of the definition of Sir H. RoBINSOYN,
but rather to follow what they kunew to be its spirit, and
to insist on MoONTsSI0A’S people getting much more than
the strict letter of that definiiion would give thera. With
that object in view the Cape Ministers inquired closely
into the extent of the population and into the pursuits of
the people. They found the people to be far less numerous
than has been stated in official reports. Captain HARREL fixed
the number of MONTS810A’S people in 1880 at 12,500, of whom

(@) Blue-book [C. 41947, page 63,
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2,500 were adult males, As the natives liave no knowledge of
numbers auny es'imat2 of population based upon statements of
numbers made by them must be conjectural, and it is clear that
Captain HArr EL’s estimate was toohigh, Careful inquiry led the
Cape Ministers fo concinde that the total population, including
the slaves of the tribe, would be highly estimated at 4,000.
Intermixture of G ASSITSIWE’S people with MoxTs104’S, when
for the purpose of grazing their herds théy came together, may
sometimes cause a false estimate to be made of the number of
MonTsroa’s people. They are slave-holding pastoral natives,
of no high type, owning large herds of cattle but doing next
to nothing in the way = of cultivating the soil. TIf the
Rarolong territory is left in their hands it will not pay a
tithe of the cost of government. The only people who
really can make anything of the country for many years
to come are Colonial pioneer firmers suzh as those now begin-
ning to locate themselves in Stellalnd, who will b willing to gra-
dually develop =0 remote a country and be content with small
pecuniary returns while undergoing great privations. The find-
ing of water by boring would prebably make a great change in
the country, but the distance from a central market will long be
a drawback. Emancipation of the Vaal-pens slaves of the Baro-
long tribe—which of course must now take place—will probably
be very distasteful to that tribe, and it ought to be clearly under-
stood "th:t the emancipation is intended to be effective. It it
should be a mere paper emancipation, and if no person is appointed
to look after the serfs, and if no means of living is provided for
them, they they are certain to continue in serfdom. Portion of
the land now occupied by MoxTsioA should be taken from him
and given tc the emancipated slaves, It would be interesting to
know whether Her Majesty’s Imperial Government was aware of
the continuance of slavery under the Queen’s Protectorate in
Bechuanaland. In the settlement of the disputed land question
MoxTsioa was, of course, entitled to be first heard, but, on
sending for him, he was raid to be visiting his cattle posts,
although lhis exact whereabouts wus unknown.  Messengers
were =aid Ly his people to have been despatched for the purpose
of recalling him, but that statement was afterwards found to be
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untrue. MonNT810A not having appeared, the Cape Ministers,
frem irquiry made amongst the chief men of the Barolong
tribe and otherwise as well as from personal observation, came
to the conclusion that the natives would have land beyond
their requirements if they were secured in the possession
of the garden and grazing grounds at Maffeking, Sechuba
and Salivis Stations with ample grazing ground to the north ef
the Molopo River, but lest MoNTs10A should not care to resume
cccupation of Saliris Station or. of his own former station at
Sehuba provision was made for granting him other land along
the Molopo River er clsewhere as he might point out. It is now
clear that MonTs10A like MaANKOROAXE had determined, on
the adviee of white men, to agree to wothing as soen as he
Leard that troops were about to leave England. One of the
mcmbers of the Cspe Mivistry (Mr. Urincrox) having
visited Gassitsiwe at Kanye, for the purpose of entering into
treaty arrangements with that Chief baving for their object the
mainterance «f an open trade route and securing a right of
cessicn  of zovereignty to Her Majesty the Queen
prier to that of any other Power, found MoxTsroa
staying at that station. In a conference with the chief {a) he
was informed by the Minister who addressed him that the Cape
Miuvistry “sre only too anxious to give him good terms if he will
only mcet us. Our present propesal is to reinstate him in posses-
sicn of the land at Sehuba, Maffeking and Saliris with ample
grazing greund on the north bank of the river. That is far more
than be was in the undisturbed pessession of when the Buritish
Proteetorate was established, and I cannot help thinking it is an
(xcellent settlement for him.” In answer to that statement an
Euroy ean gentleman, who, with another, had been admitted to
the conference as the Chief’s advisersat therequest of MonTsioa,
¢aid ¢ I should think so. Would lie be a British subject?” The
reply was as follows:— Yes! We desire to give him all the
lend he may reasenably require, and Mr, Sprice is at present
at Maffeking awaiting MONTSI10A to go into matters with him,
and he will be greatly disappointed at his not being there.”

(a) Notes of an interview with GASSITSIWE and MONTSIOA, Appendix,
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Whereupon the same gentleman who had previously spoken on
behalf of MoNTs10A said ““ He has been sent away.” At a sub-
sequent part of the conversation Mr. UpineToN said :—
“ MoNTsIOA apparently positively refuses {o take any part in a
settlement until armed men are placed in his country. If he
thinks that he will obtain the assistance of British troops under
such circumstances I must tell him that in my opinion he is much
mistaken. The British public will not favour a man who refuses
to discuss a faiv settlement . . . . . Tell MoNTs10A that
notes are being taken of all that is now occurring, that every-
thing will appear in official documents, and if he shows no
inclination to meet me I am inclined to think that not a soldier
will come here and the British public will view his conduct
with great dissatisfaction. I have come to this remote country,
at great personal inconvenience, to do my best for him, and I want
him to come down to his own station, and in the presence of
his own people to show me what land he requires.

Finally, I wish it to be conveyed to MoNtsioa that 1 have
come to his country to get as much land as possible for him.
I have succeeded in getting back for him far more land than
was given to him by his own solemn treaty. White people
regard their treaty arrangements, and strictly speaking MoxT-
s10A might be bound by his. Certainly MoxTs10A has not
strengthened his case by not meeting me fairly with regard to
this matter. A meeting of the Goshenites has been calied
for the 28th instant, and I wished him to come face to face with
them, to speak out his mind openly, and to tell me what h>
wanted, as I wished to make a good settlement for him. It is
for him now to say whether he will be present or whether he
will not. I shall then be in a positin to say where his beacons
will be placed, so that the good intentions of the Queen in Lis
favour may be carried out. After that I hope he will keep
his people from st:aling and see that they maintain peace.
A Government officer will be appointed to whom he can
always apply whenever he wants redress for any wrong
done to him and for advic: whea he is in any difficulty.
As soon as we cin make arrangements we shall also have a
police force to secure the k-eping of the peace by every man
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whether white or black.” At a'ater stage the following qucstion
was put to MoNTs10A : —“ Now let us have a decided answer.
Let it be yes or no. Is MONTSIOA coming down to help us in
effecting the settlement?” The reply was:—“If my wagon
comes I will try to come down.” Thereupon the Cape Minister
said :—“ Mo~NTs10A will understand that a meeting is to be held
on Friday to discuss the arrangement as signed by the Bestuur
of Goshen. On Saturday I will be prepared to go over the
ground with MONTS10A, getting him to show me what land will be
sufficient for his people. If MONTSIOA is sincere in wishing for a
settlement he will be there on that day.” Notwithstanding his
promise MONTSI10A did not appear on the day named. There can
be now no doubt that certain white advisers—not being the
gentlemen present at Kanye—for their own purposes induced
him to avoid taking part in the settlement by buoying him
up with the hope that Her Majesty’s troops were marching
into the country with the object of placing him in the position
he occupied previously to the Treaty of October, 1882.
The Cape Ministers having clearly laid down to the people
of Land Goshen that the direction of Her Majesty’s
Imperial Government must be obeyed and having satisfied
themselves as to the land required by the natives, had then
to deal with the residue which, if there were no claim to it,
would become waste Crown lands upon annexation to the Cape
Cclony. They proceeded, in effect, to demand their titles from
persons who made claim to'that land. It was pointed out that a
number of persons, about 140, claimed title under the treaty
entered into between MosHETTE and MoNTs1oA on October
24th, 1882. The Cape Ministers having considered all the cir-
cumstances in connection with that treaty and having before
them the precedent of the treaty between MAssouw and MAN-
KOROANE and the complete acceptance of it by Her Majesty’s
Imperial Government, could not honestly refuse to acknowledge
the validity of titlesacquired under the treaty between MoSHETTE
and MoNTs104, and accordingly by this second condition they
agreed to respect *‘all rights to land enjoyed by white settlers
under grant or transfer before the formal establishment of the
British Protectorate . . . . inthe same mannerasarranged
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in Stellaland between Her Majesty's Deputy Commissioner and
the inhabitants of that territory.” The treaty made in August,
1884, at. the instance of Mr. JouBERT they declined to recognize
as a valid document. It had been entered into when the country
was umder British protection and was therefore null and void.
Mr. JoUBERT seems to have acted as mediwtor smply for the
purpose of saving MoNTs10A from annihilation, and he appears
never to have attached any value to the treaty. But alihough
the latter treaty was neot recogmized it appeared that many
persons—in the main respectable farmers who had takea no
part in the hostilities—had purchased farms in the honest belief
that the vendors who acquired under the latéer treaty had
a good title. For those people there was neecessarily some
sympathy, and, as they were as good settlers as could be found,
the Cape Ministwy agreed to appoint a Commission to investigate
their claims and make provision for them subject to the econsent
of Parliament. The'rest of the vacant country was to become
waste Crown lands. The debt question was left entirely open,
and pending the establishment of a fixed form of government it
was provided—following the lines of the Stellaland settlement —
that a Celonial Officer should alminisier the affairs of the Govern-
' ment in conjunction with the Bestuur, but no act should be valid
till approved by that officer. Could a fairer settlement have been
made ? The natives obtained ample land, and as the Colony was
about to anmex the territory the residue after proviling for the
natives ought to have been left to the dispesal of the Colonial
- Governmentresponsible to the Colonial Parliament. Her Majesty’s
- Imperial Government, once the natives were provided for, ought
certainly not to have interfered with the actions of the Colonial
Governmentin dealing with the land in view of annexation. If
the Colonial Government had disposed improperly of lands
which should have become waste Crown lands of the Colony
the Colonial Parliament would have censured them. The
~ Colonial Ministers endeavoured with the good wishes of Her
Majesty’s Imperial Government to effect a settlement, without
bloedshed, which would give ample land to the natives and be
likely to relieve Her Majesty’s Government of responsibi'ity by
securing annexation. In this they were successful notwithstand-
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vAN Prrrivs, who honestly expressed his desire to l.c under the
Transvaal Government. They succeeded in getting the people
of Land Goshen to agree to annexition to the Colony on
terms which were fair to all parties. But what was the result ?
Hesitation on the part of Her Majesty’s Imperial Government
to assent to a settlement which would have relieved them of the
Protectorate while securing the ¢ untry for ever to the Dritish
Crown. The Colonial Government would have been enabled
also by alliances with the Chiefs northward—for which all
arrangements had been made—to secure open trade routes to
the Zambesi and thereby to check any attempts by Foreign
Powers to block the road to the interiyr. The grave que-tions
now are —why did not Her Majesty’s Imperial Government
abide by the action of those most interested: the Colonial
. Government ? Why has a force been sent into a remote part of
South Africa where no enemy is likely to be encountered, at a
probable expense of some millions? Is i for the purpose of
defeating the rights of a few white men and breaking the treaty
of October, 18827 What covrse does Her Majesiy’s Imperial
Government intend to pursue when Major-General Sir CirarLEs
WarreN and bhis troops have oceupied the Land of
Groshen without opposition?  If the object is to make
an armed demonstration in South Africa. for the purpose
of showing the great European Powers that England is
determined to uphold her position on this Continent, the
policy is intelligible; but the responsible Ministry of the
Colony might fairly say that the object should have been
communicated to them so that they may be able t7 counteract
any false impressions created amongst the people as to the object
of that demonstration. But the object cannot possibly have been
to have a military parade for the purpose above suggested.
What, then, is it? Is it an armed demonstration against the
Transyaal based upon any impression that the Transvaal Govern-
‘ment is determined to crush British influence in South Africa?
1f so, Her Majesty’s Imperial Government are ill-advised. The
Transvaal Government has more than enough to do to look after
its internal affairs, If that Republic ever had any intention to
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block the trade of the Cape Colony that intention does not now
exist, and unless the effect of the military expedition under Sir
CuArRLES WARREN should be to renew ill-feeling there is reason
to believe that confederation of the South African States
under the British flag would not be distasteful to a large number
of the people of the Transvaal. If, however, the inhabitants
of the Republic are now driven into the arms of Germany,
English statesmen, led away by heated speeches at political
meetings which do not represent true popular feeling, will have
themselves to thank for it. The truth seems to be that
Her Majesty’s Imperial Government have all through this
unfortunate business not been well advised as to public feeling
in the Cape Colony. It would now appear that they were left
under the false impression that the Cape Ministerial settlement
would not meet with the approval of the Colonial Legislature,
and that if it were disapproved by Her Majesty’s Imperial
Government annexation would still be safe. The settlement
proposed by the Cape Ministers has been opposed in the Cape
Coiony mainly by two sections: drowning politicians opposed to
the Ministry who were only too desirous to grasp at any strdw,
and persons anxious in a time of mercantile depression for ex-
penditure on war who looked forward with avidity to the advent
of troops. The cry at the great majority of anti-Ministerial meet-
ings held, especially in the Eastern Districts, ultimately became
one which Her Majesty’s Imperial Government would not have
cared to hear. It was “No annexation. Let the Imperial
troops come into Bechuanaland and remain there.”  The
result of the joint action of the two classes mentioned was
much mob clamour, and Her Majesty’s Imperial Government
appear—not for the first time—to have mistaken the noise
of packed meetings for the popular voice of the Colony. The
leading speakers at those meetings were persons well-known
to be opposed in politics to the present Cape Ministry, which
alone ought to have induced Her Majesty’s Imperial Govern-
ment to: pause before arriving at the conclusion that the
settlement come to did not meet with the assent of the Colony,
The other influences referred to were in action also as was well
shown in the case of a leading politician and merchant in Port
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Blizabeth who having heatedly denounced at a public meeting thé
Ministerial settlement and called for military force to maintain
British honour rushed to Cape Town to endeavour to secure war
contracts. To such persons acceptance of the Uape Ministerial
settlement would have been a blow. Everything possible was done
to prevent excitement from cooling down and to keep up feeling
in England. A telegram was desparched contaiving a perverte 1
report of a speech made by the Cape Premier at the conclusien
of the Cape Ministerial settlement. Words were imputed to Mr.
UrineTON which were never used by him, but the maintenince
of the war excitement was indispensable. Her Majesty’s Imperial
Government ought certainly to have known that a public meet=
ing at Cape Town got up for the occasion or a public meeting at
Kimberley—at which many were likely to attend who knew
nothing of the Dechuanaland question—did not repres:nt the true
feeling of South African Colonists. Already the change in feelinz
amongst those who attended public meetings on this subject is very
great, but unfortunately for the British taxpayer his bard-earned
money has either gone or is fast going. The objection taken by
a section of the public to the settlement arrived at by the Cape
Ministry was at first a general objection to the entire settlem2nt,
but on calm consideration of the several clauses the objections
finally resolved themselves in most cases into an objec:ion to the
constitution of the Liand Commission. Some persons thought that

one of the Commi-sioncrs should have been a nomince of ths
Imperial Government. As the settlement was one affecting the -
Cape Colony which was proposing to anvex the country rather

than Her Majesty’s Imperial Government which was about te
be relieved of it, it is difficult to see what interest Her Majesty's
Government would have in the few cases to be decided by the
Land Comn ission, and in fact no objection has been takem by
that Government. In any case Mr. VAN NIEKERK, as Adminis-
trator of Stellaland under the British Protectorate, recognized
as such by the Quecn, was thoroughly suitable to the office of
President of the Land Commission. He is moreover &
gentleman in cvery way werthy of confidence as will ke
Lorne out by Mr. Rmopes, Her Majesty’s Depity Com-
missioner, and mnot only has he received the thanks of
(83 .
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Lord DErBY for his efforts in the cause of law and order in
Stellaland but during the negotiations carried on by the Imperial
Secretary with the burghers in August, 1884, he gave valuable
aid to that officer and, to use Captain Bower’s words, worked
“ very earnestly for a peaceful settlement.” The appointment
of President of the Land Commission was forced by the Cape
Ministers upon Mr. VAN NIEKERK, who more than once asked
to be relieved on the ground that his business arrangements would
be interfered with by the performance of his duty as Land Com-
missioner in Land Goshen, The Cape Ministers, having acquired
much confidence in Mr. VAN NTEKERK from the loyal aid given
by lim in the efforts which were being made to bring Land
Goshen under the British Crown as part of the Colony, and
knowing how well acquainted Mr. VAN NIEKERK was with the
subject, urged upon him so strongly to accept the appointment
“that he finally consented. If Her Majesty’s Imperial Govern-
ment had the slightest objection to the proposed Land Com-
mission a re-arrangement could readily have been made.
No such objection has' ever been taken. In fact Her
Majesty’s Imperial Government have shown that they are
willing that the disposal of the surplus land after providing
for MoxTs104’s people should be reserved for the cornsideration
of the Colonial Parliament, a course which, under any circum-
stances, was rendered necessary by the Cape Ministerial settle-
ment having been made subject to the approval of the Cape
Parliament. The desire of Her Majesty’s Imperial Government
that Major-General Sir CHARLES WARREN—in whose judgment
the Colonial Ministry have great confidence—should act as Her
Majesty’s Representative in Bechuanaland pending the establish-
ment of a definite form of government there would also have
been readily acceded to by the Cape Ministry. Consequently,
the only points upon which there could possibly be any issue
between the Imperial and Colonial Governments ave, first, the
amount of land to be given to the Barolong tribe, and, secondly,
the validity of the treaty of October 24th, 1882. The first of
these points may be at once disposed of. The Cape Ministry
were just as desirous as the Imperial Government to deal
generously with MonTsroa, and if that Chief—acting under



bad adviee—had not kept aloof and if he had shown any
reason why he should have bad more land than that allotted
to him, his desires would have been gladly acceded to ;
but it must be clear to everyome that the interests of
the Cape Colony—which was about to undertake by annexa-
tion a serious pecuniary burden—must be carefully guarded,
and that a small tribe of natives could not be allowed unneces-
sarily to ocecupy land of no value to them. The only way in
which the Barolong country can ever be developed or rendered
useful to any Government will be by the introduetion of white
settlers, and if the natives are now to be aliowed to re-oceupy
more country than they require, to acquire control over the
water, which is very scarce, and to oust white men from everything
but dry farms, the country will not be worth governing and no
Colonial Ministry can advise the Cape Legislature to agree
1o annexation under such civcumstances. While holding these
views the Cape Ministry have always desired that ample
land should be provided for the sustenance of the natives,
so that practically there is entire agreement upon this
subjeet. The only question, therefore, upon which there
seems to be any conflict of opinion between Her
Majesty’s Imperial Government and the Cape Ministry is
with regard to the validity of the treaty of October 24th, 1882,
and surely the British public could not have any knowledge of
the true state of affairs when they agreed to send an expensive
military force to Liand Goshen through an arid country—where
in time of drought it is difficult to travel—for the purpose of en-
forcing the cancellation of that treaty. The issue involves the
disposal of 140 farms of which the quitrent, at the usual rate in
that country £1 10s. per annum, would be £210 a year! It was
fairly said on a recent occasion by a writer in the Pall Mall
Guazette that the honour of the British flag is not to be estimated
by the price of the bunting, but is it not somewhat ludicrous to
speak of the honour to the British flag being affected by the die-
posal of 140 farms to mercenaries under a treaty between native
Chiefs ?  Surely the British public must see that it would have
been better to have left this wretched business in the hands of

the Colonial Government, who would have secured the natives in
G2
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possession of sufficient land and then by annexation have relieved
the British taxpayer of great and unnecessary expense, introduced
good government, and kept open the trade routes to the interior.
‘What will be the result of the Bechuanaland Expedition and
what are likely to be the comsequences of what is now being
done are questions which will present themselves to the minds of
many people. Major-General Sir CHARLES WARREN having
wisely given notice to the people of Stellaland that he has no
intention whatever of interfering with their rights under the
settlement effected with them he will be enabled to enter Land
Gosher without firing a shot. On arriving in that country he will
find but a handful of men in occup ition of land, as in the disturbed
condition of the country there has not been any general occupation
by those to whom defined farms have been allotted. Most of those
who claim to be entitled t> land now live elsewhere, some at great
distances. He will find possibly that some of the white farmers
are men who hold titles acquired by bdond fide purchase from
volunteers who obtained grants under the treaty of October 24th,
1882. A deputation of orderly people will probably wait upon
him to urge the claims of white men to land. If he refuses to
acknowledge any claims and insists upon every white man
leaving the territory his order will be at once obeyed. He will
then replace MONTSIOA in possession of the whole of his country
or some part thereof according to the view taken by him of what
the Barclong tribe were in the ‘undisturbed possession in May
last when the British Protectorate was formally established
or of what will give ample garden and grazing land to the tribe.”
But, what next ? If Sir CHARLES WARREN’S settlement should
be the same as that of the Coloxial Government, or if it should
differ only on matters which might otherwise have been amicably
arranged, the expenditure upon the Expedition will be wanton
waste. If, on the other hand, the settlement should differ much
from that of the Cape Miuistry and if that Ministry should com-
mand a majority in Parliament and should in the discharge of their
daty to the Colony decline to propose annexation, Her Majesty’s
Imperial Government must be prepared to govern Bechuanaland
as a Crown Colony for the future. The question may, therefore,
‘be again asked—would it perhaps not have been better to have
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placed a little confidence in the Colonial Ministry, even although
it should be, as has been lately said in a leading English print, “ a
Boer Ministry,” and to have allowed the matter to be arranged by
annexation. According to the system of Constitutional Govern-
ment which the Cape Colony enjoys under a Sovereign—who
possesses no more loyal or true hearted subjects than the Dutch
Boers of that Colony—the opinions of even “‘a Boer Ministry” are
deserving of some weight as representing the views of the majority
in Parliament as well as of the greater portion of the population.
The steps taken by the Cape Ministry towards effecting annexa-
tion were dictated by a sincere desire to aid Her Majesty’s
Imperial Government. From a party point of view it would
have been safer to have declined to propose annexation and to
have allowed the affairs of the country to remainin the hands of Her
Majesty’s Imperial Government. Many of the supporters of the
Cape Ministry in Parliament hesitated about incurring further
responzibilities, and a certain section of the inhabitants of towns
especially in the Eastern districts were and are altogether op- '
posed to annexation and cherish the hope that Her Majesty’s |
Imperial Government will be obliged to establish a Crown
Colony in Bechuanaland and to occupy the country with a large
force. At Graham’s Town for instance a strong fee!ing was aroused
against the mission of the Cape Ministers to Bechuanaland on
the ground that it might lead to annexation instead of to the
establishment of direct Imperial control. There is much to be
said in favour of that view. The maintenance of a strong adminis-
tration backed by a sufficient military force in North Bechuana-
land, the annexation of or establishment of a Protectorate over
the country spreading northward towards the Zambesi including
Like Ngami, Matabileland, and the country occupied by
GASSITSIWE, SECHELE, KHAME, and other Chiefs, the appoint-
ment of Residents with the Chiefs, and a general activity
in asserting DBritish influence in that part of South Africa,
would be hailed with delight. Has the statesman yet
arisen in England who will grapple with this question?
The expenditure would be heavy but the results would
be magnificent. The advance of TForeign Powers would be
checked, the natives would be saved from encroachments, and
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Buitish trade would expand, It is to be feared, howeyer, that
there is little, if any, hope of such a proposal being carried into
effect, If it were tried the British taxpayer would soon begin
to complain of the expense. Entering the region of practical
politics it will be abundantly elear that annexation to the Cape
Colony would have been the true solution of a difficult ques-
tion. Why then have Her Majesty’s Imperial Government
done their utmost te shipwreck annexation by not following
the lines laid down by the Colonial Ministry ? Why
have they placed that Ministry in such a position as
to necessitate either a breach of their settlement with the
people of Land Goshen or a reversal of the action of Sir
CmarLes WARREN in case his settlement should differ from
that of the Cape Ministers 7 A material variance between Sir
CuarLES WARREN's settlement and that made by the Cape
Ministers must necessarily lead to one of two things:— Refu-al
on the part of the Cape Parliament to annex, or, in case
annexation be proposed, abandonment by the Responsible
Ministers of the Crown in the Colony of their own settlement,
or the reversal by Parliament of that of Sir CmArLES WARREN.
In their dea'ing with the Cape Ministerial settlement there is
reason to apprehend that Her Majesty’s Imperial Government
have once more misinterpreted public opinion in the Cape
Colony. There is not the slightest fear of danger to British
autherity arising from disloyalty amongst the Duteh popu-
lation within the Colony, or from aggression on the pavt
of the Traunsvaal. Presidest KruegEr has acted with
perfect fairness. all through the negotiations carried on in
Bechuanaland by the Cape Ministers. At the request of
the Transvaal Government Mr. SCHOEMAN, one of the
Travsvaal Native Cowmissioners, cordially aided the Cape
Ministers with his advice and the exercise of his influence,
and the conclusion must be arrived at by every person who
takes the trouble to inform himself upon the subject that neither
the people nor the Government of the Transvaal have any in-
tention to make aggressive eneroachments on the Cape Colony
or to lower British influence in South Africa. Unfortunately
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there are some persons in South Africa who have a bitter hatred
of the Dutch and who are still anxious to see what thcy describe
as ““ the stain of Amajuba” wiped out, and there is also a section
of the Dutch whose antipathy to Englishmen is equally bitter,
but the combined sections represent only a small minority of
South African colonists who as a body sincerely desire
that the unhappy eveiats of the Transvaal war should be
forgotten and that persons of every nationality should
for the future live in harmony under the Great British
Empire. The reason for recently raising a cry of  British
influence in danger” is not apparent. Dutch and English
colonists were living side by side on terms of friendly inter-
course, the Africander Bond was scarcely heard of, friendly
relations existed with the neighbouring States, and the Colony
was recovering from a period of depression. Politicians out of
place seem to have started the game, and once afoot many noisy
huntsmen were found to pursue it in expectation of a hunter’s
ordinary reward. The alleged atrocities in Land Goshen were
eagerly seized upon as a means of striking at the Transvaal and
of getting Imperial troops into the country  to show the Dutch-
man what we can do.” The Dutch population of South Africa
are perfectly well aware of the might of England. Moreover
they are not traitors to the Crown. In fact the only treasonin the
Colony appears to be to be “that ugly treason of mistrust” of
the Dutch population felt by a small minovity. Her Majesty’s
Imperial Government played into the hands of this noisy party,
believing, it would seem, that their utterances were
to be relied upon. Have they even now realized how grossly
they Lave been deceived? If not, it may be worth the while of
Her Majesty’s Imperial Government to reflect whether it is not
just possible that the Cape Colony may be as loyal as Lond.mn
and to know that there is a large Engli-h party in the Colony
who sympathize with their Dutch neighbours, who know their
worth and their loyalty, and who willingly act with them for the
common weal, Is it preposed to create a second Ireland in South
Africa and to range rival nationalities in hostile camps ? Ill-
advised speeches in the House of Commons, based upon ignorance,
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ill-advised speeches in the Colony, based upon prejudice or
unworthy motives, ill-advised anti-colonial action on the
part of Her Majesty’s Imperial Government, such as
operated during the Basuto war, and general want of sympathy
with the Colony would, if anything could, have long since
shattered the loyalty of the Dutch of the Cape Colony,
But despite everything they have continued to hold as they do
to-day their allegiance to the Queen of England as something
sacred. It has been often petulantly said—what is it that Cape
Colounists require? What do they complain of? They require
nothing from their heavily burdened mother country except her
sympathetic assistance in what can alone be effected by her as
Kead of the Empire. The vast majority of Cape Colonists look
npon the war expenditure now being incurred as simply plunder
of the British taxpayer, they feel that England is being wronged
by imposing such unnecessary expenditure upon her. They
fear that everything will recoil upon the Colony, aud that
Eng'and sick of money expenditure will become more and more
distrustful of everything South African and take less interest
in South African affairs than ever. They, theregpon, desire
it to be clearly understood that they have not sought for
war and that the expenditure has been incurred against
their wish and the wish of the Ministry of the Colony.
The Cape Colony defends its extensive frontiers and it is
no longer dependent upon Her Majesty’s troops for aid. - Cape
Colonists thoroughly realize the difficulties of the mother country
and so far from seeking to impose burthens upon her they would
flock to her standard for her defence at the slightest sound of
danger. Their complaint is that but little sympathy is shown
them in their struggles to advance in a young country and that
when they ask, for exwmple, for what of right was their
heritage, the preservation to them of a territory —without
ene farthing of expense to England—like Namaqualand and
Damaraland, where their ioterests were great, their fair
request was refused with coldness and the interests of a Foreign
Power favoured. The narrative of events in Bechuanaland
aow concluded contains dark chap'ers for which happily the

. —
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Cape Coleny is not responsible. If in commenting upen what
has occurred and is now occurring and if in drawing attention to
the weakness of the Colonial policy of Her Majesty’s Imperial
Government it has been necessary to use strong terms, let this be

€xcuse :—
%, . . Be Kent unmannerly,

When Lear is mad.”



APPENDIX A.

——

IneERVIEW AT TAUNGS, oN 7HE 1lrH NOVEMBER, 1884, BErwEEN MESsks.
UPINGTON AND SPRIGG AND MANKOROANE, SON OF MOLALE. Major
STANLEY LOWE WAS PRESENT.

(INTERPRETER : MR. JosEPH MCCARTHY.)

It appeared that Mankoroane had nat his Chief Councillors with him. It.

was, however, explained that the:e in his cempany were men who usually
attended him, one being his Interpreter.

Manloroane.—Before the Bloemhof Arbitration the line hetween myself
and the Boers extended from the Vaal River to Makswassa's Spruit., Since
then Cao'onel Moysey made the line on the Huris River at Mamusa. Since
that line I have no proper knowledge of where the line runs at the present
moment. The line between myself and Montsica after leaying the Harts
River runs midway between the two saltpans, leaving one within my country.
The most northerly point was a bush called Mohohochwo, thence along the
main road to Kunana, from thence to Setlagole, thence to Mageti, thence to
Kudonkgwe, thence to Genes), thence to the wiver called the Moshwaing
lower down, thence it takes that river down to a place called Chuhe on the
borders of the Kaluhari Desert, thence to a place called Madebing on the road
fron: Kuruman to Kheis on the Molopo River in the Kalahaii Desert, from
Madebing to a point on the east range of Langeberg close to Gobatue where
Toto now lives—thence along the Langeberg to the Orangs River. All this
cqnn!ry was subject to me and my father, and in the latter’s time was occu-
pied by our people ; but several tribes from time to time fled in there for
protection, and my father allowed them to remain. Had they, at the time,
assumed any rights as Chiefs in his coun ry, he would have at once driven
them out. I was a youth of about 14 or thereabouts when these people came
iuto my father's country. It was before cirenmcision. The descendants of
these people are the Batlaros and the Kunana Barolongs (under Moshette)
and the Maroguain Barolongs, who formerly were in my country, but who
have now gone over to Maroquain. The leaders or headmen of these tribes
are :—

(i.) At Kunana —Moshette.
(#.) At Maroquain—No man has been appointed since the death of
Bonoquaase.
(iii.) Of the Butlazos—Toto and Bareki—Bareki is the elder, but Toto is
the headman.

The Kalahari Des: rt to the westward of the Langeberg was oceupied by
Bos{esmen and Korannas. To my knowledge there never were any of the
Bechuana tribe beyond the Langeberg. The Batlaros, when they fled to our
country, came from Kheis and Lahutotong in the desert. The Barolongs fled
from the Mooi River where they had been under the Transvaal Boers, to
Thaba Nchu, and thence into my country. B,

The Barolong country now occupied by Montsioa was the original Baro-
long country. The Barolongs wete driven from it by Moselekatse, and they
took refuge at Thaba Nchu, whence they returned to their original country.
Montsioa’s people never were under the Transvaal Boers. The Moselekatse
were eventually driven out of the original Barolong conntiy by raids made
by a Koraona Chicf named John Bloem, and afterwards we heard that the
Boers had driven them further back. After these raids Bloem used to return
to his own country near Barkly, and then the Barolongs re-occupied it,
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Massouw’s Korannas were originally wanderers who shifted about from
one place to another, following the course of the Vaal River till they came
to Mamusa. My uncle Mahoura left Taungs and went to Mamusa imme-
diately after the Korannas occupied it. Whereupon they left and trekked
into the Transvaal to a place called Logaga. My uncle’s cattle did not
thrive well at Mamusa so he returned to Taungs, and when the country was
left unoccupied the Korannas returned to it. They submitted to my uncle’s
rule and he allowed them to remain.

According to our laws the country actually belongs to the tribe. No per-
son is entitled to any specific land. I have no right to alienate any portion
of the country. Our law is that where a person is given garden ground he is
allowed to remain there, but everything else belongs to the tribe generally.

According to our law there can be no absolute grants of land, but with the
consent of the people strangers might be allowed to occupy land in our
«country. As soon as that occupation ceases the land reverts to the tribe.
Once a stranger is allowed to occupy land his right is respected as if he were
a member of the tribe.

[ will be very glad to have Magistrates and police in my country when the
boundaries are properly settled, but at present I do not know what I have,
and until a settlement is arrived at I do not wish to say anything. I have
always wished to come under the Queen’s Government, but at the present
moment I cannot understand how having asked the Queen’s protection I have
not been treated well.

The Interpreter (McCarthy) explained that Mankoroane’s main_grievance
was the loss of the ploughing lands between De Gaap and the Maroquane
range, running in a direct line from Taungs to the latter range ubout 35 miles,
and extending westward into Stellaland about 25 miles.

APPENDIX B.

INTERVIEW, AT KUNANA, ON THE 16TH NOVEMBER 1884, BETWEEN MESSRS.
UPINGTON AXD SPRIGG, AND MOSHETTE AND HIS COUNCILLORS.

Premier.—Moshette, are you satisfied with the boundary line ? .

Moshette.—No ; it has not been pointéd out tome. Mr. Mackenzie pointed
it out to me as going through my village, and I am dissatisfied because that
is not the way for me to be treated. I should prefer that the whole of my
country was under oiie Goyvernment. [he only line I am satisfied with is
Colonel Moysey’s line,

The new line as declared by the Convention of February, 1884, was then
explained to Moshette by Mr. Upington.

Moshette.—Is it the way of the white people that because I am a Bechuana
T was not consulted ?

Premier.— I understood that you had given yourself over to the Transvaal,
who could speak for you ?

Moshette—Everyone who comes here gives me a different version of
affairs. According to the Native law everybody interested must be con-
sulted. I think that a friend should always be consulted. L

Myr. Upington explained the laws of the whites and the position of a subject
of the Government.

Moshette —]I find that whites and Boers are all alike and despise (he black
man. The black men are only game. :

Premier—Suppose you and I were settling the question to-day. What
line would you like ?
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Moshette.—Colo el Moysey's only. I was independent under my own
Government but was friends to English and Boers. T have seen nothing
since but the white people running about my country.

Premier—The Queen’s Government has no desire to take one inch of your
country or to cause you any wrong whatever if you only live at peace and
keep your people from doing anytbing that is wrong.

Moshette.—~My prople do nothing wrong that I know of. They wish for
nothing belonging to other part es. What makes my heart sore is the ignor-
ance in which I have been kept of the arrangements under the Convention.
T would have been satisfied had I been informed and consulted. I wish to be
independent of both Governments, but to be on friendly terms.

Premier—~You need fear no hing of the Colonial Government as long as
your people behave themselves and keep within their boundary.

Moshette.~1 can guarantee that none «f my people will go over the horder
and rob beyond it. Mr. Worsing would know how I behaved.

Premier.—Would Moshette like to have a Magistrate here ?

Moshelte.—No ; [ do not require any Governmeut officer here. I shou'd
like to be simply as I was before. [ guarantee the conduct of my own peoyle.

Premier.—Are you at peace with Montsica ?

Moshette—Yes !

Premier—When did you make peace ?

Moshette.—Last year. By that peace I got none of Montsioa’s country.

Premier.—Are you satisfied with the boundary with Montsioa ?

Moshette.—I should not like to answer that question except in the presenc»
of Montsioa. I am afiaid to commit myself by saying what is untrue. I
cannot say that [ shall be sut'sfied until I know what Montsioa wants. You
are not killing me alone but Montsioa also. I should like to return to the
position God gave me. T am the Chief of the Barolongs. Montsioa is'my
younger bro her, but being my brother, and of my trite, I do not 1. ke him to
be destroyed. We are the sons of one woman and of one man. We are one.

Premier.—How did the war first break out between you ?

Moshette —One of my Councillors will speak.

Councillor Selilka.—The first dispute we had was with regard to the conntry
According to onr laws we know of no division of territory. When the wa.
started, some of Machabi’s people. who lived at Polfontiin, shifted our
of the Transvaal into Rictfontein in the country of the Barolongs, but A:ontt
sion would not allow them to plough there. X

Moshette, in his capacity of Chief, asked Montsioa why he did so. Montsioa
gaid the cuttle were destroying his corn. Montsioa tried to drive out Machabi’s
people. Moshette objectcd. A meeting was held at I ietfontein. Moshette,
Montsioa, Machabi ar.d Makobi were present, and they had an argument
and hot words. The words were between Montsion and Machabi's people.
Montsioa ordered Machabi's people to leave Rietfontein and return to Pol-
fontein, and they ohjecte(! : subseqm;{ltly Moshette sent Montsioa an ox in
considera’ion of his allowing Machabi’s pgople to remuin at Rictfontein, and
begged of him to have no war, but Moutsioa was strongly against Machabi's
people and iosisted on driving them out, and Moshette sent me (Selika) to
try and prevent fighting. I went to Rictfontein and was also to go to
Montsioa’s. While I was in Rietfontein, Montsioa left 1Lis own place with a
commando, and attacked us. Many of us were killed. They attacked us
when we were asleep, and drove us out. Moshette then told Montsioa as ha
had not listened to him and had insisted on fighting he should now fight
agair st him. One of the reasons was that he had lost seven men in the
attack on Rietfontein, Then Moshet'e went against Montsioa. That is the
origin of the war, ;

Moshette—I had no white men when the war start d. The white people
joined me to get loot. The white men offered their services ; I did not call
for them. I promised the first volunteers cattle, they having asked for it.
With regard to any subsequent arrangements I should liks to speak in the
presence of those concerncd in such arravgements. I do not thivk I conld



v

go to Rooi Grond to assist in any settlement, as T have nothing to say to it.
I can say that should nothing happen to hinder me, I shall go.

According to Bechuana law any man trekking into the country requires
the consent of the Chicf, and he knows that he holds the land allotted to
him only on sufferance. No strangers who are simply visitors have been
given ground, :

Premier.—~You say that under the Bechuana law no stranger can settle
down in the conntry without your consent. Now have you given your con-
sent to any stranger settling down in the Barolong country of which you
say you are the Chief ?

Moshette—I do not know how many white people first came. I think
30 or 40. Where they cam~ from I do not know. We merely saw them
coming. The rest came in after we made peace. We only recognize the
first 30 or 40. They gave them the cattle (Montsioa’s), which they had
promised them.

Premier—Is there anyone at Rooi Grond entitled to speak for you, or are
you alone able to s, eak ?

Moshette—I1t may be a way of the white people to speak through another,
but we alone must speak for our-elves All the Bechuanas kuow I am Para-
mount Chief.

Premier.—~Does Montsioa acknowledge you ?

Moshette—That you can ask Montsioa yourself, If he does not acknow
ledge e he will be simply doing some underhand work.

remier.—Would you not be sorry to see Montsioa déprived of any por-
tion of his land ? Do yot not wish them to have enough country to live
upon ? If I were to tell you that Montsioa had now not enough country to
live upon, would you not be sorry ?

Moshette.—! should be sorry if Montsioa were to have no country ; then I
have no country. When we fought we thought it would have been as of
old, but when the white people came the law was different. 71his is not th
first time we have fought.

Premier.—Is it possible for Montsioa's people to live if the garden grounds
at Mafeking, Seliuba and Salaris be taken from them ?

Moshette—No, they would not be able to live.

Premier.—Is it necessary for him to have all those garden grounds to
enable him to live ?

Moshette—Yes. it is necessary.

Myr. Sprigg.—You and Montsica being Lrothers, how is it you have fough
s0 often ?

Moshette.—War broke out and then we used to settle the matter.

Alr. Sprigg—But why was war so frequent ? -

) Illloaheite.-—War used to come just astwo men travelling would have at

1t o
ng. Sprigg.—Did not the war originate in quarrels arising out of claims to
the paramountey ?

Moshette.—The only quarrel of that sort was that relating to Rietfontein.

APPENDIX C. |

—_—

REPORT OF AN INT&RVIEW BETWEEN THE HONOURABLE THE PREMIER OF THE
CaPE CoLoNY AND GASSITSIBI AND 1118 COUNCILLORS AND MONTSIOA, HELD
AT KANYE, IN GAssITSIBI'S COUNTRY, ON THE 25TH DAY oF NOVEMBER, 1884,

(INTERPRETER, MR. JosEPH McCARrraY, 0F THE BECHUANALAND POLICE.)

Premier.—I am the representative of the Queen’s Government in the Cape
Colony. I did not come lera to see Mortsioa, for I expected to see him
at his own place. I have come up to endeavour to effect such a peaceful
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settlement as will securerannexation: to the Cape Colony of the country from
Griqualand West to: Gassitsibi’s, abd to place it permanently under the
Queen’s Government. I expected to see Montsioa at hig own station because
I had to settle ow the line was to be drawn between him and the Rooi
Grondipeople. As he wagnet there the resu't was T could only make an
arrangement with the white people. My business here is with Grassitsibi ;
thig'is lis: country. I want to know from: him: when the Queen’s Govern-
ment. has the eontrol of the country up to his boundary whether he will
act in good faith-and remain on good terms with the Queen’s Government
and keep the peace. We do not want to take over his country but we want
to prevent anybody else from taking it. We want to know if he will
promise to protect Colonial interests, and that he will give his country to
no' one but the Queen's Government. Further we want him to promise
that he will prevent cattle or other property stolen from British subjects
from. being brought into this country, and if such cattle or property be
brought into this country,. that he will see that the stolen goods are returned
and the thieves given up. We also want him to keep open all trade roads
and to promise to levy no duties or licences upon Colonial trade. For this
the.Government proposes to ask the Cape Parliament to reward him. If he
is a friend to the Colonial Glovernment thie Colonial Government will be a
friend to him. I should like to know what hehas to say to this. We do
not want to take an inch of his country. We only want to live in peace.

Interpreter.—The Chief has sent for his son; as he wishes him to hear what
takesplace. ’

Premier.—That is right.

[Bathoen, the son, here came into the room.] !

Gassitsibi (in reply to the Premier).—I have nothing to say except what
you have just said is my wish. I shall listen to what settlement there is
with Montsioa befors I say further.

. Premier (addressing Montsioa).—1I shall first ask Montsioa how: it is that
if he heard I was at Rooi Grond and was waiting for him, he did not come
to meet me.

Montsioa.—I did not know that you were at Rooi Grond waiting for me.
" I was never informed that you were waiting for me.

Premier.—Did you hear of it yesterday ?

Montsioa.—Yes. Some of my people came here yesterday and told me.

Premier.—When Gassitsibi says that he wishes to hear the settlement with
Montsioa before he talks, does he mean by thatto say hat the is a Chief
under Montsioa ? He is an independent Chief, is he not ?

Gassitsibi—Yes, I am an independent Chief.

Premier.~Very well. Tell Montsioa I have come up here to make a
settlement of the country now occupied by his people and white men. I
wish to know from him first,how it was that he got'into war.

Montsioa.~—1 should like to have spoken in' the presence of more of m)ylv
people than are here to-day. The first time war broke out it was throug
Machabi’s people ; they came to me and asked my permission to live in my
country, and after that they commenced by stealing my horses. I tried to
recover the horses but they took them and sold them to the Boers: After
a great deal of trouble I recovered them ; but they were in such a condition
they were of no use to me. This was at the time that the British:Govern-
ment was tighting the Transvaal Boers. After that they commenced reap-
ing my corn, and they told me afterwards that the corn belonged to them.

Premier.—Has Monteioa any reason to think that any one suggested to
them to do this, or was it that there was a bad spirit in them, for there was
no war about ?

Montsioa.—~I cannot say. I donot know whether it was done in a bad
spirit or whether they were incited to doit. IfI should say they were
incited to doit that would be mere suspicion. I haveno authority tosay that,

Premier.—When they trespassed on your ground what did yon do? piq
you call out a Commando ?
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Montsioa.—Before the first war started they fired on my people in their

ardens. They sent me a message that the gardens belonged no more to me,
that it was their garden and they should cut the crops. That was the first
commencement of the war.

Premier.—Were you with the Commando which attacked Rietfontein ?

Montsioa.—They had collected their forces and joined them with Moshette.
I was with the Commando when it attacked Rietfontein. The attack was
made just as thedusy was breaking. The sunrose whilst we were still fighting.

Premier.~Now, I do not say that I believe it, but I wish to tell Montsioa
what I have heard—some of Machabi's people have told me that m n, women
and children were killed indiscriminately. Is that true ?

Montsioa.—No. It is false.

Premier—Montsioa says that the attack was made at daybreak. Surely it
is possible that when the village was fired upon women and children might
inadvertently have been killed.

Montsioa.—There was only one woman shot, and she was shot by her own
people. The men were in laager expecting to have to fight, and the women
were separate.

Piemier.—But were not the huts fired ?

Montsioa.—Yes, they were fired, but that was after we had driven the men
out, and the women were turned out of the place.

Premier.—~You mean to say that it was only after the men and women: .
were driven out that the huts were fired ?

Montsion.—Yes, it was after we had returned from the pursuit.

Premier.—Is it not the native custom to fire the huts when making an
attack as you go along ?

Montsioa.—Yes, but we did not at Rietfontein fight after the usual native
manner. '

Premier.—1It is said that not only were women and children shot, but that
children were thrown into the flames, and that Mr. Bethell had to in erfere.

Montgioa.—That is a lie. Mr. Bethell was not present at that fight.

Premier.—Montsioa, I have only asked these questions because these state-
ments have been made, and I wish to tell you that English peopls do not
like cruelty such as this. I have told you what I have heard so that you
might have the opportunity of refuting them if they were not true.

Montsioa.~They are false.

Premier.—Very well ; then I believe Moshette after this got white volun-
teers to help his people.

Montsioa.— Yes, Moshette did get volunteers. The question had then been
settled. An English representative and Joubert had come and decided in my
favour, and thenit was that Moshette cume down down on e though every-
thing was settled. Before Moshette started fighting, Joubert and the English
representative said we were to be at peace and there was to be no more war.
I told them I intended to attack Moshette in consequence of his murdering
my people on their relurn from the Diamond Fields. They told me I was
not to fight. I said I would remain quiet but they would find that Moshette
would start the war. It was as Isaid. Moshette did start the fighting.

Premier.—~Moshette having got white volunteers Myntsioa also got white

" yoluuteers, did he not ?

Montsioa.—No. :
Premier—Does Montsioa assert that e had no white volunteers atany time ?

Montsioa.—I had no white volunteers. :

Premier.—Montsioa had Bethell and Walker fighting for him.

Montsioa.—Mr. Bethell came first and Mr, Walker came afterwards.

Premier.—I have seen a document giving the numes of several men whosz
names I cannot remember now, on whose behalf Bethell applied for farn:s
on the ground that they were white volunteers fighting for Montsioa. Wlho
were these men ?

Montsioa—1 do not know of these volunteers. It must be nothing but
lies, The people who get on the best are they that tell that which is false,
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Premier.—DBut Montsioa had confidence in Mr, Bethell, had he not ? And
I have seen this list from Mr. Bethell claiming land for these men, on the
ground that they were Montsioa’s volunteers.

Montsioa.—1 have heard ouly of these things after Mr. Bethell's death.

Premier.—Does Montsioa say that Bethell bad no authority from him te
send in this list of volunteers, and that there was no foundation for what
Bethell did, for that is a serious reflection on Bethell ?

Montsioa.—If T had volunteers they would have been known. They wonld
bave been known just as Moshett-’s volunteers were known. Ihad ne
volunteers.

Premier—The result of the first war was that Montsioa entered into terne
of yeace with Moshette ? ;

Montsioa.—Yes, we had peace.

(At this stage of the proceedings Montsioa stopped speaking, and the Interpre-
ter stated that the Chief had sent for two white men whom he wished should ba
present at this interview.)

Premier.~I have no objection.

(Two traders, Messrs. James J. Keeley and I. Boyne, then came forward,
and said that at Montsiod’s request they were present. My, Upinglon repeated.
that he had no objection to their being present.)

Myr. Keeley.—We heard that you were coming yesterday, and Montsioa
came to see us. He seemed to be very much afraid.

Premier.~I[t is very unfortunate that Montsioa is here, as I wished to see
Lim in his own country, and I have been very much delayed by his absence.

Mr. Keeley—We tofd him that it was very wrong of him to run away, and
we advised him to return to you.

Premier.—You und rstand that T wished to see him respecting the country
that he required for his people to live on ?

M. Keeley.—We told him that we were quite certain that he would be
looked upon in the light of a defaulter.

Premier.~TI tell you candidly I regard him as such. I have just asked
Montsioa why it was that he came away, and I must eay thosc who advised
him not to be present did him bad service. What I wished to do was te
bring him face to face with the so-called vclunteers, so that a fair and
proper settlement should be arrived at.

Mr. Keeley—1 believe that he thiuks that he would be supported by Mr.
- Mackenzie, and he does not understand what is being done now.

Mr. Boyne.—What he thioks is, that if no settlement is made now, that the
troops will come up ; that is what he wants.

Premier —Well, yon may tell him that if he does not show any disposition
to make a fair settlement without troops, he cannot Jook for assistance from
England. (To Montsioa.) Now this is a question that I wish answered.
Did Montsioa consider that the conditions of peace which he made with
Moshette were binding ? Did he feel himself bound by them ?

Montsioa —After the peace was made with Moshette and Machabi, Moshette
left and went into the Transvaal. My son also went into the Transvaal,
also the son of Gassitsibi went there.

Premier.—That was when the Royal Commission was there.

Montsioa.—Yes ; when they came back they brought Colonel Moysey with
them, with Mr. Greef from the Transvaal. They made the line ; that was
the line decided on by the British Government ard the Transvaal. There
was no native man with them in making the line. The boundary line wag
made for five persons—Mankoroane, Gassitsibi, Moshette, Massouw and
Montsion. That was the boundary line between the Transvaal and the
Bechuana country. It was stated at the time that no person living on the
outside was to go into the Transvaal to help them, and that no one was to
come over from the Transvaal to assist us in any matter on this side. This
is what the British Government had settled with the Boers. That was when
Colonel Moysey made the boundary line. Whilst Colonel Moysey was still
here he engaged people from me to place the beacons, and I gave him a regij-
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ment to help him. Moshette sent out a party against them. Colonel Moysey
was afraid, and he sent that party back again, as he said if any one was to
die he would die, because he said he liad been sent to lay down the line and
Lie would do it. Then my children came back to me toSehuba. That is how
the fighting commenced. Th+y also attacked me at the same time as I
attacked Rietfontein, about sunrise. At midday I routed them. The fourth
duy afterwards I saw them coming agnin, and then I saw that they had white
men with them.

Premier.~That is the first time they came with any white men ?

Montsion.—The first fight they were standing a distance off.

Premier.—Does he mean that the white men were, or docs he allude to the
border guard under Commandant Snyman ?

Montsioa.—They were the same men who afterwards attacked me with
Machabi's people. They came from the Transvaal. Moshette’s and Machabi’s
people also came from the Transvaal side After leaving Polfontein they
came over to Rooi Grond. They comme :ced on the east side of Mr. Rowland’s
place where Nicolas Gey is now. That is the point they attacked me from
early in the morning at Sehuba.

Premier.—Did the white men join in the attack on you at Sehuba ?

Montsiow —The first attack on Sehuba the Boers stood on one side. I did
not know who they were, bu: I afterwards found out that they were Boers.

Premier—~How many engagements were there at Sehuba?

Montsiwa.—Three engagements. After the third engagement I went from
Sehuba to Maffeking. After that Moshette came with the Boers down the
Molopo River to Maffeking, It was a large commando. There were a large
number of Boers with it. We fought every day. - We fought every day for
two years. [ killed one of their headmen and they came and asked me to
give his body up. The headman was killed in an engagement at night. I
gave his body to them and they returned atter that to Polfontein. They came
back again after that an1the war continued and they captured a lot of cattle.
We had a hard fight for the cattle. It is getting on now for four years, and
there has been always war in my country. It was useless to continuethe battl,
b ermse we had fought every day in the year. The first commencement of
the peace was when Coos Snyman came. He said, “ We want peace ; let us
have it.” Ts id, ‘“Yes. Suppose we have peace, how is that to be deter-
mined on?” I told him that when peop'e made peace they had to remain at
peace. Next day he said we should have'a meeting at which all were to Le
present. We saw them bring a document and they told me whoever refused
his signature to this document did not want peace, and they told me that the
volunteers had taken the country all down the Molopo and they asked me to
speak. I said “I have nothing to say,” and that I saw two men—one was
an Englishman, the other was a Boer, and [ saw them make a line. To-day
1 saw strangers making a line along the river. T said I should like to sce
the two first and ask them if they had changed their minds. I said I could
not say anything until I s«w those two men. In putting my name to the
doenment I said I only signed for peace and that is all.

Premier.~Montsioa can never expect me to believe that he did not know

" what was in that document.

Montsioa.—The document was not written by me and I did not know
what was in it.

Premier.—Montsioa must remember seeing Mr. Rutherfoord, who made
a strong report in his fav. ur to the British Government ?

Montsioa.—Yes.

Premier.—Montsioa showed Mr. Ratherfoord this document, and Mr.
Rutherfoord took-a translation of it. Mr. Rutherfoord says in his report that
certain clauscs were expunged becanse Mon‘sioa refused to sign them. I
will remind Montsioa of what those clauses were. One was that Montsioa
should take down his schanzes within a certain time and the other was that
he should pay a war indemnity of —— pounds.

Montsioa.—Yes.
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Premier. - Tf Montsioa knew go well the contents of the treaty as to contest
the clauses which were expunged, he will get no honest man to believe that
Le did not know everything that was in that treaty. L

Montsioa.—Why I refused was beecause I was told to pull down my schanzes,
and T refused also to pay any war indemaity.

Premier (to Mr. Keeley).—Montsioa will never get anyone to believe that
he did not know the whele of the contents of that treaty. The truth, I
suppose, was that he was at death’s door, and he signed tho treaty as being
the best terms he could get.

My, Keeley.—He said so yesterday.

Premier.—It strikes me that he also misled Mr. Rutherfoord as to the 17th
clause of that treaty. Mr. Rutherfoord in his report in the Blue-book
represents the 17th clause as having been expunged before signature, but I
have seen the original treaty signed by Montsioa and his Councillors in the
possession of the Bestuur of Land Goshen, from: which it clearly appears that
the treaty was sigued subject only to the 3rd and 19th clauses being expunged.
If in the counterpart shown to Mr. Rutherfoord the 17th clause is also
declared to be expunged there must be a forgery. This treaty practically
deprived him of all land south of the Molopo River.

Mr. Boyne.—He told vs yesterday that he would have signed anything for

eace.
3 Premier.—Such is the fortune of war. France hud to sign a very distaste-
ful treaty at the comclusion of the Franco-German war in order to secure
peace.
! Myr. Boyne.—~Montsioa told us that he had fled from Maffeking when you
were expected because he was afraid ; he says now that he is bound to say
that he 1s a Boer with his mouth, but be is not so in his heart.

Premier.—It seems to me that he hears that the troops are-coming up, and
he thinks by staying away until then he will get all his land back again.

Mr. Boyne.—Yes.

Premier.~—Very well, that is not quite honourable in the face of his treaty.

Mr. Boyne—~We have told him so, and we have advised him to acknow-
ledge that treaty, and to tell you the truth in every way.

Mr. Keeley—Yes, we have asked him to tell the whole truth and to keep
nothing back from you.

Premier—1 do not like his leaving his station, and then not telling me
the truth as to the reason. We are trying to do all in our power for him,
(Certain lands must be secured te certain velunteers who acquired rights to it
before the formal declaration of British Protectorate. I cannot see how the
engagement entered into with them can now be broken. They must get the
land. Other land must be set apart for the Colony, which is undertaking e
pensive government, and must have some return for it, and bona fide righ®
generally must be secured. If put of the residue there should be any land al
our disposal to be given to Montsioa, in addition to what is provided for him
by our agreement with the Rooi Gronders, we should consider whether some
further land might not be given to him in case it should be clear that his
people required it. We are only too anxious to give him good terms, if he
will only meet us. Our present proposal is to reinstate bimi in possession of
the land at Sehuba, Maffeking and Saliris, with ample grazing ground onthe
north bank of the river., That is far more than he was in the undisturbed
possession of when the British Protectorate was established, and I cannot
help thinking it is an excellent settlement for him, :

Mr. Boyne.—I should think s0. Would he be a British subject?

Premier.~Yes. We degire to give him all the land he may reasonably
require, and Mr. Sprigg is ot present at Maffeking awaiting Montsioa, to go
into matters with him, and he will be greatly disappointed at his not being
there.

Mr. Boyne.—He has been sent away.

Mr. Keeley.—~Would it not be better for Montsioa to unconditionally cede
his t%rﬁtory to the Cape Colony, and leave it to decide what land he is to
have ?
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Premier.—There is to be a public meeting at Rooi Grond on Friday, and
we should like to see Montsioa there.

Mr. Keeley.—He is still a little hostile to yow, as he thinks that you have
xlr;ade terms with the Boers, and that you have given away his land to the

oers.

Premier (to Montsioa).—Have you enough ground now for your people to
live upon ?

Montsioa —I have no country. )

Premier.—That is since the peace with Joubert. It is chiefly grazing
ground that you have now. ‘What more do you require ?

Montsioa.—All the ploughing land in the country has been taken from me.

Premier.—But supposing the Colonial Government obtains for you the
,%afid;m ground around Maffeking, Sehuba and Saliris, will you not be satis-

e

Montsioa.—I want a'l the ploughing land down' the river,

Premier.—That cannot be given to you, for that is virtually giving you
back the whole of the country, in violation of your treaty, and restoring you
to land in which you were not in the undisturbed possession when the
British Protectorate was established.

(Montsioa here consulted with those around him.)

Montsioa.—1 have given up all hopes of getting my country.

Premier—Well, supposing we make the arrangements for you that I have
already explained, will you not be satisfied ?

Montsioa.—What can I say to-day? When I am asked what I want, of
course I want all my country. I do not want to say how I have been
treated by the white people.

Premier—I have nothing to do with the Transvaal. I represent Her
Majesty’s Government in the Cape Colony, and I have come here with the
assent of the Imperial Government. Montsioa apparently positively refuses
to take any part in a scttlement until armed men are placed in his country.
If he thinks that he will obtain the assistance of British troops under such
circumstan ces, I must- tell him, in my opinion, he is much mistaken. The
British public will not favour a man who refuses to discuss a fair settlement.
He evidently thinks that if I fail to bring about a settlement, Colonel
Warren will come up with British troops.

Myr. Boyne.—That is so.

Premier (to the Interpreter).—Tell Montsioa that notes are being taken of
all that is now occurring, that everything will appear in official documents,
and if he shows no inclination to meet me I am inclined to think that not a
soldier will come here, and the British public will view his conduct with
great dissatisfaction. I have come 1o this remote country at great personal
inconvenience to do-my best for him, and T want him to come down to his
own station, and in the presence of his own people, to show me what land he
requires, and to have pointed out to him where the beacons will be placed.

ontsioa (after a few minutes’ silence).—Mr. Upington can see Mr. Wright.
He knows all about it.. I gave the country to Mackenzie, and Mackenzie
‘deputed Wright to be his representative.

Premier—Who told you that Colonel Warren and the troops were coming?

Montsioa (after a long consnltation with councillors and others).—I have
merely heard it through the newspapers.

Premier.—But Montsioa cannot read. Who conveyed the information to
him ?

 (The Interpreter then remarked that he had seen recent newspapers with
persons at Magfeking who could read them.)

Premier~Finally, I wish it to be conveyed to Montsioa that I come to his
country to get as much land as possible for him. I have succeeded in
getting back for him far more land than was given to him by his own solemn
tresty. White people regard these treaty arrangements, and strictly speaking
Montsioa might be bound by his. Certainly Montsioa has not strengthened
his case by not meeting me fairly with regard to this matter. A meeting of

s
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the Goshenites has been called for the 28th instaut, and I wished him to
come face to face with them, to speak out his mind openly, and to tell me
what he wanted, as I wished to make a good settlement for him. Itis for
lim now to say whether he will be present or whether he will not. T shall
then be in a position to say where his beacons will be placed, so that the
zood intentions of the Queen, in his favour, may be carried out. After thatI
hope he will keep his people from stealing, and see that they maintain peace.
A Government officer will be appointed, to whom he can always apply when-
ever he wants any redress for wrong done to him, and for advice when he is in
any difficulty. As soon as we can make arrangements we shall also have
a police force to secure the keeping of the peace by every man, whether

wwhite or black. That is all I have to say.

Montsioa.—You did not understand. What I wished to say was that Mr.
Wiight was left by Mackenzie, and if you see Mr. Wiight, even if I am not
present, you can speak with him.

Premier.—Why Mr. Wright ? He is not your agent.

Montsioa.—I bhave given my country over to the Queen, and Mr. Mackenzie
left Mr. Wright in charge of it.

Premier.—Mr. Mackenzie is no longer the Queen’s representative. Mr.
Rhdes has come since as Deputy Commissioner.

Montsioa.—I£ Mr. Mackenzie informs me that he has nothing more to do
avith the country then I can speak with you.

Premier—When I get back to Rooi Grond I shall be compelled to go
on with the settlement, and if Montsioa is not present it will be hopeless
for him to expect 1o be listened to if he complains of the settlement after-
wards. I think I have effected a very good settlement indeed for him. I
have obtained for him a great deal more land than he had when he, as an
independent Chief, entered into the treaty with Moshette. As I said before,
white men must respect their treaties, and why not native Chiefs ? I have
come here to represent the Queen's Government, and Monisioa will, for the
future, be under the Queen. Surely you know you eutercd into that treaty
with Moshette ?

Mr. Boyne.—We all know the treutfr. But fur that treaty Montsioa’s
people would have been annihilated. think he is very lucky in getting
such an excellent settlement.

(Gassitsibi and Montsioa. requested that they might have further time to
deliberate, promising lo give an answer subsequently.)

In the course of the afternoon the conversation between Montsioa, Gassitsibi
wnd the Premier was continued.

Premier.—I wish again to point out that the Cape Government has no
desire to obtain possession of any part of Gassitsibi’s teriitory. I should pre-
fer to see him govern his own people, but I think he ought to promise me
that, as soon as the Cape Government is established up to his territory, that
any cattle belonging to British subjects improperly brought into his terri-
tory, or any thieves coming iuto his country, should be given up to the Colo-
nial Government. He ought also to é)romise me not to give .up his country
to anybody but the Queen of England ; that he will protect English trade
here, and allow trade to come freely from the Colony and to pass over the
roads of his country, without any duties being levied or licences charged.
If he will promise to do this, I will bring the matter before the Colonial
Parliuiuent, and will ask for such reward ag the Parliament may think fit to
orant him.
= (Gassitsibi asked that the interview might take place in the presence of his
son, who was sent for.)

Bathoen, the chief's eldest son, being present, Mr. Upington proceeded to repeat
what he had already said to Gassitsibi.

Premier—Gassitsibi will see what has occurred to Montsioa, and unless
some such arrangement as we propose to him is made the same may occur to
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Gassitsibi. If Gassitsibi’s people will only rely on the Colonial Government,
we will see that they get their rights and that no man interferes with them.
We do not want to take over their country, or to tax them, or to exercise
direct government in any way. To taka over the country means a loss
to the Colony of thousands a year, and we have no desire {0 add to our
responsibilities in that way. Tf, however, Gassitsibi will enter into an alliance
with us, we will take care that no white man or black man in the country
shall be wronged in any way. All we want is to be on friendly terms with
the Chiefs, and that they should tell the Government evirything that goes on,
so that if they are wronged, or if they want advice, they will tell us, and we
will try to help them. If Boers or any other people try to injure them they
would then refer to Cape Town and the matter would be looked into.
We do not wish Gassitsibi to give refuge here to any person whom
be knows tobe an enemy of the Queen of England, and we wish him
to give protection to the Queen’s subjects, whether they be traders
or otherwise. If any person or Government comes heie and asks
Gassitsibi to give up his country, we wish him to be able to say
“No ; I can only give my country to the Queen of England.” I wish him to
clearly understand that we do not want to take over his country, but we wish
to prevent anybody else taking it over. If Germany or the Transvaal orany
other nation or people should ask Gassitsibi for his country, we wish Gassit-
sibi to say “ No; I am the Queen’s man.”! If he does that for the Queen’s
Government at the Cape, it is only fuir that the Queen’s Government at the
Cape should do something for him in return. Now, what would he like us
to do for him in retarn? What would he like me to ask the Cape Parliament
to-do for him ? If I tell the Cape Parliament what the Chief promises to do,
I have no doubt that the Cape Parliament will agree to do something for
him. Now what will the Chief and his people say to such an arringe-rent ?

Gassitsibi—1 wigh my son to speak first.

Premier.—Very well. What has his son to say ?

Bathoen.—All T can say is that T am afraid that this is not a matter
which can be settled with only my father and myself. I think we mrust con-
sult our people before we enter into such an arrangement, and just now our
people are all out ploughing.

Premier.—11{ will be well that the Chief should consult his people before
he makes this arrangement, so that everyone should understand it. They
should understand that if no such arrangement is made Gassitsibi may find
some people coming in and taking his country away from him. We propose
that he should be an independent Chief and govern the country himself.
Perhaps Gassitsibi would like to consult Mr. Price, who is at Sech-le’s country,
before he makes up his miad.

Bathoen—~I1 do not think there is any intention on the part of the
Transvaal to take away our country. Piet Joubert was sent to bring peace,

and since that there has been peace and no more war. Schoeman also came
and told us that he wanted . It is with very great thankfuluess that we see
you here to-day, and to know that we have you as such friends. We also
know that the Boers are at loggerheads with the English over the Transvaal,
that it belonged to the Boers, and the British took it over, and, therefore, we are
very thankful when we see to-day the Chief of the white people. We know
the boundary which divides the country of the black and white pedple. It was
the Boers that broke first that line. Where are the laws now which were made
at Pretoria respecting that lise? Where are they to-day? We want peace
and rest, and we know that we shall get rest now we have seen the Chief of
the white people.

Premier.—The great grievance of these people seems to be that one day they
are told to regard one boundary line and another day they arve told to regard
another boundary line. Will Gassitsibi tell me to-day what is the bounda'y
" line between Montsioa and himself ?

Bathoen. —It comes from the desert.
Premier—How am I to know what the boundary is when people trespass
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into your country if you cannot tell me what the boundary is? Possibly, if you
do not tell what the line is, a line may be drawn which is net the right oae,
and this will be all your fault, because you will not tell us what is the real
boundary. It was only the other day that Mankoroane told me, mile by mile,
the boundaries of his country. * Surely if Mankoroane could do this Gassitsibi
should also be able to do the same ?

Bathoen—We have not required to enter into the question of a boundary
iine between Gassitsibi and Montsioa, because we have been on such friendly
relations.

Premier.—But surely a boundary line between the two tribes is known, even
if Chiefs are on the most friendly terms ?

Gassitsibi.—The only boundary line T know is between m self and the
Transvaal, not between myself and Montsioa.

Bathoen—Our people have lived together, and we have not made trouble
about boun laries.

Premier.—1 have come here for the purpose of making a settlement which
shall do justice to Montsioa. I want to find out the houndary between his
country and Gassitsibi, but if Montsioa leaves his station and also leaves me to
find out everything for myself, he must not complain hereafter. I was so
anxious to settle this that I left within a few hours after the Imperial Govern-
ment had agreed that I should come and see if we could settle this matter
teaceably. 1 do not complain of Montsioa’s being away from his statien.
That may have been accidental, but on the day we arrived at Rooi Grond one
of his people informesd me that a man had been despatched to bring him back.
Although none of his peop'e seemed to know where he had gone, yet a white
man who lives near Montsioa’s station told me some days ago that we shonld
find Montsioa at Kanye, and that Montsioa’s Iieuple knew very well where he
wag. I havesince then been to Maffeking and I have spoken to his people, aud
I got what information I could from them respecting the war. Now what I want
to know is how a white man knew Montsioa was at Kanye when his
people did not know it, or, if knowing, they refused to tell me. I shail
now have to leave for Rooi Grond, and when I report to the Queen’s
Government I have made a settlement, they will ask me if Montsioa
has agreeed. I shall say, “No; he got out of my way so as not to give
me any information, and the result bas been that I have been obliged to make
the settlement without him.” I tell Montsioa to his face that it will not be
right of him if anything goes wrong for him to complain if he will not assist in
making the settlement. If he does complain I shall say that it was his own
fault, because he would not tell me what he wanted. He is very much mistaken
in making no attempt to effect a settlement because he wishes to see the troops,
The Boers have agreed to my terms, and they are such as enable Montsioa's
people to have as much land as I-think they should have. I shall now have to
2o on with the settlement of the country without Montsioa's assistance, because
hie will not help me. When the beacons are fixed the Doers will vacate the
country, which they have undertaken to do, and Montsica’s people will occupy
it. If it should happen that the beacons are wrongly placed, it will be because
Montsioa was not there, and would render noassistance. Assoon as Parliament
meets the country will probably be annexed to the Colony, and the question of
Montsioa’s boundaries will then be settled for ever. When that bas been
arranged, I shall ask Gassitsibi to enter into an arrangement with the Cape
Colouny to give up any thieves which come here, to protect our traders, to promise-
to levy no dues on goods passing through the country and to keep the trade
route open, and to promise not to give his country over to any foreign Govern-
ment. If he will promise to do this, I will propose to Parliament that some
recognition should be made of his services.

Montsioa.—You must not blame me. You did not inform me by lctler that
you were coming. If you had said that you would have been there on such a
day I would have been there to meet you. Not knowing that you were coming
I went away for the good of my health, If you do not give me justice it is
not my fault.
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Premier.—I desire to do Montsioa the fullest justice, and if T should do him
any injustice it is because ot his absence when the settlement is being arranged.

Montsioa.—It would seem that you did not come up to settle with me, but
with the Boers. I did not know you were coming. -

Premier—No one knew I was coming. The Boers did not know [ was
coming. As soon as I came T placed myself iu communication with Maffeking,
and the people there promised me that they would at once send for Montsioa
and bring him back. Now, I want to know from Montsioa why Montsioa did
20t return as his people promised he would ?

Montsioa.—I came in my wagon, which is now gone away to get wood, but
if it comes back I will immediately return.

Premier~This morning T was informed that Montsioa left because he was
at'raiq), and now he says he left for the benefit of his health. What is the true
story ?

Montsioa.—What T said this morning I do not deny. I gave my country to
Mackenzie, and Wright was left by Mackenzie in charge of my country.

Premier.—There is no doubt whatever but that Montsioa gave up his country
to the Queen, and the Queen can remove him if she wishes from the land to-
morrow ; but there is no wish to remove him. What I want to know from
him is, how much land his people require, and he will not tell me.

Montsioa —When am I wanted to be there ?

Premier.—I do not propose to place any pressure upon Montsioa to be there.
1 say heought to be there when the settlement takes place, and it will be better
for him.,

Montsioa.—If my wagon comes I will go back immediately. It is not neces-
sary that I should be there. The settlement can be made without me, and if I
am not satisfied I can still go to England and tell in what respect I have been
deceived. What security can you give me that the very first morning after you
;ea\;e I shall not hear a shot fired, as I heard the morning after Mackenzie
eft !

Premier.~Does Montsioa really mean this? T have already told him that
the conversation we are now having will appear in official documents, and does
he wish me to state in those documents that if I make a settlement for him of
which he approves, well and good, but that if I do not that he will go in person
to the Tmperial Government and complain of the settlement ? Does he mean to
say that he will not come to assist me in making a settlement ? If that is his
position, then it is an intelligible one, but I want to know from him precisely
what it is he means.

Mon'sion.—Mackenzie made a settlement, and then he went to Rooi Grond,
and immediately he left the Convention line was broken. I do not see thatany
Convention line can be binding. I do not see that any line can be made which
cannot be broken. = -

Premier. - Do T understand trom Montsioa that he has no desire to ‘ake any
part in the settli ment, that he will allow negotistions to go on but that he will
take no part in them ?

Montsioa.—Why do you think so ?

Premier.—From his statement that he will allow the settlement to go on in
liis absence and that if he is not satisfied he will make complaint.

Montsioa.—The great argument I think is that I have no proof that after the
settlement has been made and the beacons placed they will not be taken down,
and the same trouble we had before will not occur again.

Premier.—That is his fear. T tell him that the settlement if properly made
and approved of by Her Majesty’s Government will be kept. Montsioa need
not have been afraid and have run away from Maffeking.

Montsioa.—Who says that I'm afraid ? T am not even afraid of death, for
death only is known to God. :

Premier—Now let us have a decided answer. Let it be yes or no. Is
Montsioa coming down to help us in effecting the settlement ?

Montsioa.—If my wagon comes I will try to come down.

Premier.—Montsioa will understand that a meeting is to be held on Friday
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next to discuss the arrangement as signed by the Bestuur of Goshen. On .
Saturday I will be prepared to go over the ground with Montsioa, getting him
to show me what land will be sufficient for his people. If Montsioa is sincere
in wishing for a settlement he will be there on that day. Gassitsibi will under-
stand that our desire is that we should live on friendly terms. We only wish
well to his people, and when Montsioa’s country is annexed to the Cape and the
Cape Colony’s borders adjoin to that of Gassitsibi that we shall have a good
understanding. T must now leave, tor I have to return to Rooi Grond and hear
what they have to say there. These are my last words.

Gassitsibi.—1 had wished to have spoken, but my son says that I must not
speak.
pPrmnier.-—It is the custom in European countries for the father to tell the
son what he should do and not the son the father. Anyhow you have heard
what I have said, and I will ask Bathoen if he intends to put this matter before
his people when they have come in after the ploughing.

Bathoern.—Yes, I will do that. ;

The interview then broke up. DBathoen accompaned Mr. Upington through
the village and expressed his great desire to be on the friendliest terms with the
English people, and his regret that his people were out ploughing that day, for
he would like to have the answer at once,

Lerrer From KEBALEPILE, SON OF MonTsioa, To THE HoN. J. G. SPRIGG.

Mafekeng, Molopo, November 18, 1884.
To the Hon. Mr. Gordon Sprigg,
Rooi Grond, Transvaal.

Sir,— I received your letter late last night, and called the Chief’s Councillors
together. After reading, I sent off a messenger to my father the Chief Montsioa.
Bnt as the cattle posts where he is at present visiting are some days from here,
feel afraid that he cannot come soon. Then he is an old man and at present
rather unwell through all the worry that has been in his country, must travel
slow. I feel certain that my father did not know anything of your coming or
he would never have left here soon eight days ago, and yesterday afternoon was
the first we saw of your coming. Then the papers only said Bechuanaland,
and that is a large country. Messrs. Rhode:, Bower and the Police came to
Bechuanaland. We never saw anything of them. Therefore I hope you will
not think as yes‘erday, that my father ran away from your coming, as I feel
sure he would be glad to meet anyone that was likely to make a Peace Settle-
ment in his country.

I remain, Honor Sir,
Yours truly,
KEBALEPILE MONTSIOA.

APPENDIX D.

INTERVIEW BETWEEN MOSEPELE, A NATIVE TEACHER, AND MINISTERS—IN THE
VELDT—ON SUNDAY, 16TH NoVvEMBER, 1884,

Johan Mosepele, a native teacher of the tribe of Moshette, living close to
Kunana, came to us at the first outspan after leaving Kunana. It having been
explained to him who those were whom he was addressing, he was asked to
give a true narrative of the attack by Montsioa on Rietfontein. He said :—I
will tell you the truth. Thq commencement of the war was at Rietfontein.
Montsioa, without any provocation, was the aggressor. Montsioa said that he
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must be the Paramount Chief. Moshette said no ; we must live quietly together .
Montsioa said no; I will thrash Machabi. Moshette saidno ; hereisa beast (an ox )
take it ; youmust not beat Machabi. Moshette gave Monisioa an ox not to beat
Machabi. Montsioa took the ox and killed it, and we thought there would be
nowar. They parted. Abont a month after, without giving any notice, Montsioa s
men came to Rietfontein early in the morning and fired into the village. I was
there. Men, women and children, old y eople, cripples,and infants sucking at the
breast were killed. Montsioa had a great fovee with him. The Ykalifijn people
he brought with him. He burnt the town down ; the men, women and children
were asleep. They had arms with them, but they were taken by surprise and
had no time to use them. Monfsioa must have killed about 100 people. I saw
the people run away and they were shot down like springboks. I ran away.
We came and told Moshette. Moshette was startled. Wetold themthe people
at Rietfontein were dead. Ie said, how can they be dead when we have had
no quarrel with Montsioa? There were no Boers present (at Rietfontein).
There were none but Kafirs. In the first fight between Moshette and Montsioa,
Montsioa fled. Moshette burnt his place because Montsioa had burnt Riet-
fontein. I am a teacher. I am not paid for it. I learnt to be a teacher in the
Orange Free State at Moroko by Thaba Nchu. I was taught by - cott, Daniel,
Cameron, Rudolph. Tt is long time since I left there. I left there about six or
seven years a o.

In answer to the question as to whether the Barolongs would be under the
British or Boers, he said that he was not a Captain or a trader, and he counld
only tell what he saw with hisown eyes. Moshette would answer such questions.
In answer to the question, would you rather be under the British or the
Transvaal Government ? Mosepele shrugged his shoulders and said, “ What
can I do?”

APPENDIX E.

TREATY BETWEEN MANKOROANE AND Massouw.

T, the undersigned Mankoroane Molahabanque and my councillors on the
one side, and David Massouw Riet Taaibosch and his councillors, together
with the members of management, on the other side, hereby solemly declare,
in the presence of the here undermentioned witnesses, that this day, the 26th
day of July, 1882, thLe hostilities between us have ceased, and that we
have hereby appeinted the following gentlemen, viz. :—

G. J. v. Niekerk, Chairman,
A. J. G.de la Rey, Senior,
F. Stroebel,

C. H. C. King,

Agenor Daumas,

as a Commission over matters now, further to arrange, and in order to beacon off
boundaries between Taungs, Mamusa and Phokwane, and further to determine
and beacon oft the territory which to the volunteers of David Massouw must
be awarded, which boundaries shall be recognized by all sides; and we further
declare that each of these Chiefs shall be independent of each other.

This Commission shall be chosen immediately, and at once commence their
operations to determine these said lines, and to put up the necessary bea-ons.
In the event of any dispute or difference arising between the members of the
said Commission, or later between the Captains and their subjects, both
parties declare that they will leave the case to the settlement of, and decision
of, the Government of the South African Republic, by which decision both
parties shall abide.

Further, we declare, both sides, that we will never call in’ the proteciion of
any other Government excepting the Government of the South African Republic,
under whose protection we shall be safe and unmolested. / A
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Thus done and signed to-day, the 25th day of July, 1882, in the presence ot
the undersigned witnesses.
As witnesses—
. Theodore Doms, Seeretary of David Massouw.
H. . Boeschoten.
D. M. Riet Taaibosch.
Jeremiah, his x mark, General.
Kastin, his x mark, Raadslid.
David Links, his x mark, Ouderkapsten.
David Links, his x mark, Raadslid.
Lukas Links, his x mark, Raadslid.
Saaibrand Oncras, his x mark, Raadslid.
Botlasitse Gasibone, his X mark, Molahabanqne.
Jantje van Janki, his x mark, Raadslid.
Janki, his x mark, Raadslid.
Frans Matlabane, his X mark, Ouderkapsten.
Louw, his x mark, Raadslid.
Mankoroane, his x mark, Molahabanque.
Kassayne, his x mark, Molahabanque.
Masi, his x mark, Mahura.
Molale, his x mark, Molahabanque.
Tokoe, his x mark, Maleti.
Tholotitiane, his x mark, Mase.
Tagaayane, his X mark, Saku.
As wilnesses— J. Jacobs.

R. L. Lamertine.
C. H. Coyte King.

APPENDIX F.

TreEATY BETWEEN MosueTTE AND MONTS10A.

Translation from original Dutch connterpart in possession of the Chief Montsioa

at Maffeking and submitted to R. Rutherfoord, éecmtzu-y to British Resident,

on 21st November, 1882.

Deed of Conditions of Peace and the Terms thereof luid down and agreed upon
between ug, the undersigned Chiefs and our Captains and Councillors, on
the 24th October, 1882,

Art. 1.—We lay down our arms on both sides and conclude a peace under
the regulations following. ;

Arr, 2.—Each of us, Moshette and Montsioa, shall be Captains respectively
of his own tribe, independent of and not subject to each other, but shall hence-
forth be ruled and managed within our borders over our own subjects and
possessions, and as such only subordinate to the laws and orders of the Govern-
ment of the South African Republic and under its protection.

Art. 3,—Each of us shall be obliged w ithin the time of two days after con-
clusion of this peace to leave our at present fortified town or position, and to
destroy and raze to the ground all defences (schanses) or occupied places.

Arr. 4,—Inasmuch aswe henceforth place our territory and all our possessions
under the laws and protection of the Government of the South African Republic,
we each bind ourselves mutually and severally that no fortifications or works of
position shall be m»de within our limits or afterwards be erected without the
permission of the abovenamed Government.

Arr. 5.—Tt is hereby distinctly understood that meither of ws will ever
henceforth tﬁlrl;dm%ke ang hostxhtn:g aga.i;st each cther or against any ether

erson within or beyond our territory without the previous knowl
pGovermnent of the esy;mth African Republic. it <t
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Art. 6.—Every difference that may hereafter arise or be occasioned between
us and our subjects, and which we are not able to arrange in an amicable
manner and without expenses, shall be submitted to the final decision of the
Government of the South African Republic. No war shall exist in respect
thereof without the ccnsent of the aforesaid Government.

Agrt. 7.-Under no circumstances whatever shall either of us individually
or jointly resort to any other State or Government with complaints or anything,
except and exclusively to the Transvaal or South African Republic aforesaid,
whose decision only shall be decisive and binding in all matters.

Arr. 8.—It is distinctly understood that all engagements or debts made or
contracted by each of the respective parties before this date must be acknow-
ledged and duly honoured, and are hereby acknowledged by b.th parties to have
been incurred by each.

Art. 9.—Grounds which bave been promised by the two parties, or either
of them, to his or their hired white volunteers, are hereby certainly and
distinctly secured and awarded to the said volunteers, and by consequence are
hereby fully acknowledged by both parties.

Awr. 10.—In order to award these grounds properly and fully to the lawful
appearers, and to cause them to be put in possession thereof, a Commission shall
be chosen and appointed, viz., two persons by the two Chiets, and a third
person shall be appointed and chosen by the lawful volunteers by a majority of
votes.,

Art. 11.—The Commission shall go out and begin its lab.urs within two
months from this date. This Commission shall beacon off these grounds
according to previously agreed-upon regulations, and no farm shall be or be
made of greater extent than 3,00) (three thousand) morgen.

Arr. 12— Grond brieven,” or documents of ownership, shall be issued in
the form and terms and under the conditions such as are used by the South
African Republic, and shall be signed and registered by that Government in the
names of the lawful owners thereof.

Arr, 13.—All white inhabitants of our land will be governed and controlled
by the Government of the South African Republic, and shall in regard thereof
stand under the laws thereof.

Art. 14.—In order to secure perpetual peace and rest a line shall be settled
between the territories of each of the Chiefs and his people, which appointed
line shall never for everlasting be trespassed over or violated.

Art. 15 —These lines shall run as is herein distinctly described.

Beginning at the point of the beacon of the South African Republic at Ramat-
labama, thence in a straight line up the Molapo River, where a beacon shall be
placed at a distance of one mile or 1,700 yards on the upper side of Maffeking,
the old tocwn of Molema, otherwise the at present defended place of Montsioa.
Thence a line shall run with the Molapo stream up to the point where the same
or its directions touches the line or lines of other Chiefs living beyond the ter-
ritories of our tribes.

Art. 16.— All grounds lying to the north or north-west of this line shall
henceforth and f. r the future indicate the territories of the Chief Montsioa and
his people. All grounds lying to the south or south-west shall be or indicate
the territories of the Chief Moshette and his people.

AgrT. 17.— Al ground which is owing and must be given to the volunteers
of both sides shall be taken and inspected within the lines as hereinafter
described, viz. :—From the beacon on the Molapo River, which, as has heen
said, is at 1,700 yards or paces on the upper side of the town or positions now
occupied by Montsioa (Maffeking), and thence along the Molapo River to the
south-western side to where the same runs into the River Setlagolo, thence with
this Setlagola River to the source thereof, and thence up along the most south-
westerly spruit to the source thereof, and thence in a straight line up to the
outside of the established line of the South African Repub ic, and then with
the same line which runs along the. great wagon road which goes from the
Saltpan and along the Transvaal line up to the beacon on the ““ Rooi Grond "
by the clump of trees, and thence along that line to the beacon at Buurman’s
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Drift, and thence to the point of Ramatlabama, and from the point Ramatla-
bama back in a straight line to the beacon to be erected 1,760 (1,700) yards
above the side of the town Maffeking, while in addition shall be excluded
the place Rietfontein, which shall be given Machabi. -

Arr. 18—Both undersigning parties assent hereby after the passing
of ttis agreement to hold themselves strictly not to accept any new
inhabitants or Natives at present residing beyond this territory, or to cause
them to come into or live in it without the previous knowledge and
concurrence of the Government of the South African Republic, nor shall any
white inhabitants be allowed within our land unless they will take the oath of
allegiance to the South African Republic.

Art. 19.—Seeing that the now too long waged war has not only occasioned
great injury, laying waste and bloodshed, in consequence of which a great
amount of debt liability has been incurred by the great Chief Moshette and his
people, it is hereby agreed that the Captain Montsioa binds himself and his
people to pay for war expenses the sum of sixteen thousand pounds (£16,000)
sterling, in which is included £4,000, which has been incurred by Moshette and
occasioned by an armistice distinctly asked for by Montsioa and concurred in
by us. This amount shall be paid by Montsioa within one month from date in
good current mouey or real value.

Arr. 20.—All catt'e and goods which have been taken in booty during the
war by the hostile parties shall remain the lawful property of the possessors,
but all stolen cattle or goods taken from persons who have not been connected
with the war shall be immediately given back or the value thereof paid to the
owner, with such reasonable amount for damage as shall be just and right.

ARrT. 21.—Atter the conclusion of this contract of peace no compla nts in
regard to former misdeeds perpetrated before the beginning of hostilities by
either of the parties shall be brought up against them ; but this peace shall be a
sufficient and full absolution on both sides, no reproaches shall be made, or any
disturbance created by the Chiefs or their subjects.

Axrt. 22. - For the fulfilment of all these articles of peace we, the two Chiefs,
bind ourselves and our subjects respectively ; and we will move the Hononrahle
the Executive Government of the South African Republic to make known this
contract ot peace to the Government of Her Britannic Majesty ; and also in
case unfortunately any difference or disunion should arise between us for the
failing to truly follow up these articles of peace, it is fully concluded by this
contract of us and our council that the very Honourable the Governor of the
South African Republic without any delay or invitation shall peremptorily
intervene, and, after full investigation, punish the guilty to extremity.

This our agreement and contract of peace is concluded for the prevention of
further bloodshed and to establish peace and rest between us.

This done and ratified with our signatures in the presence of witnesses, with
the omission and supersession of Articles 3 (17) and 19, on this 24th day of
October, 1882,

Marks of Marks of
X Chief Mon¢sioa. X Captain Moshette.
<2 Israel Molema. X Sechogo.
X Sani Tanana. X Phoe.
X Motlare. X Seleka.
X Bolumel. X Mokolo.
> Kebalepele Montsioa X Mobroa Kholi.
X Molobeng. X Molise.
X Captain Matuba,
Witnesses. X Motseoa Khuma,
(Signed) J. J. van Eeden. X Maano.
(Signed) J. D. 8. Botha. 2% Abram Matuba.
(Signed) Pete Matuba.
> 4 Andries Sihra.

(Signed) J. D, 8. Botha,
(Signed)  J. J. van Eeden,
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men of very bad reputation, and I have no doubt that in the Land of Goshen
and in Stellaland, there are men whose reputations are far from untainted; but,
baving made careful inquiry, I am bound to say that it is unfair to the people
of this country to be stigmatized as murderers and robbers. There have been
things done in this country which cannot be defended. I wish to speak plainly,
and I tell you emphatically that the shooting of Mr. Bethell as he lay wounded
was an outrage which must cause intense pain. Mr. Bethell's antecedents could
not possibly justify such an act. I know that when there is a war a whole
people cennot be held responsible for the acts of a few men. Even in European
countries, where warfare is conducted upon perfect principles, outrages upon
wounded men have occurred, and tor such outrages it would be absurd to blame
entire people. From all I have heard, the people of the Land of Goshen are
not in sympathy with those who inflicted the death wound upon Mr. Bethell.
Indeed, T have heard universal condemnation of the deed, and I am glad to be
able to contradict the statement that the corpse was treated with mdignity.
Warfare cannot anywhere be carried on without occurrences calculated to shock
sensitive minds, but I find no proof that war has been carried on in this
country in a cruel or unfair manner (Cheers.) You have been styled land
robbers, but I ‘ail to see where there has been plunder of land from Montsioa.
That Chief now gets under the settlement required by Her Majesty’s
Government, and cheerfully assented to by you, far more Jland than
he was entitlel to under the treaty of 1882. DBy that treaty which
he entered into when he was an independent Chief, and which
all his people looked upon as binding, he gave up practically all his lands south
of the Molopo River. I think it is to the credit of the people of Land Goshen
hat they do not want to unduly press him, and that at the request of the
Queen’s Government they freely assent to Montsioa’s obtaining more land than
he agreed to be content with under his own solemn compact entered into with
Moshet e. That’s not land piunder. (Cheers.) It has also been alleged that
dwring the war women and children were killed by the so-called volunteers m
cold blood. I cannot find any evidence in proof of that allegation, and it now
lies on those who made the charge to support it if they can. Such grave
charges should not be made without ample proof, as they seriously mislead the
public, and I know they have causcd great indignation against you. To unjust
charges we arve all liable. Kven our mission here is made the subject of
unsparing and unjust comment in the English press. Ieven find that the
injustice is not confined to England, for at Du Toit’s Pan no less a sum than
fifty pounds has been subscribed in these hard times for the burning of Mr.
Sprigg and myself in effigy. (Langhter.) My advice to you is now to go
about your daily avocations, cultivate the soil, advance your prog-
perity, respect the rights of all persons, and forget the feeling
of irritation caused by what you see i the newspapers. When Parliament
meets the subject will be fully gone imto, and I shall be prepared to defend the
general body of the people from groundless charges. (Cheers,) I trust that the
result of the settlement now ratified will not only be advantageous to yourselyes
but a great benefit to United South Africa. (Cheers.) We have come to this
country with the best wishes of the Transvaal Government, and Ter Majesty’s
Imperial Government have expressed their pleasure at our undertaking to
intervene. (Cheers.) We have effected what we consider to be a fair and
equitable settlement ; a settlement which, I believe, will bear lasting fruit, and
which, while securing to the Cape“colonists their interests in the interior, gives
ample land to Montsioa, avoids the frightful consequences of war, and
will be another step towards making us a great and united people.
(Cheers.) In casting your lot with the Cape Colony you get the
venefit of a just system of laws made by your own fellow-country.
men, and you will have peace and security for your persons and
property. Pending formal annexation you are bound to carefully keep the
peace and obey the laws, so that when Parliament meets you will not haye
given your enemies an opportunity of saying a werd against you. Thereby you
will show that you are worthy of becoming Cape colonists. I thank you for the
unvarying kindness you have shown to my colleague and myself during our visit,
(Enthusiastic cheering.)
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APPENDIX G.

SPYECH DELIVERED BY  THE HoN. THoMAs UPINGTON PREMIER OF THE
CAPE COLONY, AT ROOT GROND, ON FRIDAY, 28TH NovEMBER, 1884, T0O
THE BURGHERS OF LAND GOSHEN, ON THE OCCASION OF THE LOCAL
ACCEPTANCE OF THE TERMS PROPOSED BY THE CAPE MINISTERS,
AS REPORTED BY THE ONLY SHORTHAND WRITER PRESENT.

Burghers of the Land Goshen: —As T cannot express myself in the Dutch
language, I have requested my friend, Mr. Van Eck, to interpret for me, and I
will endeavour to speak in such a way that yon will understand what is con-
veyed to you through the medinm of interpretation. T wish to explain to you
what capacity I fill, and the reasons which have induced my colleague and
myself to come to this remote country. I represent the Responsible Govern-
ment of the Colony of the Cape of Good Hope. The Government of the
colonists with whom many of you are closely related. When during the
present year there was a change in Ministry, although not torn in this country,
I was selected as leader by a large section of colonists of Dutch and English
extraction, because it was known that after experience of my politics in this
colony I had sympathy with the colonial party formed «f persons belonging to
both nationalities, whose motto was that South Africa shou'd be governed by.
the South Africans, that j arty holds that South African residents here are best
able to judge what the true colonial policy should be. We speeially hold that
our native policy should be under the entire control of the Colonial
Parliament and of the Ministry responsible to that Parliament. The
causes which have led to the mission of my colleague and myself here are these.
On entering into Office the Ministry, of which T have the honour to be the
head, found a British Protectorate established over this country. We found
too that disturbances had arisen likely to cause grave complications throughout
South Afriea. With a sincere desire to relieve Her Majesty’s Imperial Govern-
ment of responsibility, and to seeure peace, we requested Her Majesty’s repre-
sentative'to take our advice upon thesubject. Her Majesty’s representative, acting
within his undoubted right, declined to take our advice'unless we consented to
undertake liability for an unknown expenditure, to which we could not agree,
and the result was that the Government of this country continued to be carrvied
on by Her Majesty's Government without any responsibility attaching to us.
That attempt at Government, like all attempts to govern without consulting
the will of the people, was such a failure that forcible measures were determined
upon by Her Majesty s Imperial Government.. “Extreme people applauded this
step ; but we who were responsible to the Parliament of the colony for the
peace of the colony, were in duty bound to endeavour to prevent war provided
we could secure colonial interests, and accordingly we asked for permission to
proceed here and see if we could settle the question without bloodshed.
We said that we believed that the people would listen to us, and that we
should be successful in obtaining without the horrors of war for the
colony all its objects for the people here, security for their Bdona fid:
claims, and for the natives protection. Her Majesty’s Imperial Government
agaiv, acting within their undoubted 1ight, would not consent to our coming
except under certain conditions. We requested that we should not be hampered
by conditions ; but those conditions were insisted upen, and one of them was
that the Chief Montsica should be restored to these lands to which he held
undisturbed possession when the British Protectorate was established. Her
Majesty, as head of the Protectorate, was clearly entitled to demand that her
Protectorate should be respected. Before Ileft the colony I was told in many
quarters that the people of this country would not assent to the conditions and
they they wonld not vacate the land required by Montsioa. I ventured to predict
that the inhabitants of the territory would have confidence in the Ministry
placed in office by the majority of the Cape colonists, and they would never let
it be said that they refused mediation. That prediction has come true with
reference to the population of Goshen. I am hound to say that anyone coming
here will see as respectable and as law-abiding a people as there is to be found
in South Africa. (Cheers.) In every community there are sure to be found
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APPENDIX H.

CONDITIONS UNBER WHICH IT IS PROPOSED THAT THE TERRITORY KNOWN A3
LAND GGOSHEN SHALL BE ANNEXED T0 THE CArE COLONY, SUBJECT TO
THE APPROVAL OF HER MAJEsTY'S IMPERIAL (GO ERNMENT AND THE
PArLIAMENT OF THE CApe CoLoNY :—

First. As imperatively required by Her Majesty’s Imperial Government,
the Chief Montsioa to be replaced in occupation of *the garden grounds and
grazing lands of which the Chief and his tribe wer: in the uadisturbed
possession in May last, when they were formally taken under British
protection.”

To this condition the following explanatory Note has been attached : —
It appears to the Cape Ministers that tge object of Her Majesty's Impericl
Government can be secured by giving to Monts'oa and his peaple —wh> are
not numerous—tha ground as formerly enjoyed by him and them at Maffe-
king, Se' uba and Saliris, with ample grazing ground on the North Bank of
the Molopo River. For this purpose the grounds at Maffeking, Sehuba and
Saliris must be vacated by all white settlers, but as certain four or five per-
sons acquired before the formal establishment of the Briti h Protectorate
bona fide rights by purchase or otherwiset) farms in the districts proposed to
be cleared, land of equal value shall b2 grantad to such occupiers elsewhere
by the Commiscion subsequently mentioned. The Chief Montsioa being
absent, and it not being at present possib e to ascertain his desires, the
Cape Ministers are not able to say whether Montsioa and his
tribe may not prefer to have an extension of arable land along the
Molopo River instead of resuming occupation of Sehuba and Saliris,
and consequently the arrangement above proposed may by the consent of all
parties be altered, but the direction of Her Majesty’s Imperial Government
must be obeyed, and either the land at Maffeking, Sehuba and Saliris, or
sufficient land elsewhere, if desired by Montsioa, bs secured to that Chief
and his people. .

Second. All rights to land enjoyed by white sett'ers under grant or transfer
before the formal establishment of the British Protectorate, to be respected
in the same manner as arranged in Stelliland between Her Majesty’s Deputy
Commissioner an! the Inhabitan‘s of that Territory, and quitrents to be zlso
paid as provided in Stellaland.

Third. After complying with the direction of Her Mujesty’s Imperial Gov-
ernment with regard to Montsioa and his trib», and after securing the lawful
rights possessed by white settlers before the formal establishment of the
Protectorate, the remaining vacant lands shall be disposed of in the following
manner :—(a) A Commission shall be appointed consisting of one nominee
of the Cape Government, one nominee of the Existin% Bestuur of Land
Groshen, and Mr. G. J. van Niekerk as President. gb) Such Commission to
enquire into and decide what persons have acquired bona fide rights to vacant
land, and to make provision for such rights accordingly. (¢) The residue
of the vacant land to be waste Crown Lands of the Colony, (d) Titles to
land or confirmations of existing titles where necessary to be issued as soon
as possible. phet

Fourth. —The existing debt of the country shall be enquired into and duly
audited, with a view to communications on t1e subject with Her Majesty’s
Imperial Government. .

ifth—Pending the establishment of a fixed form of Government an
officer shall be appointed by the Colonial Government who shall in conjunc-
tion with existing Bestuur of Land Goshen administer tha affairs of the
country and carry into effect ths foregoing conditions, and the inhabitants
shall freely aid and assist in maintaining order and protecting the rights of
all persons living in the country. No act of the said Bestuur shall be valid
until approved of by the officer so to be appointed.

(Signed) = THOMAS UPINGTON.
J. GORDON SPRIGG.
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In acceptance of these conditions is added the following :—

We, the undersigned, having read the conditions under which the Territory
oulle(} the Land of Gcosen is to be annexed to the Cape Colony, do accept those
conditions, subject to the approval of the people of the Land Goosen, and do
cede and transfer to the Cape Colony all our rights which we have possessed in
the territory called the Land ot Goosen. - In witness whereof we have signed at
Ileliopo]is, this twenty-second day of November, 1884,

(Signed) N. €. GEY VAN PITTIUS, Administrator of Land Goosen,
P. F. DE VILLIERS.
C. J. WEBER.
J. G. J. VILJOEN,
G. BOTTY.
S. N. DE BRUIN BOUGA, Gcvernment Secretary.

Witnesses: C. J. vax Nigkerk, H. J. SCHOEMAN,

The foregoing Conditions, having been read before a Public Meeting on the
28th November, 1884, were unanimously accepted by the people.

APPENDIX J.

Mixvure oF His EXCELLENCY THE GOVERNOR AND HigH COMMISSIONER WITH
REFERENCE TO THE CONDITIONS PROPOSED BY MINISTERS.

South Africa.—Minute No. 56.
Government House, Cape Town,
5th December, 1884.

The Governor having transmitted to the Secretary of State *in extenso”
the telegram addressed by Ministers to the Honourable the Commissioner of
Crown Lands from Rooi Grond, and dated the 22nd ultimo, is now instructed
to inform Ministers as follows :—

Her Majesty’s Government are willing to agree to the first condition as
telegraphed by Ministers, namely, that “the Chief Montsioa be replaced i‘n
accupation of the garden grounds and grazing lands of which the Chief and his
tribe were in the undisturbed possession in May last when they were formally
taken under British protection,” and they will desire Major-General Sir C,
Warren to carry out this agreement peacefully if practicable; but the words
“ undisturbed possession ” are not to be governed by the Treaty of 1882.

As to conditions 2 and 3, Her Majesty’s Government cannot recognize the
“hona fide” character of the claims of*the freebooters to land in Montsioa's
Country, but questions affecting the permanent disposal of land beyond the
tﬁ‘lrritory to be reserved for Montsioa would in the opinion of Her Majesty’s
F0vernment be matters for the consideration of the Cape Parlinment when the
{uestion of annexation comes before it.

The 4th condition Her Majesty's Government consider requires explanation.
it is obvious that the Imperial Government cannot be committed to meet the

“Xpenditare of those who infringed the British Protec’orate. Otherwise they

‘vould have no objection to consider the financial condition of the territory,

Asto the 5th condition, until Ministers are authorized by Parliament to take
“ver the country, Her Majesty’s Government must retain the Administration to
‘e Protectorate in their own hands; and Sir C. Warren will be instructed of
“ceupy the country with an adequate force  But so long as the first condition
“ being faithfully observed, he will allow other matters to remain as far as
~ssible in statu quo pending the meeting of the Cape Parliament, which, it is
“oped, will be summoned as soon as possible.

HERCULES ROBINSON,
Iigh Commissioner
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